

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Control of growth and pattering: a novel rol of JAK/STAT in regulating morphogen production and signaling

Control del crecimiento y patrón: un nuevo rol de JAK/STAT regulando la producción y señalización de morfógenos

Carles Recasens Alvarez

ADVERTIMENT. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

ADVERTENCIA. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

WARNING. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.







Programa de Doctorado del Departamento de Genética Facultad de Biología Universidad de Barcelona

Control of growth and patterning: a novel role for JAK/STAT in regulating morphogen production and signalling

Control del crecimiento y patrón: un nuevo rol de JAK/STAT regulando la producción y señalización de morfógenos

Memoria presentada por Carles Recasens Álvarez

para optar al grado de Doctor por la Universidad de Barcelona

Development and Growth Control Laboratory Institute for Research in Biomedicine (IRB) Parc Científic de Barcelona

Barcelona, November 2016

Marco Milán (Director) Carles Recasens (Alumno) Florenci Serras (Tutor)

Agradecimientos

Marco, gracias por acogerme en tu laboratorio y por ser tan buen jefe y mentor. He aprendido muchísimo de ti y del laboratorio estos años, a hacer y pensar la ciencia. Tanto que me he vuelto adicto a *Drosophila*! Recuerdo la entrevista contigo, me hablabas del disco y sus compartimentos y yo les llamaba hemisferios! No se como me cogiste. Gracias también por ver lo positivo cuando las cosas no salen – que es lo habitual - y por la pasión diaria que nos transmites con lo que haces. Voy a echar de menos los cafés en "el rincón" y las conversaciones de pasillo donde discutíamos de ciencia, política, futbol, y sobretodo todas aquellas anécdotas e historias de tu etapa de PhD y Postdoc. Tienes una gran escuela de Milanos y espero que siga creciendo en los próximos años.

Larita, "vete a casa a cenar que es tarde y llevas 12 horas trabajando!" es posiblemente la frase que más te he dicho estos años. Parecía que estábamos de "after" en la flyroom, con Juan, Laura y Anita, al final con la Terriente también. Se te echo mucho de menos cuando te fuiste a California, pero volviste! Has sido y eres la alegría del laboratorio desde que te conozco, siempre implicada y organizando lo que haga falta! Debería ser obligatorio una Lara en cada laboratorio! Voy a echar de menos tu hummus, tus cremas de verdura y todas esas cosas que <u>hace la Termomix</u>!

A Florenci por ser un miembro de mi TAC además de un tutor tan positivo y ayudarme cuando lo he necesitado. También por sus clases de master en la asignatura de Fluorescencia que las disfrute mucho.

A los miembros de mi TAC, Roger Gomis, Marc Furriols y Florenci Serras por vuestra importante ayuda y vuestros consejos anuales.

A la Microscopy Facility del IRB por la ayuda con los microscopios y procesamiento de imágenes. A Lidia y a Ana por resolver dudas constantes y a Seb porque me ayudo mucho al principio a analizar los datos.

A mis amigos del pobla, yolas, sopets, zin, y al pisha que ya es todo un papa y los "pueblerinos team", aunque es difícil juntarnos todos siempre lo pasamos genial.

Najate, desde que te has ido ya no se hacen bromas con Notch!. Nunca te lo he dicho pero de todas las vías es la que siempre me ha dado mas pereza. Aunque te dijera muchas veces – sube los lásers y baja el gain que no se quema! – la verdad es que pocos tienen tu mano con el confo. Gracias por pasarnos esa macro del FIJI para cuantificar los clones, si fuera por ti aun estaríamos midiendo áreas!. Estoy seguro que todo os ira muy bien a en tu nueva aventura con Javier.

Marta, todavía me acuerdo de ese jamoncito que nos pusiste en tu cumpleaños, no se me va a olvidar, espectacular! El laboratorio contigo solo puede ir a mejor, empezando por esos anticuerpos tan valiosos que te encargas de cuidar. Como diría el jefe: <u>me juego tu mano</u> a que tenemos los anticuerpos mas ordenados de toda España, por lo menos!

Lidia, a parte de ser la gurú de la biología molecular, haces que este laboratorio funcione desde, pones orden y criterio, y tienes siempre un rato para ayudar o resolver dudas de cualquier tipo. Gracias por las barbacoas y calcotadas, la piscina y el ping pong. Gracias por la aspiradora, funciona de maravilla!

Terriente, mi JAK/STAT partner! Eso si era trafico de stocks! Nos lo hemos pasado muy bien contigo, sobretodo los días que hacíamos turno de noche en la flyroom o en las lupas. A veces nos íbamos con Anita pensando que era ya demasiado tarde para estar en el lab un martes, y aparecías tu ya cenada para hacer unas ovipuestas y sincronizar larvas! Espero que todo te vaya bien en Cambridge y con el paper que tienes entre manos.

Lada, ese fenotipo no autónomo es espectacular y me encanta. De verdad espero que lo resuelvas y estoy seguro de que lo ha**Ras**. Muchos ánimos y fuerza con la recta final del PhD, dale duro, a tope!

Mariana, mi primera jefa en el lab. Seguro que debiste tener mucha paciencia conmigo porque al principio no sabia ni coger las pinzas. Contigo fui a mi primer meeting como estudiante a los pocos meses de llegar y volví con una gran resaca. La organizer de eventos del lab, no hay barrio de Barcelona que no te conozcas un par de buenos sitios para comer.

A mi familia, mi madre que ha trabajado como nadie por nosotros, mi hermana y cuñado Albert que están lejos, mis abuelitas Teresa y Encarna que me han criado de pequeño, y de mayor también, mi tío Paco que he crecido con el, de pequeño con videojuegos, películas y dibujos, y de mayor el café y ponche después de comer, el mejor tío del mundo, a mi tía Carmen y a mis primas. Os quiero mucho a todos.

Anita, no se ni por donde empezar. Cuanto hemos sufrido con el AP project!, parecía que no lo íbamos a sacar. Eres lo mejor que me llevo de este laboratorio por eso te quiero agradecer más que a nadie todo tu apoyo durante estos años ya que esta tesis, el paper y muchas otras cosas habrían sido imposibles sin ti.

Table of contents

Introduction	11
Developmental Biology: a merge of traditions	3
The questions: a conceptual toolkit	5
Growth and size determination	5
Morphogenesis, on form and function	6
Pattern formation, from cell fate to differentiation	6
Drosophila as a model organism	12
Drosophila limb development: origin and fate map	17
Embryonic origin of the limb primordia	17
Fate map of the wing imaginal disc	20
Growth, cell proliferation and cell death	23
Mechanisms of growth control	23
Cell proliferation and cell death	24
Developmental subdivision of the wing: overview	29
Compartments and tissue territories	29
Developmental organizers: morphogens	33
The AP organizer: Hh and Dpp	33
The DV organizer: Wg	37
Proximo-distal patterning of the wing disc	39
Notum and wing fate determinants are expressed in opposing domains.	39
Wing fate specification by localized expression of Wingless protein	40
Vn/EGFR promotes notum specification and growth	47
Vn/EGFR regulates the dorsal selector gene <i>apterous</i>	50
Notch signalling coordinates tissue growth and wing fate specification	52
JAK/STAT signalling pathway	57
The JAK/STAT core signalling cascade	57
JAK/STAT regulators	59
Functions of JAK/STAT	61

JAK/STAT as a modulator of cell proliferation	62
JAK/STAT signalling in <i>Drosophila</i> appendage development	65
Project and objectives	70
Results	71
JAK/STAT in the proximo-distal patterning of the wing	73
Early expression and activity of JAK/STAT signalling	73
JAK/STAT is required for the wing versus notum subdivision	75
JAK/STAT restricts the notum fate and ensures wing fate specification	77
Effects of targeted activation of JAK/STAT in the wing	82
Non-autonomous effects of JAK/STAT deregulation	84
JAK/STAT restricts the expression of its own ligand Upd	87
Upstream regulators of <i>upd</i> and JAK/STAT activity	90
JAK/STAT and the control of overall organ size	94
JAK/STAT activity in the wing territory throughout development	94
JAK/STAT maintains the size of the P compartment	95
Analysis of cell identity in JAK/STAT loss-of-function	100
JAK/STAT promotes the cycling and survival of P cells	102
JAK/STAT counteracts the negative effects of Engrailed on cell cycling survival	and 109
JAK/STAT promotes the stable localization of the Dpp organizer	114
Interplay between growth and patterning	116
JAK/STAT restricts Dpp organizing activity to the developing appenda	ge 116
Discussion	119
A new role for JAK/STAT in wing fate specification	121
Regulation of EGFR by JAK/STAT	122
Non-autonomous effects of JAK/STAT deregulation	125
Upstream regulators of <i>upd</i> during second instar	129
A refined model for wing fate specification	131

JAK/STAT promotes the cycling and survival of P cells	138
JAK/STAT counteracts the negative effects of Engrailed	143
Biological relevance of JAK/STAT in wing growth	145
Material and Methods	153
Drosophila strains and genetics	155
Gal4 drivers	155
Other transcriptional reporter lines	155
UAS-transgenes	155
Mutant alleles and FRT-bearing chromosomes	156
Mosaic analysis and lineage tracing	157
Temporal and regional control of target gene expression	157
Histochemistry	159
Antibodies	159
Immunostaining	159
TUNEL assay	160
In situ hybridization	
Measurements and statistical analysis	160
Quantification of tissue size	
Quantification of fluorescent signal intensity	
Quantification of cell death	162
Bibliography	163
Supporting Tables	193
Abbreviations	201

Introduction



Developmental Biology: a merge of traditions

Ex ovo omnia ("All from the egg"). Frontispiece of William Harvey's book *On the Generation of Animals* (1651) depicts Zeus liberating living creatures from an egg. It symbolizes the unity of the principles of development across species.

Every scientific discipline is defined by the questions it asks and by the problems it tries to solve. Developmental biology studies how an organism builds itself from a single cell zygote, how order, complexity and form emerges from initially equivalent cells, or in another way, how a relatively homogeneous material - the embryo - generates and generated the diversity of life forms. Traditionally, developmental studies focused on embryogenesis, the phase of an organism between fertilization and birth, but development does not stop at birth. Many organisms display determinate or indeterminate growth, while others developmental experience successive transitions undergo or metamorphosis after the larval stage. In general, organisms never stop developing, either by renewing old or defective cells or by regenerating lost body parts. In addition, and to some extent, disease can be viewed as a dysfunction of developmental processes or a failure to sustain tissue

homeostasis and repair, which can contribute to cancer, aging and degeneration.

Many questions that developmental biology seek to answer were formulated hundreds of years ago by philosophers and scientists, long before it defined itself as a discipline of biology. Its roots are the developmental anatomy and experimental embryology traditions that eventually combined together with other disciplines such as genetics, physiology, and cell, molecular and evolutionary biology. The integration with other areas brought new ideas and inspired concrete thinking about the cellular and molecular nature of developmental processes. In parallel, advances and applications from physics and chemistry led to the incorporation of new technologies and reagents that greatly expanded the repertory of tools available to study tissues, cells and molecules. This multidisciplinary approach revealed that despite the great diversity of sizes and shapes, the body plan of most organisms is built up by a limited and conserved set of developmental toolkit genes recurrently used for different purposes during development (Newman, 2006; Newman and Bhat, 2009; Rokas, 2008a, 2008b). The majority of toolkit genes are components of signalling pathways, encode for the production of signalling molecules and secreted morphogens, cell adhesion proteins, receptor ligands, intracellular signalling proteins and transcription factors. Nowadays developmental biology tries to describe the processes and mechanics of life at any level of detail, and occupies a central positon in biology both in basic and biomedical research.

4

The questions: a conceptual toolkit

Development accomplishes two major goals. First, to generate an organism from an embryo and second, to ensure the continuity of life by reproduction. Two big questions that developmental biologists conveniently divided into smaller, yet complex problems and concepts that outline some of the principles of development. In general, the formation of a complex multicellular organism encompasses three minimal requisites: an increase in size, some degree of cellular specialization and sub-functionalization as well as the spatial ordering of cells in a coherent unit according to the morphology of its species. Nonetheless, developmental processes do not function as independent entities, but they influence considerably each other.

Growth and size determination

Control of organ size is a fundamental aspect of biology and is critical for organism fitness. Developing organisms must grow up until its species-specific size whereas many organs also display homeostatic size-control mechanisms to (i) ensure that the final size is attained and (ii) to maintain-the overall body and organ size during the rest of life. In general, the number and size of the cells it contains determine the final size of an animal. The balance between cell proliferation and cell death fixes cell number, while cell size depends on cell growth. Decades of research raised and answered questions regarding the connections between growth – increase in cell mass – and cell division (Neufeld et al., 1998; Su and O'Farrell, 1998; Weigmann et al., 1997). How is cell proliferation coupled with cell growth in continuously dividing tissues and uncoupled in other cell types? How growth is coordinated within and between organs to generate well-proportioned individuals? Can growth

be pushed by driving cell proliferation or cells must attain a minimal size to progress in the cell cycle? Perhaps even more intriguing than knowing how an organ grows is to understand how its size is determined. How an organ stops growing? Does a tissue count cell numbers or cell divisions? Which are the size-sensing mechanisms that measure global dimensions and arrest growth at the appropriate size? Answers to these and other questions related to growth control during development are certainly helping to address other growth-dependent processes, such as cancer and regeneration.

Morphogenesis, on form and function

The size and shape of organs, limbs and other body parts define the organism's morphology. Form and function are tightly linked; the shape of a structure in an organism is critical to its function, even at the individual cellular level, for example the branching of neurons and elongated skeletal muscle fibres. Cell communication, adhesion and polarity are essential for morphogenesis since they explain how cells move, migrate, rearrange and change their morphology during development in a coordinated manner in order to build complex multicellular organisms (Lecuit and Le Goff, 2007).

Pattern formation, from cell fate to differentiation

The building of an organism is a process of refinement. Initially involves laying down the overall body plan defining the main axes of the animal – the anterior and posterior ends and the dorsal and ventral sides. General features of a body plan appear first and, as development proceeds, the more particular and specialized structures are progressively elaborated. This regional specification is the result of a developmental genetic program that precisely controls the spatial and temporal pattern of gene activity to instruct cell identity and fate. During development, patterns of gene expression emerge to subdivide adjacent cell populations into distinct genetic domains and delineate specific territories in the developing tissues that will ultimately define each portion within an organ or anatomical unit (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Patterning subdivides tissues into territories (**A**) Illustrative image of the spatially restricted expression of some genes involved in the patterning of the *Drosophila* embryo along the AP axis. The combined action of these and other genes establish the antero-posterior polarity, divide the embryo into regions and set the boundaries of segments. (**B**) In the vertebrate limb, a patterning system subdivides the growing limb along the proximo-distal axis in three main regions and along the antero-posterior axis to stablish the position of digits. Adapted from (Dekanty and Milán, 2011).

The generation of patterns from a uniform field of cells often involves the activity of **signalling centres**, which behave as **organizers** by the secretion of long- and short-range ligands as well as **morphogens**. The idea that organizers are group of cells that release **inductive signals** to regulate morphogenesis was demonstrated by Hans Spemann and his assistant Hilde Mangold (Spemann and Mangold, 1924). In a famous

transplant experiment in amphibian embryos, they showed that a secondary embryo could be formed by grafting one small region onto a new site on another embryo. This region was called the Spemann organizer, since it seemed to be sufficient to cause a global reorganization of the spatial pattern and to direct the development of a new body axis. Since then, several organizers have been described as a recurrent strategy to control pattern and morphogenesis during development (Anderson and Stern, 2016). The view that organisms are patterned by gradients of "formative substances" was anticipated by Morgan and Boveri (Boveri, 1901; Morgan, 1901) studying regeneration in worms and hydroids. Morgan observed a gradient of regenerative capacity along the antero-posterior axis in worms and conceived the existence of graded substance differences along the body axis. The word morphogen was later coined by Alan Turing (Turing, 1952) without pretending to have a very exact meaning, but simply the substance envisioned to convey the idea of a **diffusible form producer**. Lewis Wolpert refined later the concept as a synthesis of several ideas organizers, induction, gradients, thresholds and diffusion – from previous embryological and theoretical studies and proposed his "French flag model" as a mechanism for morphogen gradients in pattern formation (Figure 2). He also introduced a new cellular parameter, the concept of positional information (Wolpert, 1969, 1989, 2011, 2016). Cells acquire information about their position relative to their neighbours and to an internal coordinate system, and they interpret these positional values according to their genetic constitution and developmental history to differentiate at specific positions. The current view of a morphogen retains Wolpert's core notion and is defined as a molecule that spreads out from a localized source to form a concentration gradient that provides positional information and determines the responses of all cells in the field. This gradient creates a series of concentration thresholds along the tissue that set the transcriptional state of downstream target genes in discrete domains of expression (Figure 2). These genetic subdivisions are ultimately used to define cell identity and the pattern of differentiation. Even though at earlier stages of pattern formation cells might not look differentiated, variations between cells exist in terms of their **commitment** to particular fates and their **developmental potential** becomes restricted. Committed cells will eventually start to display marked changes in their morphology, biochemistry and function as they **differentiate** according to their position within an organ to generate the diversity of cell types.



Figure 2. Morphogen gradients in pattern formation. (A) A gradient of morphogen concentration determines, point by point, the positional values of all cells in the field. (B) The morphogen gradient activates target genes in a concentration-dependent manner, thus positional values are interpreted by the cells to form a defined pattern (colours). Adapted from (Wolpert, L. Principles of Development).

As noted above, there is an **interplay between developmental processes**, they influence and sometimes overlap each other since they occur simultaneously and coordinately. For instance the **connection**

between growth and morphology. It is known that morphological changes can be driven by local differences in growth rates, by adjusting the duration of the growth period or by modulating the direction of growth. Randomly oriented cell proliferation result in isodiametric growth, whereas oriented cell divisions result in shapeelongated tissue growth (Figure 3A) (Baena-López et al., 2005; Desplan and Lecuit, 2003; Lecuit and Le Goff, 2007; Rolland-Lagan et al., 2003). Similarly, local variations in the growth rates within and between organs can also affect shape and proportions. The proximo-distal outgrowth of vertebrate limbs was initially suggested to rely on a gradient of proliferation rates that elongates the limb primordia from the distal tip (Fernandez-Teran et al., 2006; Niswander et al., 1993), and recently it has been proposed that oriented cell divisions are critical to promote elongation in the mice limb bud (Boehm et al., 2010). Similarly, in both the petal lobe of *Antirrhinum* and the *Drosophila* wing, the final shape is achieved by orienting cell divisions along the proximo-distal axis (Baena-López et al., 2005; Mao et al., 2011; Rolland-Lagan et al., 2003). Whereas organ-intrinsic variations in local growth may alter the shape of an individual organ, differential growth rates and timings between organs change the allometric relationship between distinct body parts. A classic example are D' Arcy Thompson's illustrations in his book On growth and form, 1917, which show how the transformation of one form to another of a related species can be represented by geometric distortion of a Cartesian grid (Figure 3B). In cellular terms, transformations are probably caused by changes in the rates, durations and directions of growth.

Growth and patterning are also connected. Tissue growth can influence how patterning signals exert their function and modulates the way receiving cells respond to developmental cues, by adjusting the time, the intensity and the amount of cells exposed to patterning signals. Blocking tissue growth may cause the failure to specify cell fates and define territories, resulting in terminal phenotypes reminiscent of patterning defects rather than a mere undergrowth (Kenyon et al., 2003; Rafel and Milán, 2008; Towers et al., 2008). Conversely, patterning events generate new domains within a tissue that often behave as organizers, essential to propel further growth of the tissue (Figure 3C, D). Thus, growth can be "upstream" of pattern formation and vice versa. The interplay between morphogens, growth and patterning will be discussed further in the next sections of this thesis in the context of *Drosophila* development.



Figure 3. Interplay between growth, patterning and morphology. (**A**, **B**) Growth influences morphology. (**A**) The orientation of cell divisions results in shape differences in a growing tissue. (**B**) Adaptation of D'Arcy Thompson's illustrations showing morphological transformations viewed as changes in the relative growth between body regions. (**C**, **D**) Patterning directs growth. A patterning event such as the generation of a new organizer in developing human or *Drosophila* limb results in additional growth and duplication of structures. Adapted from (Arthur, 2006; Lecuit and Le Goff, 2007; Tabata, 2004).

Drosophila as a model organism

The universality of the genetic language and the conservation of the core structural and functional elements that govern essential biological functions makes the use of model organisms extremely useful and necessary to address a variety of biological questions, many of them relevant for human physiology. The discoveries made in one organism are expected to provide insight into the workings of other organisms but, since life is too diverse to find all the answers in a single organism, biologist adopted several model systems, each representative of particular taxa.

In this work, we used the fruit fly Drosophila Melanogaster as a model system. The biology of *Drosophila* is one of the best known among all animal models that, by historical and practical reasons, has been used to address a variety of biological questions for more than one hundred years. Its suitability for genetic manipulations and short generation times and its well-described developmental biology makes the fruit fly an ideal model system for research in several areas of biology. The vast collection of mutant strains previous to the genomic era, the ample repertory of tools to alter gene expression in specific tissues as well as the use of RNAi-mediated gene silencing (Dietzl et al., 2007; Ni et al., 2011) or targeted mutations (Bellen et al., 2004, 2011; Xu et al., 2015) to interrogate gene function, have characterized many of the genes involved in signalling pathways. The use of genetic mosaic techniques also allows the study of lethal recessive mutations in defined cell populations or to test the "cellautonomy" of a mutant phenotype (Blair, 2003). The ease of genetic studies is because Drosophila is a less complex animal compared to vertebrates, with low genetic redundancy and streamlined versions of the major signalling pathways, making the identification of core functional elements and epistatic analysis more straightforward. In addition, after the sequentiation of the *Drosophila* genome it was estimated that 75% of human disease-related genes have an identifiable orthologue in *Drosophila* (Adams, 2000; Reiter et al., 2001). This allows to recapitulate some of the cellular and molecular features of human physiology, model disorders and drug testing in a simplified system (Padmanabha and Baker, 2014; Singh and Irvine, 2012; Wangler et al., 2015; Yamamoto et al., 2014; Zirin and Perrimon, 2010). *Drosophila* is a holometabolous insect constructed by a linear series of repeating body segments or metameres that fuse or articulate to form the functional morphological units or tagmas, such as the head, thorax and abdomen. Its life cycle comprises four different main forms, the embryo, larva, pupa and the adult (Figure 4).



Figure 4. The life cycle of *Drosophila Melanogaster.* The duration from the embryo to the adult stage extends about ten days at 25°C. Its life cycle starts with a 24-hour embryogenesis, followed by four days of larval development and five days of pupal stage where metamorphosis occurs and most of the larval tissues are histolyzed and replaced by adult tissues. The larval stage is divided in three instars (L1, L2 and L3) spaced out by ecdysis, or cuticle molts.

The larvae are composed of two types of tissues: the polyploid endoreplicative and the diploid proliferative imaginal tissues. The first go through successive rounds of genome duplication without cell division (G-S cycles) leading to an increase in cell size but not cell number. This is the case of the gut, salivary glands, trachea, malpighian tubes, fat body and larvae integument. By the end of embryogenesis, specific groups of cells invaginate and are set aside from the embryonic ectoderm in fixed positions that will give rise to the imaginal tissues, the primordia of the adult cuticle (Bate and Arias, 1991; Cohen, 1990; Cohen et al., 1993; Mandaravally Madhavan and Schneiderman, 1977). While the epidermis of the adult abdomen originates from histoblast nests, the rest of the external adult structures derive from imaginal discs (Figure 5). There are nineteen imaginal discs, nine pairs precursors of the head, thorax and appendages, and a single genital disc (Aldaz et al., 2010). Imaginal discs grow and proliferate throughout larval stages and they differentiate and fuse during metamorphosis to form adult structures. Given that the adult cuticle does not grow neither molts, any future increase in body size is constrained by the rigid exoskeleton. Consequently, the rate and the duration of growth during the feeding period restricts body growth, and the transition from larva to pupa fixes the future final adult size. In this context of extensive growth, an autonomous and genetically determined series of signalling cascades pattern imaginal discs along the main axes to assign cell identities and positions. Indeed, allograft transplantations of disc fragments into mature larvae showed that the important events of pattern formation have already occurred in late imaginal discs and as such, the fate of each territory is strictly determined to give rise to the different parts of the adult cuticle and its corresponding histotypes (Bryant, 1971, 1975).



Figure 5. Imaginal discs allocation in the larva and adult derivatives. Schematic representation of a *Drosophila* adult (top) and mature larva (bottom). The head capsule, eyes and antennae derive from the eye-antennae imaginal discs (red) while the thorax and wings originate from the wing imaginal discs (yellow). The epidermis of the adult abdomen derives from imaginal tissues called histoblast nests that proliferate during metamorphosis (green).

In this thesis, we focused on the wing imaginal disc as a model system to analyse the developmental roles the JAK/STAT signalling pathway in limb development. The *Drosophila* wing imaginal disc has substantially contributed to the genetic dissection of the developmental pathways controlling growth, patterning and programmed cell death (Andersen et al., 2013; Beira and Paro, 2016; Blair, 1995; Hariharan, 2015; Neto-Silva et al., 2009), and has proven to be a fruitful model for investigations in limb development (Morata, 2001; Serrano and O'Farrell, 1997; Shubin et al., 1997). The developing limbs of *Drosophila* have been extensively used to study morphogens and members of their corresponding signalling pathways, and have been influential in our current understanding of the

interplay between morphogen function, growth and patterning (Affolter and Basler, 2007; Arias, 2003; Baena-Lopez et al., 2012; Dekanty and Milán, 2011; Lawrence, 2001; Restrepo et al., 2014). Work in this model system has also contributed to the discovery of the developmental role of apoptosis in correcting developmental defects, sculpting differentiated limbs as well as the impact of tissue growth in cell fate specification (Adachi-Yamada et al., 1999; Dekanty and Milán, 2011; Kenyon et al., 2003; Manjón et al., 2007; Milán, 2002; Rafel and Milán, 2008)

Drosophila limb development: origin and fate map

Embryonic origin of the limb primordia

The second thoracic segment of the adult fly contains a pair of wings and legs, each located dorsally and ventrally, respectively. Precursors of these appendages, the wing and the leg imaginal discs, originate in a lateral position of the embryo from a common embryonic limb primordia (Cohen et al., 1993; Wieschaus and Gehring, 1976). This cluster of founder cells of polyclonal origin segregates together by invagination from the parasegments 4 and 5 in the embryonic ectoderm, which correspond to the second thoracic segment (T2) (Crick and Lawrence, 1975; Kornberg, 1981; Martinez-Arias, 1986). In the embryo, a Dpp stripe runs laterally along the anterio-posterior axis and bisects the embryonic ectoderm into dorsal and ventral sides, whereas Wingless is expressed in the ventral-anterior compartment of the second thoracic segment (Cohen et al., 1993). The intersection between these two stripes is critical for the activation of Distalless (DII), the developmental and molecular marker of the embryonic limb primordia that functions as а developmental switch to promote the development of limb structures (Cohen et al., 1993, 1989). In principle, all the segments have the potential to develop appendages, but genes of the Bithorax Complex (BX-C) repress *DII* transcription in abdominal segments of insects. In the absence of BX-C function, *Dll* is activated in an equivalent position in all abdominal segments to form limb primordia (Gebelein et al., 2002; Vachon et al., 1992). This fits well with the idea that insects derive from multi-legged ancestors that subsequently lost legs in their abdominal segments (Galant and Carroll, 2002; Levine, 2002; Lewis et al., 2000; Ronshaugen et al., 2002). Interestingly, *Dll* is expressed in the primordia and later in the distal regions of the developing appendages of all arthropods (Cohen, 1990; Panganiban et al., 1994, 1995; Popadic et al., 1996). More important, its ortholog *Dlx* is expressed in fish fins and tetrapod limb buds, as well as along the proximo-distal axis in the developing appendages of different taxa such as polychaete, onychophoran, ascidian and even the echinoderm tube feet (Panganiban et al., 1997). The structural and functional conservation of the *Dll* gene in such diverse appendages could be convergent, but this would have required the independent co-option of *Dl/Dlx* several times in evolution. Alternatively, *Dll/Dlx* might have originated once in a common ancestor and might represent a member of an ancestral proximo-distal patterning system recurrently used to generate body wall outgrowths (Morata, 2001; Pueyo and Couso, 2005).

The nascent wing and haltere imaginal discs originate from a subset of *Dll*-expressing cells that migrate dorsally from the embryonic limb primordium at the time they start to ubiquitously express *vestigial* (*vg*), which becomes the developmental marker of wing and haltere discs (Cohen et al., 1993; Goto and Hayashi, 1997). The wing and haltere are homologous dorsal appendages of the second (T2) and third (T3) thoracic segments, respectively, and their differences are the direct consequence of the position where they originate in the embryo (Figure 6). The halteres are small modified hindwings, a derived state of the posterior wings present in the four-winged ancestor of Diptera (Carroll et al., 1995; Wootton and Kukalová-Peck, 2000). In *Drosophila*, the Hox gene *Ultrabithorax* (*Ubx*) suppresses wing disc development in the dorsal T3 imaginal disc and confers haltere identity to this primordium, whereas the absence of Ubx in the dorsal T2 imaginal disc allows the development of the wing primordium. Total loss of *Ubx*

function in the developing halteres results in the complete transformation of halteres to wings, giving rise to a fully-formed four-winged adult fly (Carroll et al., 1995; Lewis, 1978), suggesting that this structure (the wings) represent the ground plan for the dorsal appendage (Mann and Carroll, 2002). Thus, the *Ubx* gene functions as a selector gene, a developmental switch on top of the genetic pathway that selects between two alterative developmental fates. The Ubx-dependent patterning event that selects between wing or haltere fate is one example in which patterning acts upstream of growth, since it defines two distinct developmental units that intrinsically carry information about their final size.



Figure 6. Embryonic origin of imaginal discs. (A) Cartoon depicting the embryonic origin of the wing (blue) and haltere (green) imaginal discs from the second and third thoracic segment (T2 and T3, respectively), located dorsal to the three ventral leg imaginal discs (red). (B) Both the wing (blue) and second leg (red) imaginal discs in T2 arise in parasegments 4 and 5, whereas the haltere and third leg disc develop from the parasegments 5 and 6.

Fate map of the wing imaginal disc

The wing primordium consists of a continuous epithelial monolayer that forms a two-sided epithelial sac, which surrounds the disc lumen. One side of the disc is a columnar pseudostratified epithelium, namely the disc proper (DP), and the other side is the peripodial membrane (PM), a squamous epithelium of wide and flat cells. The PM does not contribute to the formation of any adult structure but facilitates the process of wing disc eversion and thorax fusion during metamorphosis (Pastor-Pareja et al., 2004; Tripura et al., 2011). The DP will give rise after metamorphosis to the adult wing blade, the mesothoracic body wall or notum, the ventral meso- and pteropleura and the wing hinge, a structure that joints and articulates the wing blade to the body wall (Figure 7).



Figure 7. The wing imaginal disc territories and adult derivatives. (A) Mature third instar wing primordia with the major territories colour-coded. Dorsal (B) and lateral (C) views of a *Drosophila* adult with the same colour-code indicating the cuticle derivatives. P, proximal; D, distal. Adapted from (Hatini et al., 2013).

As an epithelial monolayer, the wing disc is considered a twodimensional structure, but it gives rise to an adult appendage patterned along three axes; anterio-posterior (AP), dorso-ventral (DV) and proximodistal (PD). The PD axis superimposes to the AP and DV axes during larval stages and consists of three main territories, from proximal to distal: notum, hinge, and the wing pouch – the precursor of the adult wing blade. The most central regions give rise to the distal structures and the surrounding the proximal ones (Figure 8).

During wing disc eversion in metamorphosis the dorsal (D) and ventral (V) surfaces fold and become apposed, revealing the third axis (Figure 9). Importantly, all the wing disc derivatives will appear as genetic domains that prefigure adult organization.



Figure 8. Subdivision of the wing disc along the proximo-distal (PD) axis. (A) Cartoon of a third instar wing disc showing the territories that define the PD axis; W, wing pouch; DH, distal hinge; PH, proximal hinge; L, lateral hinge; N, notum. (B) Wild type adult wing showing PD subdivisions. Labels are the same as in A except for the wing blade (WB). (C-E) Late third instar wing disc stained for Tsh (red) and Hth (blue). Hth is expressed throughout the hinge and the notum, while Tsh is restricted to the PH and the notum. Neither are expressed in the wing pouch (W) and are considered hinge and body wall markers. Yellow arrowhead marks a deep fold between the DH and PH. Adapted from (Zirin and Mann, 2004).



Figure 9. Wing imaginal disc eversion. In metamorphosis, the dorsal (D) and ventral (V) surfaces of the primordia fold and become apposed to give rise to the adult wing. Adapted from (Wolpert, L. Principles of Development).

Growth, cell proliferation and cell death

Mechanisms of growth control

The final size of the wing primordia depends on the growth rate – the net increase in tissue size over time – and the duration of growth during the feeding period. The net value of both parameters is computed from genetic and environmental components, such as nutrition, temperature, crowding, tissue damage, infections etc. Multiple growth regulators have been identified and can be broadly grouped in two categories: organand organ-extrinsic regulators of size. Organ-extrinsic intrinsic regulators act in a humoral fashion to scale the size of multiple organs within an organism. They provide systemic information about the organismal status, such as nutrition and developmental stage. They include the nutrient-sensing pathways such as the TOR and Insulin signalling. Organ-intrinsic mechanisms rely on genetically determined patterning cues that control growth in a local fashion and provide information about the local cellular environment, such as the position of cells within the field as well as cell-to-cell contacts/interactions. Their expression and activity follow a disc-intrinsic genetic program. This program continues to function even when immature wing imaginal discs are transplanted into growth-permissive hosts - such as adult female abdomens – where pattern and growth continues autonomously until they reach a determined species-specific size. Examples of this are disc-secreted factors and patterning genes such as Dpp, Wg, Hh, Upd, EGF as well as the Hippo pathway and Myc.

Cell proliferation and cell death

In *Drosophila*, different regulators drive cell cycle progression. One of the most important groups of cell cycle regulators is the CDK family of serine-threonine protein kinases, that are activated sequentially. Their activity is controlled by reversible post-translational modifications and by the association with proteins called Cyclins (Cyc), which act as the regulatory subunits of the kinase complex. The Cyclins family is divided into two main classes: the 'G1 cyclins' which comprise Cyclin D and Cyclin E, and their accumulation is rate-limiting for progression from the G1 to S phase; and the 'mitotic or G2 cyclins' which include Cyclin A and Cyclin B and are involved in the control of G2 to M transition and mitosis. Cyclins bind to and activate the CDKs, which lead to phosphorylation and inhibition of different cellular substrates.



Figure 10. Cell cycle of *Drosophila melanogaster.* The cell cycle is subdivided into four phases: G1, S, G2 and M phases. Two key regulatory checkpoints are represented. In G1, Cyclin E limits S phase initiation by binding to CDK2. CycE is regulated by Dacapo/p21 and by E2F which is repressed by the retinoblastoma-like protein RBF. In G2, Cyclin A-B bind and activate CDK1 which induce String/Cdc25 thus allowing mitosis initiation. Tribbles functions as a negative regulator

Several transcription factors have a role on cell cycle regulation. The E2F transcription factor and its co-factor DP form a protein complex that induces Cyclin E (CycE) expression and thus transition from G1 to S phase [(Dynlacht et al., 1994), see Figure 10]. The protein phosphatase *String/Cdc25* is critical for the activity of the CycA-B/CDK1 complex, is rate limiting for entry into mitosis (O'Farrell et al., 1989), see Figure 10]. Different checkpoint mechanisms ensure that cells do not progress through the cell cycle when defects occur. The Drosophila gene dacapo (dap), which is a member of the p21/p27 family of CDK inhibitors, inhibits CycE/CDK2 activity therefore blocking G1 to S transition (Lane et al., 1996; De Nooij et al., 1996). The Retinoblastoma-family protein (RBF) is a family of tumor suppressor proteins known to bind to E2F, thus preventing CycE activation and blocking G1/S transition (Du et al., 1996). tribbles represses the cell cycle by inducing the degradation of String protein and consequently inhibits G2/M transition (Mata et al., 2000). Despite cell cycle manipulations, the resulting wings often attain the normal size. It seems that the wing discs adjusts cell numbers and cell divisions to achieve a final target size. In fact, the final adult wing can be composed either by fewer but larger cells (if cell cycle is blocked), or more but smaller cells (if cell cycle is induced) (Neufeld et al., 1998; Weigmann et al., 1997). Therefore, despite the close relationship between cell proliferation and cell growth, they are independently controlled.

The wing primordia are set aside during embryonic development as small clusters of cells that invaginate from the embryonic ectoderm and proliferate exponentially up until the end of larval stages. The wing disc starts to proliferate by the end of the first instar, about 40 hours after egg laying (AEL) (Mandaravally Madhavan and Schneiderman, 1977). The number of founder cells in the wing primordia of a newly hatched first instar larva was initially estimated as 11-38 cells (Bryant, 1970; Garcia-
Bellido and Merriam, 1971; Lawrence and Morata, 1977; Mandaravally Madhavan and Schneiderman, 1977) and the final cell number at pupariation as 50000 (Garcia-Bellido and Merriam, 1971). A more recent study reported 34 and 30000 cells for the initial and final cell numbers respectively, encompassing around 9-10 cell divisions during the larval stages (Martín et al., 2009). Moreover, during pupal stages cell proliferation resumes for two additional cell divisions (Milan et al., 1996). Cell proliferation during larval stages is uniform, as analysis of cell cycle patterns showed that cell divisions are randomly distributed throughout development, with small clusters of synchronously dividing cells (Milán et al., 1996).

During development, cells sense different extracellular signals that not only drive cell growth and cell division but also promote cell survival or cell death. Most animal cells have the ability to self-destruct by undergoing apoptosis, a form of programmed cell death. The proper regulation of apoptosis is critical for both development and tissue homeostasis, and inhibition of apoptosis contributes to the development and progression of cancer (Fernald and Kurokawa, 2013). In flies, in response to apoptotic stimuli, the pro-apoptotic genes reaper (rpr), head involution defective (hid), and grim are necessary and sufficient to induce apoptosis through inhibition of the caspase inhibitor Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis protein 1 (dIAP1) (Goyal et al., 2000; Ryoo et al., 2002) . Subsequently, the initiator caspase Drosophila Nedd2-like caspase (Dronc, Caspase-9-like) is activated which in turn activates by proteolysis the two major effector caspases, Drosophila interleukin-1 converting enzyme (DrICE, Caspase-3-like) and death caspase-1 (Dcp-1, Caspase-7-like) (Figure 11) (Mills et al., 2005). Caspases are a highly specialized class of cell-death proteases. After effector caspases

26

activation, these caspases will cleave different cellular substrates that will promote cell death (Xu et al., 2009). The average amount of cell death during larval stages is very low without any noticeable pattern, except at the L2-L3 larval molt where there is a moderate increase in dying cells and at the hinge-notum border during late third instar (Milán et al., 1997)



Figure 11. *Drosophila* **apoptotic pathway.** Initiator caspase Dronc and effector caspases DrICE and Dcp-1 are negatively regulated by DIAP1, which in turn is inhibited by the activity of the pro-apoptotic genes *hid*, *reaper* and *grim*.

Even though caspase activity and function is mainly linked with the maintenance and regulation of the apoptotic pathway, there are several evidences for non-apoptotic functions of the activated caspases (Miura, 2012). Not only in *Drosophila* but also in vertebrates, caspases have been reported to regulate cell proliferation in different ways and contexts . In the *Drosophila* wing imaginal disc, irradiation-induced cell death

triggers cell proliferation to compensate for the loss of cells and the adult wing ends up with its normal size and shape (Haynie and Bryant, 1977). In fact, caspases activate a compensatory proliferation program upon induction of cell death. In particular, Dronc, drICE and DCP-1 induce the production of morphogens in dying cells, which stimulate proliferation of adjacent cells (Fan and Bergmann, 2008). Moreover, feedback loops involving the caspase Dronc and the pro-apoptotic genes *hid* and *reaper* amplify and maintain a mechanism of compensatory proliferation (Shlevkov and Morata, 2012; Wells et al., 2006). Therefore, both cell death and cell proliferation are critical processes for the maintenance of tissue homeostasis and they are strictly linked.

Developmental subdivision of the wing: overview

Compartments and tissue territories

The wing primordium is subdivided into distinct functional units along the three major axes, AP, DV and PD. Short- and long-range patterning cues generate the three axes and provide cells within the epithelium with positional information and identity, with concomitant effects on growth, survival, adhesion and differentiation. The first subdivision occurs during segmentation in embryogenesis and is therefore inherited in the nascent wing primordia. Subsequent subdivisions of the wing disc arise *de novo* during larval stages. There are two mechanistically distinct modes of regional specification: developmental compartments and non-compartment based territories.

Developmental compartments are cell populations that do not mix during development and function as lineage restriction barriers (Garcia-Bellido et al., 1973). These subdivisions are based on a heritable pattern of selector genes, transcription factors that confer a specific identity and affinity properties on each compartment (Crickmore and Mann, 2008). The wing disc is subdivided along the AP axis into the anterior (A) and posterior (P) compartments, and along the DV axis into the (D) and ventral (V) compartments. The AP compartment subdivision is inherited from the embryonic ectoderm by the restricted expression and activity of the selector gene *engrailed* (*en*) in P cells. The DV compartment subdivision occurs later in development, during second instar, by the restricted expression and activity of the selector gene *apterous* (*ap*) in D cells. Moreover, short-range interactions between cells in adjacent compartments creates signalling centres at the interface, the AP and DV boundaries. These signalling centres behave as an internal coordinate

system that provides positional information to the field of cells at both sides of the boundary. Moreover, these boundary cells act as developmental organizers by the secretion of the long-range morphogens Decapentaplegic (Dpp) and Wingless (Wg) that control growth and pattering along the different axes of growth (Lawrence, 2001). Engrailed through Hedgehog (Hh) induces the expression of Decapentaplegic (Dpp) at the AP boundary and Apterous, through Notch (N), induces the expression of Wg at the DV boundary (Lawrence and Struhl, 1996). The intersection of the AP and DV represent the most distal point of the wing pouch and correspond to the distal tip of the adult wing blade. These two ligands are essential for proper wing development since the loss of any of them has dramatic effects in the final adult wing in terms of size and shape.

Non-compartment tissue territories are more common in development and defined by the restricted expression and activity of a gene or different combinations of gene products. These genetic domains appear as development proceeds and do not function as cell-lineage restriction boundaries. Examples of these are the wing pouch, the hinge and the notum. Even these three major territories are further subdivided into smaller genetic domains, each controlling the development of a part of the future adult structure. Thus, the wing pouch will eventually be subdivided into vein and intervein territories along the AP axis, and along the PD axis into a series of ring-like nested subdomains centred in the distal-most region of the wing pouch. The hinge also contains distal, proximal and lateral regions, each defined by a combination of gene activities. The notum is initially a single genetic unit but later becomes subdivided into medial and lateral domains as well as different portions therein (Mann and Morata, 2000) In general, segregation of cells into distinct territories (compartments or not) confers particular properties to the cells belonging to each domain. Tissue territories have a defined identity and behave as coherent units within the tissue. In cellular terms, this is translated in affinity and adhesion properties that allow cells to recognize each other, keeping them together and avoid or limit intermixing with other cell populations. Cells between compartments cannot mix and a straight and sharp border maintains these populations apart (Dahmann et al., 2011). However, intermixing between non-compartment territories is allowed and cells can freely move from one domain to another by just switching their identity according to their new position. Even in these permissive cases, cells tend to avoid crossing between adjacent territories, as in the wing-hinge or the hinge-notum borders (Villa-Cuesta et al., 2007; Zirin and Mann, 2007).

Another important feature of developmental fields is that they selectively and differentially respond to patterning cues depending on the domain they belong. For instance, Dpp is expressed along the AP compartment boundary in a stripe that straddles the notum, the hinge and the wing pouch, however Dpp is only able to promote tissue growth in the pouch and lateral hinge cells. Similarly, Wingless overexpression has a potent mitogenic effect in the proximal wing and the hinge region (Giraldez and Cohen, 2003; Neumann and Cohen, 1996), but only low or moderate levels of Wg cause proliferative growth in the pouch (Baena-Lopez et al., 2009). An excess of Wg in the wing pouch elicits the opposite response, it triggers premature cell cycle arrest and differentiation to wing margin fate (Herranz et al., 2008; Johnston and Edgar, 1998; Johnston and Sanders, 2003). Thus, cells in the wing disc exhibit position-dependent responsiveness to patterning cues. Compartments and tissue domains also behave as a coherent units of growth. In the case of compartments two properties have been observed (Martín and Morata, 2006; Mesquita et al., 2010; Morata and Herrera, 2010). In one view, compartments are considered autonomous units of growth control in which the growth of one compartment is independent to the adjacent one. Thus, each compartment would behave as a sizesensing unit. Experiments that generate wing discs in which compartments growth at different rates without affecting final compartment nor overall wing disc size exemplify this property. In the fast-growing compartment, the progression in the expression of key patterning genes usually shows a more advanced state compared to the slow-growing compartment, reflecting that growth and patterning of each territory is autonomous according to its intrinsic developmental program. Interestingly, once the fast-growing compartment reaches its final wild type size, growth is arrested and it gives enough time to the slow-growing compartment to attain its normal size and pattern. The final wing disc and adult wing are completely normal in terms of size and patterning elements. This observations led to the proposal that wing discs possess autonomous mechanisms to arrest growth in anterior and posterior compartments when they reach a predetermined size and therefore behave as independent developmental units (Martín and Morata, 2006; Morata and Herrera, 2010).

Other observations suggest that compartments communicate their developmental status to the neighbouring territory and the tissue responds as a whole to give rise a fully-functional adult structure. Depletion of the Insulin pathway or the protein biosynthetic machinery in one compartment autonomously reduces the growth rates and the final size of the targeted territory. Interestingly, this local perturbation is

32

accompanied by a non-autonomous response of the adjacent compartment, which also reduces its growth and proliferation rates in a coordinated manner. The net result of this buffering mechanism is an overall reduction in tissue size, but maintaining the relative proportions and the shape of the wing (Mesquita et al., 2010).

Developmental organizers: morphogens

The AP organizer: Hh and Dpp

During embryogenesis, the wing primordium is first subdivided into anterior and posterior compartments by the activity of the homeodomain transcription factors Engrailed/Invected in posterior cells (Kornberg et al., 1985). Engrailed generates an asymmetry by repressing the expression of the transcription factor Cubitus interruptus (Ci) in posterior cells, thus, only anterior (A) cells can respond to Hedgehog (Hh) by stabilizing Ci (Méthot and Basler, 1999). Hh coming from the posterior cells signals to cells in the anterior compartment to induce several target genes in a concentration-dependent manner (Vervoort, 2000) (Figure 12). Decapentaplegic (Dpp), the fly homologue of vertebrate bone morphogenetic proteins BMP2 and BMP4, belongs to the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) family and is induced by Hh in a stripe of anterior cells adjacent to the AP boundary of the wing disc (Zecca et al., 1995). Dpp spreads towards anterior and posterior cells to form a concentration gradient along the AP axis of the wing primordium with highest levels at the centre of the wing along the AP compartment boundary which decline as the distance from the source increases (Lecuit et al., 1996; Nellen et al., 1996a). Dpp acts as a long-range morphogen organizing pattern and growth symmetrically in both compartments (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Distribution Hh and Dpp morphogens in the *Drosophila* **wing imaginal disc.** In third instar larvae wing discs, Hh is expressed in the P compartment (green) and moves into the A compartment to activate gene expression in a stripe of cells adjacent to the AP boundary (light green). Dpp is produced at the AP boundary (blue) and acts as a long-range morphogen that controls growth and patterning of wing cells along the AP axis (light blue). Adapted from (Yan and Lin, 2009).

The binding of the Dpp ligand to the type I-type II/Thick veins (Tkv)-Punt receptor complex phosphorylates and activates the intracellular signal transducer and transcription factor Mothers against Dpp (Mad) (Kim et al., 1997; Ruberte et al., 1995). Activated Mad forms a complex with Medea and enters the nucleus to inhibit the expression of the transcriptional repressor Brinker (Brk) (Figure 13). These events convert the Dpp morphogen gradient into an inverse gradient of Brk repressor activity that mediates many of the patterning and growth functions of Dpp

(Martín et al., 2004; Müller et al., 2003; Pyrowolakis et al., 2004; Schwank et al., 2008). When brk is ectopically expressed, cells that normally respond to Dpp become refractory to it. Therefore, in order to activate target genes, the Dpp signaling pathway must remove Brk. This downregulation of brk occurs at the transcriptional level. Both Brk and P-Mad regulate Dpp target genes, such as *daughters against dpp* (*dad*), spalt (sal) and optomotor-blind (omb) (Figure 13). Dad is an inhibitory SMAD that downregulates Dpp signalling in the wing primordium (Tsuneizumi et al., 1997). As it is induced by Dpp, its inhibitory function is highest in regions of high Dpp activity. This negative feedback loop might modulate the duration and intensity of the signal. The Spalt and Omb target genes are activated by P-Mad in a concentration-dependent manner, and the inverse gradient of Brk repressor is fundamental to control the expression state of these Dpp-induced genes along the AP axis (Moser and Campbell, 2005; Müller et al., 2003; Winter and Campbell, 2004). Expression boundaries of both *sal* and *omb* are set by Brk (Campbell and Tomlinson, 1999; Jaźwińska et al., 1999); omb is less sensitive to Brk than sal and as such its domain of expression is broader. Although it is still unclear how sal and omb are repressed at different concentrations of Brk, one study suggests that different repression domains of Brk are sufficient to repress *omb* but not *sal* (Kirkpatrick et al., 2001).

Ectopic expression of Dpp in clones of cells both in the anterior or posterior compartments caused reorganizations of the wing pattern suggestive of a long-range activity of this morphogen (Capdevila and Guerrero, 1994; Zecca et al., 1995). In addition, these clones induce over-proliferation of surrounding cells and sometimes lead to organ duplications (Zecca et al., 1995). Hence, ectopic Dpp can induce

35

proliferation of an extra tissue and, at the same time, patterns it in the same way as the wild type tissue. How the growth and patterning of developing tissues are controlled and coordinated has been a longstanding question in developmental biology. The Dpp morphogen, that plays a role in both of these processes by providing positional information to the cells in the tissue and by acting as a trigger for tissue growth, is of crucial importance in the coordination of growth and patterning of the wing imaginal disc.



Figure 13. Dpp morphogen signalling cascade in the *Drosophila* wing imaginal disc. (A) In the upper panel representation of the expression patterns of dpp (in blue), *brk* (in red), *sal* (in green) and *omb* (in yellow). Dpp is secreted from its site of production at the center of the disc and spreads into the A and P compartments, establishing a gradient with highest levels in the center and lowest in the lateral regions. Brk forms an inverse gradient to the Dpp gradient. Brk levels are important, together with Dpp activity levels, to set the expression boundaries of sal and omb. As omb is repressed by high levels of Brk and sal by lower levels, omb is expressed in a broader domain than sal (lower panel). (B) Representation of the transcriptional activity of the Dpp signalling cascade in cells with two extreme levels of Dpp: a medial cell with high Dpp activity levels in green and a lateral cell with low Dpp activity levels in blue. The question mark highlights the unknown transcriptional activator of *brk* and pent. SE: Silencer Element, AE: Activating Element, BE: Brinker Element. Details are described in the main text. Adapted from (Hamaratoglu et al., 2014; Schwank and Basler, 2010).

In the mature wing of the fly, the positioning of the veins along the anteroposterior axis are manifestations of different Dpp patterning outputs. Together with Brk, Sal and Omb, encoding transcriptional regulators, Dpp is involved in the vein positioning of the adult wing. Sal and Brk are required for the specification of the longitudinal vein 2 in the anterior compartment, while Omb and Brk are important in the establishment of the vein 5 in the posterior compartment (De Celis, 2003)

The conclusion that Dpp is critical for growth of the wing imaginal disc comes from the observation that mutant flies lacking Dpp expression in the wing imaginal disc fail to form wings (Zecca et al., 1995) and clones of cells unable to transduce Dpp are eliminated from the wing blade (Burke and Basler, 1996). In an opposite way, overexpression of Dpp in its own domain causes overgrown wing imaginal discs (Burke and Basler, 1996). However, how the Dpp gradient drives uniform growth is still a matter of intense debate.

The DV organizer: Wg

Later in development, in second instar, EGFR signalling triggers the establishment of a dorsal-ventral axis by inducing the expression of the transcription factor and selector gene Apterous in dorsal cells (Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a, 2002b). Apterous activates the expression of a Notch ligand, Serrate, in dorsal cells and restricts the expression of another ligand, Delta, in ventral cells (Diaz-Benjumea and Cohen, 1993; Doherty et al., 1996; Irvine and Vogt, 1997). This leads to the symmetric activation of Notch on both sides of the DV boundary. Notch activation leads to expression of Wg at the DV boundary that plays a fundamental role in patterning and growth along de DV axis (Diaz-Benjumea and Cohen, 1993, 1995; Zecca et al., 1996). Wg secreted from

the DV border of the wing disc acts as a long-range morphogen (Figure 14) by inducing the expression of its target genes, including *senseless* (*sens*), *distalless* (*dll*), and *vestigial* (*vg*) (Neumann and Cohen, 1997; Zecca et al., 1996). Clones of cells ectopically expressing Wg are capable or organizing growth and patterning of the surrounding tissue generating supernumerary limbs (Ng et al., 1996; Struhl and Basler, 1993; Zecca et al., 1995). Conversely, loss of Wg activity in the developing wing leads to growth defects and loss of wing tissue (Zecca et al., 1996). However, the role of Wg as a genuine morphogen it is matter of debate, as recent experimental evidence indicates that Wg secretion is dispensable for growth and patterning (Alexandre et al., 2014; Morata and Struhl, 2013). Moreover, graded distribution of Wg is not required to stimulate cell proliferation at least during the later stages of wing development (Baena-Lopez et al., 2009).



Figure 14. Distribution of the Wg morphogen in the *Drosophila* wing imaginal disc. In third instar larvae wing discs, Wg is expressed at the DV boundary and (red) acts as a long-range morphogen to organize patterning along the DV axis (light red). Adapted from (Yan and Lin, 2009).

Proximo-distal patterning of the wing disc

Notum and wing fate determinants are expressed in opposing domains

The nascent wing primordium comprises the progenitors of the adult body wall (notum) and the wing, and the segregation between these territories is the first event in the proximo-distal patterning of the wing disc. During second instar, the localized expression of Vein (Vn) and Wingless (Wg) signalling molecules in opposing domains subdivides the primordium into the presumptive body wall and the wing field, respectively (Figure 15A). These two ligands antagonize each other, Wg induces wing fate and prevents *vn* to be expressed in the distal domain, while Vn, an EGFR ligand, induces notum fate and suppresses wing development by blocking the responsiveness of cells to Wg (Figure 15B) (Wang et al., 2000).



Figure 15. Segregation of wing and notum developmental fields. (A) Expression of *vn* transcript (cyan) and Wg protein (red) in mid-second instar wing primordia. (B) Simplified cartoon depicting the expression and the antagonistic functions between Vn/EGFR and Wg in second instar and the corresponding adult structures they induce. Scale bar, 20µm.

Wing fate specification by localized expression of Wingless protein

wingless, the founder member of the Wnt family of glycoproteins, is expressed at the opposite edge of *vn* in the early wing primordia, in distal cells, and is essential for wing formation (Figure 16) (Couso et al., 1993; Morata and Lawrence, 1977; Sharma and Chopra, 1976; Williams et al., 1993). *wingless* is initially and transiently induced by paracrine Hh signalling at the ventral-anterior edge of the wing primordium during early second instar and its expression is lost in *hh* mutants (Ng et al., 1996). Once the wing is specified, the wg locus becomes refractory to Hh signalling and symmetric Notch signalling between dorsal (D) and ventral (V) cells further restricts wa expression in two-three rows of cells along the dorso-ventral compartment boundary (DV), where it exerts its organizing activity during the third instar larval stage (Diaz-Benjumea and Cohen, 1993, 1995). Thus, the specification of the wing depends on the AP patterning system, but not the DV system. However, the specification of the wing pouch is required to define a field of cells in which the DV patterning system functions to control growth through the activation of Vg (Kim et al., 1996).

Some *wg* mutant alleles do not respond to Hh and behave as null or strong hypomorphic alleles only in second instar, the developmental stage when the wing field is specified by Wg protein. In these mutant animals, the wings fail to specify and consequently this structure is lost in adult flies (Figure 16). Very often, an ectopic notum develops from the ventral pleura leading to a mirror-image duplication of the endogenous body wall structures (Figure 16). In general, the *wingless* phenotype is usually mentioned as a "wing to notum transformation" because an additional notum replaces the wing (Morata and Lawrence, 1977; Sharma and Chopra, 1976). Wingless has two main functions in second instar. First, its range of activity defines the presumptive

wing field territory and promotes wing fate specification by positively regulating a set of wing-determining genes (Ng et al., 1996; Wu and Cohen, 2002). Second, it antagonizes notum development by inhibiting *vn* expression in the distal territory (Wang et al., 2000). Consequently, the terminal phenotype observed when the early function of Wg is suppressed is the manifestation of two phenotypes, the failure to specify the wing and the ectopic expression of *vn* in the distal territory, which is assumed to be responsible for the notum duplication (Figure 16) (Wang et al., 2000).



Figure 16. Wg is required for wing fate specification. Wild type (A-D) and wg LOF phenotypes (E-G). (A) Expression domains of vn (purple) and wg (blue) in second instar wing discs. (B, C) Late third instar wing primordia stained for Teashirt (Tsh, cyan), Wingless and Nubbin (Wg, Nub, red). Wg is expressed in a characteristic pattern in the notum (N) and the wing pouch (W) and Nubbin is expressed in the pouch. (D) Wild type adult wing (W) and notum (N). (E) In a wg-LOF, vn is ectopically expressed (vn') in the distal territory during second instar. (F) Consequently, in late third instar, the wing pouch is absent and the entire disc expresses Tsh with symmetric expression of the Wg notal stripe, indicating that the notum is duplicated (N and N', white dashed line marks the approximate separation between endogenous and ectopic notum). (G) The resulting adult flies lack the wings and show ectopic nota (N', arrowheads). Adapted from (Rafel and Milán, 2008; Wang et al., 2000).

Besides the localized expression of wg and vn fate determinants in the early wing primordia, the nascent wing imaginal discs inherit from the embryo ubiquitous expression of *teashirt* (*tsh*), *homothorax* (*hth*) and *vestigial* (*vg*) genes, and no overt territorial subdivision exists at this developmental stage along the PD axis (Wu and Cohen, 2002). Both Tsh and Hth transcription factors contribute to proximal wing disc development, notum and hinge. They are incompatible with the acquisition of distal wing positional values and must therefore be repressed in the presumptive wing field (Aldaz, 2005; Azpiazu and Morata, 2000; Casares and Mann, 2000; Zirin and Mann, 2004, 2007). Indeed, ectopic expression of *tsh* or *hth* in the developing wing pouch causes undergrowth and impairs its development either by "proximalizing" the wing or inducing ectopic hinge structures. Interestingly, Meis 1/2, the vertebrate homologues of *hth*, are expressed in analogous positions of the developing vertebrate limb, from the trunk to the proximal limb bud, and implement a similar function in promoting proximal limb development (Mercader et al., 1999). This and other striking parallelisms in the molecules and mechanisms that distinguish between the trunk and appendage, support the view that both arthropod and vertebrate limbs originated from a common ancient genetic module recurrently used to form outgrowths of the body wall (Morata, 2001; Panganiban et al., 1997; Shubin et al., 1997). In contrast, vg is required for distal wing growth and confers the cells the identity to differentiate into the particular wing blade histotype. In vg mutant animals the wing blade is lost or residual (Williams et al., 1993, 1991), and vg mutant clones in the wing pouch have poor viability and upregulate hinge marker genes such as hth (Azpiazu and Morata, 2000; Kim et al., 1996; Zirin and Mann, 2004). Consequently, the retraction of tsh and hth to the hinge/notum and vg to the wing pouch is a requirement for the proximo-distal outgrowth of the wing.

In mid-second instar, repression of tsh by Wg at the time that vg retracts to the presumptive wing field marks the initiation of wing development, and these events are the earliest signs of wing specification (Figure 17). Dpp gain-of-function experiments led to the proposal that Dpp collaborates with Wg in repressing Tsh from the presumptive wing field in second instar (Wu and Cohen, 2002). It was suggested then, that the combined actions of Wg and Dpp to specify the wing territory would be analogous to the way they cooperate in the leg disc to establish the proximo-distal axis (Lecuit and Cohen, 1997). However several loss-of-function experiments concluded that this is not the case and only Wg mediates the repression of Tsh during second instar (Cavodeassi et al., 2002; Zirin and Mann, 2004). Soon after the repression of *tsh*, Wg induces *nubbin* (*nub*), the earliest positive marker for wing identity. Nubbin is a POU-homeodomain transcription factor required for proliferation and patterning of the wing pouch and the distal hinge, and its mutations cause reduced and shortened wings along the proximo-distal axis (Cifuentes and García-Bellido, 1997; Ng et al., 1995). Nub can be repressed by Tsh if ectopically expressed in the pouch (Wu and Cohen, 2002; Zirin and Mann, 2007). It is not clear the exact moment at which the first Nub positive cells can be detected by immunolabeling, the lack of consensus standards to stage the developing larvae at precise time points usually results in discrepancies. In general, most would agree that Nub starts to be expressed at some point from mid-second instar onwards (60 h AEL) and all its descendants comprise the wing pouch and the distal wing hinge. While the repression of tsh is a requirement to define the wing field and delimit the group of cells that will express nub, the repression of hth seems to occur well after tsh retraction (Figure 17). Since Hth and Nub proteins overlap during late second and early third instar, it is likely that Hth retraction from the wing pouch, although necessary for distal wing outgrowth, is rather a consequence of the specification of the wing than a causative event. Thus,

the specification of the wing pouch versus the surrounding body wall involves a primary event, the delimitation of the wing field by the absence of Tsh, and the induction of a positive marker for wing fate, Nubbin, which is therefore considered a secondary event. Once the wing field has been specified, *tsh* is heritable silenced from the wing pouch by Polycomb-group proteins (PcG) and no longer requires the Wingless input (Zirin and Mann, 2004). Similarly, *nub* expression becomes Wg-independent and it is proposed that epigenetic mechanisms maintain its active state through cell divisions (Johnston and Sanders, 2003; Widmann and Dahmann, 2009; Zirin and Mann, 2007). In contrast, Hth is repressed continuously and actively from the wing by a repertory of wing pouch genes such as *dpp*, *wg*, *vg* and *nub* (Azpiazu and Morata, 2000; Zirin and Mann, 2004, 2007). Whether they act in a linear cascade or in parallel has not been addressed in detail.



Figure 17. Repression of Tsh and Nub induction in wing fate specification. (A) In mid second instar (mL2) Tsh (green) is already repressed from the distal wing primordia by Wg (red) and defines the future wing pouch territory. Nub (white) is faintly expressed at this stage in few cells. (B) In late second instar (IL2) the Nub domain (white) fills the entire wing pouch at the time that Hth (red) starts to be repressed from this region and Vg (green) retracts into a larger area foreshadowing its expression along the DV boundary in the body wall as well as in the wing. Adapted from (Wu and Cohen, 2002).

Wingless is not only required for wing fate specification, but also capable to trigger wing development "de novo" in other locations of the wing disc (Figure 18). However, not all the regions and moments are equally suitable or competent to develop a wing when an ectopic source of Wingless is provided, indicating that the wing-inducer function of Wg is conditioned by spatial and temporal constraints. It is widely accepted that the developmental stage at which Wg can induce wing fate is restricted to second instar, the developmental stage when the endogenous appendage is specified (Couso et al., 1993; Ng et al., 1996; Williams et al., 1993). In general, activation of the Wg signalling pathway by ectopic expression of Wg or other *Drosophila* Wnt ligands can bypass EGFR repression in the notum and cause the same effect (Collins and Treisman, 2000; Gieseler et al., 2001; Klein and Arias, 1998; Ng et al., 1996; Silver et al., 2007a). In these cases, the terminal phenotype is stated as supernumerary wings, ectopic wings or commonly as a "notum to wing transformation" because the additional wing structures arise, in part, at the expense of reprogramed notum cells. The supernumerary wing phenotype seems the reverse to the "wing to notum transformation" in the *wingless* mutants, because the additional wing structures replace normal notum tissue where they originate with an excess of wing tissue, indicating excess of proliferation as well as cell fate reprograming.

There is one particular "sweet spot" located at the scutellar region – the posterior edge of the notum – that by yet unknown reasons is promiscuous to be the point of origin where Wg signalling can elicit the development of ectopic wings (Figure 18D) (Klein and Arias, 1998). A further confirmation of this spatial restriction comes from the analysis of *osa* mutants. Osa is a member of the Trithorax-Group proteins (TrxG) and integral component of the Brahma complex, a chromatin-remodelling complex homologous to the SWI/SNIF in yeast (Collins et al., 1999; Papoulas et al., 1998; Treisman et al., 1997). Osa-containing Brahma complexes are implicated in both positive and negative transcriptional regulation, and in collaboration with the corepressor Groucho (Gro) repress Wg target genes in the absence of Wg

signalling. (Collins and Treisman, 2000; Treisman et al., 1997). In *osa* mutant animals, the wing imaginal discs often develop ectopic wings emerging from the notum, originating from the same spot in the scutellum that is especially sensitive to ectopic Wg (Figure 18H). Thus, despite that the entire wing primordium is mutant for *osa*, only a subset of cells seem to activate the Wg responsive genes that trigger wing development (Collins and Treisman, 2000).



Figure 18. Ectopic activation of the Wg pathway induces supernumerary wings. Wild type (A-C) and experimental (E-H) third instar wing discs stained for Wg (brown, A. E). Nub (brown, B, F and black, H) and Apterous (blue, C, G). (D) Cartoon of a third instar wing imaginal disc. The wing pouch (W, blue), DV boundary (black line), AP boundary (yellow dashed line) and the presumptive scutellum (red) are indicated. The scutellum itself or a region close to it seems to be the point of origin of the ectopic wing. (E-F) Ectopic Wg expression in a stripe along the AP compartment boundary (E) induces a notum to wing transformation, marked by Nub expression (W, W', F). Nub is also induced along the AP boundary in a wider region due to Wg spreading (arrowhead, F). (G) Expression of Apterous bisects endogenous and supernumerary wing into dorsal (D, D') and ventral compartments (V, V') of inverted polarity. (H) In osa/gro transheterozigous wing primordia, the ectopic wing pouch originates in the same area as in E-G, presumably from the scutellum or a region close to it. (I) Ectopic expression of DWnt4 phenocopies the Wg gain-of-function phenotypes described in E-H. Endogenous wing and notum (black arrowheads, W, N, respectively) and ectopic wing blades (red arrowheads, W'). Adapted from (Collins and Treisman, 2000; Gieseler et al., 2001; Jönsson and Knust, 1996; Ng et al., 1996).

Vn/EGFR promotes notum specification and growth

Vn is a neuregulin-like ligand of the EGF receptor (EGFR) expressed in the proximal territory and is required directly for notum development and indirectly for wing outgrowth (Simcox et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a). The expression of vn is regulated by paracrine and autocrine mechanisms. Induction of vn in the first instar transiently relies on Dpp signalling coming from the peripodial membrane and transmitted across the disc lumen (Figure 19A). During second instar vn expression is maintained in proximal cells by autocrine Vn/EGFR signalling via the ETS transcription factor Pointed-P2 (PntP2), creating a positive feedback loop that sustains vn expression throughout development (Figure 19B) (Golembo et al., 1999; Paul et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2000). Mutations affecting vn or egfr lead to a "notumless" phenotype - the complement to the wingless phenotype - where body wall structures are either absent or reduced (Figure 19C. D). Clones of cells mutant for *eafr* or *ras* have, in general, impaired growth and viability, but are even more hardly recovered in the notum territory, where EGFR function is critical for its development (Diaz-Benjumea and Garcia-Bellido, 1990; Diaz-Benjumea and Hafen, 1994; Prober and Edgar, 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002b). Moreover, overexpression of Vn or Spitz (another EGFR ligand) in a vn mutant background can rescue the notumless phenotype, demonstrating that regardless of the nature of the ligand, a minimal EGFR signal is necessary (Austin et al., 2014; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a). Besides promoting notum development, Vn/EGFR signalling antagonizes wing development, as EGFR overexpression represses the wing specific gene vestigial (vg) and the resulting adult wings are reduced to a stump (Figure 19D). Moreover, local reductions of EGFR signalling in the presumptive body wall territory lead to the generation of ectopic wing structures emerging from the notum (Figure 19E) (Wang et al., 2000).

47



Figure 19. Regulation and function of Vn/EGFR in early wing development. (A) Paracrine Dpp signalling from the peripodial membrane (red) induces *vn* in the first instar (green). (B) After Dpp induction, *pntP2* (orange) mediates autocrine Vn/EGFR signalling to establish a positive feedback loop (green arrows). In second instar (right panel), *pntP2* retracts distally and limits productive autocrine Vn/EGFR signalling to the proximal region. (C) Wild type (left) and *vn* hypomorphic (right) third instar wing primordia labelled in the notum by Tsh (green, N) and in the wing pouch by Nub (red, W). The notum is almost completely lost in the mutant (arrowhead, N) and the wing pouch remains surrounded by a ring of proximal hinge tissue. (D) The notum structures are lost in the adult mutant and only the wings remain. (E) Local reduction of EGFR signalling in the notum generates ectopic wing structures emerging from the notum (red arrowhead, W'). P, proximal; D, distal; DP, disc proper; PE, peripodial epithelium. Adapted from (Austin et al., 2014; Paul et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2000).

Besides its requirement for notum growth, Vn/EGFR signalling instructs proximal cells to acquire the notum fate by inducing the expression of the three genes of the Iroquois complex (Iro-C), namely *araucan*, *caupolican* and *mirror* (*ara*, *caup* and *mirr*, respectively), three clustered homeodomain transcription factors required to specify the notum structures (del Corral et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2000). A similar genomic organization exists in vertebrates for their orthologues (*Irx1-Irx6*), grouped in two clusters of three

genes that probably originated from a duplication of an ancestral threemember cluster (Bosse et al., 2000). The *Iro-C* genes are expressed in a similar. almost overlapping pattern throughout development and confer notum identity to proximal cells that differentiate into the particular cuticle histotypes of this territory (del Corral et al., 1999). Additionally, they provide positional cues for the expression of the achaete-scute (ac-sc) proneural genes that prefigure the positions of each macrochaete, the large bristles of the thorax (Cavodeassi et al., 2001; Gómez-Skarmeta et al., 2003, 1996). There is some degree of redundancy between the *Iro-C* genes as overexpression of one single *Iro-C* gene can rescue defects in imaginal discs associated with the removal of all of them (del Corral et al., 1999). EGFR signalling is persistently required to sustain Iro-C expression, egfr/ras mutant clones autonomously loss Iro-C expression and ectopic EGFR/Ras is sufficient to induce these genes throughout development (Zecca and Struhl, 2002b). Patches of tissue mutant for Iro-C are associated with extensive malformations in the notum and the presence of naked or corrugated cuticle with sclerotized structures characteristic of the hinge. These transformations indicate that in the absence of Iro-C function the fate of these cells changes to wing hinge or impedes their terminal differentiation. Indeed, direct visualization of molecular markers for wing, hinge and notum identity supports this notum to hinge transformation (del Corral et al., 1999). Consistently, ectopic expression of EGFR or its downstream targets ara or caup in distal cells is sufficient to impose notum fate in this territory (Aldaz et al., 2003; Barrios et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2000). However, forced EGFR signalling only partially transforms distal tissue into notum, and the wings, albeit reduced and distorted, are still present. This suggests that Iro-Cdependent notum fate specification may rely on other additional factors that collaborate with EGFR input to sustain appropriate Iro-C levels. Alternatively, asymmetric distribution of EGFR repressors along the PD axis might dampen the capacity of EGFR to specify notum fate in the distal territory. It is also possible that artificially provided levels of EGFR might not be strong enough to achieve the minimal Iro-C threshold that imposes notum identity. Both egfr/ras and Iro-C mutant clones are poorly recovered in the notum and this may reflect either reduced viability and/or different cell assortment that would exclude viable mutant cells from the notum. While the function of EGFR/Ras in promoting survival and growth is well described, Iro-C seems to constrain growth by negatively regulating cell cycle progression in both the eye and wing imaginal discs (Barrios et al., 2015; Bergmann et al., 1998; Kurada and White, 1998; Prober and Edgar, 2000). Both egfr/ras and Iro-C mutant clones - the latest still transduce EGFR signal - have smooth and rounded borders in the notum, suggesting that they tend to minimize contacts with the surrounding wild type cells due to a differential cell-cell affinity. In fact, randomly generated *Iro-C* mutant cells tend to fuse and join together in a single, large clone when recovered in the notum. Similarly, clones ectopically expressing *Iro-C* in the wing pouch try to contact each other and arrange in filaments separating large, roundish islands of nonexpressing cells (Villa-Cuesta et al., 2007). The fact that apposition of Iro-C expressing and non-expressing cells leads to cell sorting and fold formation demonstrates that cell affinity relies on patterning rather than direct signalling of the EGFR pathway. It is likely that growth and patterning downstream of Vn/EGFR are independent functions of the pathway and that EGFR-mediated notum growth is not a subproduct of Iro-C patterning. While EGFR signalling would directly provide proliferation and survival cues, Iro-C would confer cell identities and affinities particular of the notum.

Vn/EGFR regulates the dorsal selector gene apterous

The Vn/EGFR pathway has a dual role early in wing development, it promotes notum fate and suppresses wing development when ectopically expressed

in the distal portion of the wing disc but, paradoxically, also promotes wing formation. The notumless phenotype is characteristic of vn hypomorphs but in null vn alleles and some egfr alleles both the wing and notum fail to develop (Figure 20B) (Clifford and Schupbach, 1989; Simcox et al., 1996). Vn/EGFR is on top of the genetic pathway that subdivides the early wing primordia into the D and V compartments, and therefore establishes the Notch-Wg-Vg DV patterning system responsible for the proximo-distal outgrowth of the wing. EGFR initiates DV boundary formation by inducing the expression of the D selector apterous (ap) in second instar, simultaneously with the specification of the wing by Wg (Figure 20A) (Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a). This positive regulation is transient and only occurs in second instar, once activated, ap expression is refined by an autoregulatory loop and maintained by Trithorax-Group proteins (TrxG) (Bieli et al., 2015). It is proposed that a gradient of Vn ligand generates different concentration thresholds; high levels would induce *Iro-C* and *ap*, while lower levels would only activate ap, thus forming two nested expression domains (Figure 20C) (Wang et al., 2000). Two observations support this proposal. First, the early Ap domain extends more distally than the Iro-C domain, cells far from the source sense lower Vn levels and activate the low-threshold target ap but not Iro-C, which would be a high-threshold target. Second, the serial phenotypes observed in vn or egfr mutants are the expected for a graded mode of action. In hypomorphic vn mutants, the first structure lost is the Iro-C/notum domain, which requires high levels of signalling, but the wings are present because ap and therefore the DV boundary are properly established. In a stronger mutant situation, both the notum and the wing are absent, the latest due to the loss of apterous - a putative low-threshold target - and subsequent failure to initiate DV boundary organizing activities which are responsible for distal wing outgrowth.



Figure 20. Early EGFR signalling regulates *apterous* **expression.** (A) Wild type third instar wing primordia from second, early third and late third instar labelled for Apterous (Ap, green) in the dorsal compartment and Wg (red). (B) In null *vein* mutants, the body wall and the wings are missing (arrowhead) due to the loss of *ap* and therefore the DV patterning system. (C) Model of ap regulation by EGFR. In second instar (left, L2), EGFR induces Iro-C and *apterous* at high and low concentration thresholds, respectively. As development proceeds, the expression of *ap* does no longer depend on EGFR input. In third instar (right, L3) the Iro-C and *ap* form two nested domains. Adapted from (Austin et al., 2014; Bieli et al., 2015; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a).

Notch signalling coordinates tissue growth and wing fate specification

Tissue growth and patterning have to be tightly coupled to generate a correctly sized and shaped structure (Dekanty and Milán, 2011; Lecuit and Le Goff, 2007). Notch activity was proposed to have a role in wing fate specification because some Notch mutant alleles result in phenotypes reminiscent of the loss of Wg signalling during second instar, the failure to induce wing fate and concomitant duplication of body wall structures (Couso

and Arias, 1994). This question was revisited later and confirmed previous observations by tissue specific targeting of Notch function during second instar (Figure 21A-D) (Rafel and Milán, 2008). Although Notch is required for proper wing fate specification, it neither does so cell autonomously nor behaves as a Wg-like molecule since Nub – a Wg target gene in second instar – is unaffected when Notch activity is blocked in a subset of wing disc cells (Figure 21E). Moreover, compromising Notch function does not influence the initial localization of Vn and Wg in opposite domains. Thus, Notch does not regulate Wg expression in the distal-anterior edge in second instar, nor collaborates with Wg in restricting Vn to the most proximal region of the primordium. However, Notch is likely genetically upstream of Wg, as increasing Wg levels rescues the notum duplications produced by loss of Notch. Consistently, Notch overexpression does not rescue the Wg mutant phenotype, indicating that Wg is a downstream component in the developmental pathway that determines the wing field. Notch is thought to promote growth in the early wing imaginal disc (de Celis and García-Bellido, 1994) and growth induced by Notch is required for specification of the eye within the *Drosophila* eye-antenna primordium (Kenyon et al., 2003). Interestingly, second instar wing discs are significantly smaller when Notch signalling is compromised. In this context, overexpression of a collection of cell cycle regulators and growth promoters rescues the undergrowth as well as Nub expression and wing fate specification (Figure 21F). Conversely, the solely overexpression of growth inhibitors such as PTEN or Hippo is sufficient to suppress wing development and generate notum duplications (Figure 21G) (Rafel and Milán, 2008). It is important to notice that the early function of Notch promoting growth and wing specification takes place long before the requirement of Notch to establish the DV organizer.



Figure 21. Notch signalling coordinates tissue growth and wing fate specification. (A, B) Wild type third instar wing primordia (A) and adult wing (B) labelled for Hth, Tsh (cyan) and Wg, Nub (red) that mark the body wall (N) and wing (W), respectively. (C, D) In a Notch loss-of-function situation (LOF) the wing is not specified and body wall structures are duplicated (N' in C and arrowheads in D). The wing marker Nub is absent (red, left panel, C) and Hth, Tsh and Wg form a symmetric duplication of the endogenous body wall. (E) Blocking Notch activity in a subset of cells (green) does not modify Nub levels (red) whereas inhibition of Wg signalling in the same domain autonomously downregulates Nub protein levels. (F, F') CycE overexpression rescues wing fate specification upon Notch loss-of-function. Nub expression (red, F) is restored as well as adult wing formation (F'). (G) Overexpression of the growth suppressor Hippo phenocopies the notum duplications observed in Notch loss-of-function experiments. Adapted from (Rafel and Milán, 2008).

In the current model, the expression of Vn and Wg in opposite domains of the early wing disc instruct cells to acquire the proximal notum fate and distal wing fate, respectively. Wg restricts Vn to the proximal part, whereas Vn blocks the responsiveness of body wall cells to Wg (Ng et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000). Thus, the relative concentration of Wg and Vn experienced by disc cells directs their wing versus body wall fate. Importantly, expression of these two ligands is established long before the wing field is specified in the primordium, shown by the retraction of Tsh that precedes Nub activation (Wu and Cohen, 2002). It is proposed that tissue growth acts as a "clock" and modulates the time and signalling levels that every cell is exposed to the instructive functions of Vn and Wg. In the early wing disc, Vn may reach

every cell and make them "blind" to Wg signalling, thereby blocking wing fate specification (Figure 22A). If the tissue does not grow enough during second instar, distal cells continuously transduce the Vn/EGFR pathway and wing specification is suppressed. Only when Notch-mediated growth pulls the sources of Wg and Vn apart, distal cells may not sense sufficient levels of Vn, allowing Wg to trigger wing development (Figure 22B, C) (Rafel and Milán, 2008). Thus, in highly proliferative tissues like imaginal discs, tissue growth may increase the distance from the source of morphogens and modulates the range of activity of these signalling molecules. In cellular terms, this is translated into the signal duration and intensity experienced by cells as well as to the amount of cells sensing a particular combination of patterning cues in a developmental field. This is one of the examples in which growth acts upstream of patterning. This elegant manner to couple tissue growth and patterning also operates in the eye-head imaginal primordium of Drosophila. In this developmental context, specification of eye and head structures also depends on the antagonistic activities of two morphogens expressed at opposite sides of the tissue. Dpp determines the eye field and Wg the head structures. It is proposed that tissue growth pulls the sources of these two morphogens apart and ensures the response of cells to the eyeinducing activity of Dpp (Kenyon et al., 2003). Insects have recurrently lost and recovered wings during the course of evolution suggesting that wing developmental pathways are conserved in wingless insects (Whiting et al., 2003). It is speculated that if the developmental potential to generate a wing is maintained, adaptive changes in animal or organ size might drive some of these reversible evolutionary transitions simply by modulating the cellular response to morphogens (Dekanty and Milán, 2011; Rafel and Milán, 2008).



Figure 22. Coupling growth and wing fate specification. (A-C) Cartoon depicting the subdivision of the wing imaginal disc into wing (W, red) and body wall (N, blue) territories by Vn and Wg signalling molecules (blue and pink, respectively). Distally expressed Wg induces wing fate, whereas proximally expressed Vn blocks Wg responsiveness. Wg restricts Vn to the proximal region. (A) In early second instar (early L2) Vn diffuses and reaches every wing cell. Distal cells are not able to respond to Wg and do not acquire wing fate (pink cells, white nucleus). (B) Growth of the tissue promoted by Notch pulls the sources of Wg and Vn apart. Now, some distal cells do not sense sufficient levels of Vn and therefore Wg induces wing fate (pink cells, red nuclei) in mid second instar (mid L2). (C) The number of cells out of the range of Vn increases as the tissue expands and Wg induces wing fate in more cells. N, notum; W, wing. Adapted from (Rafel and Milán, 2008).

JAK/STAT signalling pathway

The JAK/STAT core signalling cascade

The JAK (Janus Kinase)/STAT (Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription) signalling pathway is highly conserved from flies to humans and plays important and diverse roles in several biological processes relevant to development and disease. Despite the same signal transduction mechanism between vertebrates and flies, Drosophila has the advantage of fewer family members for each component of the pathway. The Unpaired cytokines are Interleukin-6 (IL-6)-like secreted proteins produced and released from a localized source that spread along the tissue to activate the JAK/STAT signalling cascade. The Drosophila genome encodes for three IL-6-like cytokines, Unpaired (Upd) – also called Outstretched (Os) – Upd2 and Upd3 (Agaisse et al., 2003; Gilbert et al., 2005; Harrison et al., 1998; Hombría et al., 2005). The binding of the extracellular ligand to the single transmembrane gp130-like receptor Domeless (Dome) (Brown et al., 2001) results in the activation of the only Drosophila receptor-associated JAK, Hopscotch (Hop) (Binari and Perrimon, 1994), which is most similar to the mammalian JAK2. The JAK tyrosine kinase then phosphorylates itself and the associated Dome receptor generating docking sites for the SH2 domains of the transcription factor STAT92E (Hou et al., 1996; Yan et al., 1996a), the single *Drosophila stat* gene, homologous to the mammalian STATs 3 and 5. STAT when phosphorylated forms dimers, which are stabilized by the interaction between the SH2 domain of one molecule and phospho-Tyr of the other molecule, and translocate to the nucleus to activate transcription of its target genes (Figure 23).



Figure 23. Canonical JAK/STAT signalling. Schematic representation of the JAK/STAT signalling pathway in *Drosophila*. Upon binding of the ligand Unpaired to the Domeless receptor, JAK phosphorylates itself and the Domeless receptor creating docking sites to STAT. The cytoplasmic unphosphorylated STAT is then phosphorylated and translocate into the nucleus where it dimerises to activate transcription of target genes. Names of the *Drosophila* homologs are in parentheses. Adapted from (Li, 2008).

Although dimerization of STATs via an N-terminal domain interaction can occur without pathway stimulation, only complexes activated by phosphorylation appear to induce target gene expression (Braunstein et al., 2003). Before the recruitment to the receptor/JAK complex, STATs are normally in the cytoplasm as inactive monomers. However, it was also shown that STATs are constitutively shuttling between the cytoplasm and nucleus before being retained in the nucleus after activation (Vinkemeier, 2004). In fact, studies in *Drosophila* have demonstrated a non-canonical mode of JAK/STAT signalling (Shi et al., 2006, 2008). In the non-canonical mode of signalling, a pool of unphosphorylated-STAT is localized in the nucleus on heterochromatin in association with HP1. This association is essential for maintaining HP1 localization and heterochromatin stability (Shi et al., 2008). Activation of STAT by phosphorylation causes STAT dispersal from heterochromatin, which in turn leads to HP1 displacement and heterochromatin destabilization. This disruption allows derepression of genes that are not direct targets of STAT (Shi et al., 2006).

Several STAT92E target genes have been identified. Briefly, they include the Suppressor of Cytokine Signalling 36E (SOCS36E), which encodes a negative regulator of the pathway (Callus and Mathey-Prevot, 2002). *Socs36E* introns contain multiple high affinity STAT binding sites (Karsten et al., 2002). In some contexts, the receptor Dome is subject to a positive feedback since expression of *dome* is upregulated by STAT92E activation (Bach et al., 2003; Flaherty et al., 2009).

While *Drosophila* has a single *jak* and a single *stat* gene, in mammals the signalling cascade is much more complex. It comprises a wide and diverse range of extracellular ligands and receptors, four JAKs and seven STATs genes (Kisseleva et al., 2002). Therefore, the lack of redundancy in *Drosophila* makes it an excellent model for studying this signalling pathway.

JAK/STAT regulators

While the activation of JAK/STAT signalling pathway in mammals is triggered by a wide range of interleukins, interferons and growth factors, the characterisation of *upd* mutations in *Drosophila* suggest that the canonical requirements for JAK/STAT activity are likely to be mediated exclusively by the three Upd ligands (Agaisse et al., 2003; Gilbert et al., 2005; Harrison et al., 1998; Hombría et al., 2005). The *Drosophila* homologue of human BRWD3 is a large WD40- and bromo-domain-containing protein and was identified as a positive modulator of JAK/STAT signalling. It was found to strongly suppress the transcription of STAT92E-dependent reporters in cell culture (Müller et al., 2005). Moreover, mutations in BRWD3 decrease the frequency of the melanotic tumour phenotype associated with a *hop* gain-offunction mutation (Müller et al., 2005).

Some negative regulators of the JAK/STAT pathway have been identified. The Suppressor of Cytokine Signalling (SOCS), originally identified in vertebrates, are the best known suppressors of JAK/STAT signalling. In Drosophila, three members of the SOCS family of proteins were shown to act as negative modulators of the JAK/STAT pathway (Stec and Zeidler, 2011). Among them, SOCS36E is part of a feedback loop since it not only acts an inhibitor of JAK/STAT signalling but it is also a target of STAT92E (Callus and Mathey-Prevot, 2002). The Protein Inhibitors of Activated STAT (PIAS) family represent another group of JAK/STAT suppressors that bind STATs and target them for degradation (Wormald and Hilton, 2004). A single Drosophila PIAS-like protein, ZIMP, has been shown to physically interact with STAT92E and to supress the formation of haematopoietic tumours caused by ectopic activation of the pathway (Betz et al., 2001). Phosphatase activity is likely to account for an important regulatory mechanism of JAK/STAT activity. In fact, the tyrosine phosphatase Ptp61F was identified as a suppressor of STAT92E-dependent transcription (Baeg et al., 2005; Müller et al., 2005). However, the exact mechanism by which PTP61F can modulate JAK/STAT signalling is not entirely clear. Ken & Barbie (KEN), that belongs to the family of BTB/POZ domain-containing transcriptional repressors, is a selective negative regulator of STAT92E activity. While in vitro experiments show that KEN recognises a DNA sequence that partially overlaps the one of STAT92E. tissue culture assays indicate that it specifically downregulates JAK/STAT activity reporters containing the consensus KEN DNA-binding site (Arbouzova and Zeidler, 2006). In vivo, KEN can only downregulate a subset of STAT92E target genes (Arbouzova and Zeidler, 2006). Moreover, its human homologue BCL6 has also been shown to repress STAT6-dependent transcription in cell culture (Harris et al., 1999). The *eye transformer* (*et*) also called *latran* (*lat*) encodes a transmembrane protein found to physically interact and form heterodimers with Dome and antagonize JAK/STAT signalling probably because its short intracellular domain lacks a JAK/Hop binding motif. *In vivo* studies show that the eye overgrowth phenotype caused by excessive JAK activation was enhanced by downregulation of Et/Lat (Kallio et al., 2010) and that Et/Lat is required for JAK/STAT downregulation in hemocytes precursors (Makki et al., 2010).

Functions of JAK/STAT

Not only JAK/STAT structural components have been conserved during evolution, but there is also substantial conservation of JAK/STAT function between human and *Drosophila* systems, despite lower redundancy compared to the mammalian system. Although the JAK/STAT pathway was originally discovered as a cytokine-induced signalling cascade required for immune functions, decades of research in *Drosophila* has implicated JAK/STAT signalling in several biological processes in embryonic, larval and adult stages.

The first clues about JAK/STAT function in flies came from the identification of Hop as a maternally supplied protein required for patterning of the embryonic cuticle and proliferation of imaginal cells (Binari and Perrimon, 1994; Perrimon and Mahowald, 1986). Likewise, mutations in *upd*, *dome* and *stat92E* consistently show defects in morphogenetic segmentation of the embryo (Brown et al., 2001; Wieschaus et al., 1984; Yan et al., 1996a). Null mutations of *upd* show segmentation phenotypes less severe than those of mutants for the more downstream components of the pathway, indicating that other ligands might partly compensate for the loss of *upd* (Hombría et al., 2005). Evidence for the molecular mechanisms underlying the role of
JAK/STAT signalling in embryonic segmentation came from the identification of STAT92E binding sites present in the promoter of the pair-rule gene *evenskipped* (*eve*) (Yan et al., 1996a), showing the requirement of JAK/STAT signalling as a transcriptional regulator of patterning genes. However, the role of JAK/STAT signalling in embryonic development is extended beyond its role in segmentation. JAK/STAT was also implicated in sex determination. It reinforces the mechanism by which the information about sex chromosome content is translated into the activation of male or female genetic program, through the regulation of *Sex lethal* (Sxl) (Avila and Erickson, 2007; Sefton et al., 2000). Moreover, in late embryogenesis, JAK/STAT also plays an important role in male germ line sexual development (Wawersik et al., 2005) (Wawersik et al., 2005). Among others, JAK/STAT has also been involved in the embryonic development of the tracheal system, in the process of gut elongation as well as in the formation of the spiracles (Hombría and Sotillos, 2013).

JAK/STAT as a modulator of cell proliferation

Several evidences indicate that JAK/STAT signalling is a wide regulator of cellular proliferation, a process that is essential to many aspects of normal development and disease.

Analysis of loss-of-function mutations indicate that JAK/STAT is required for normal proliferation of imaginal cells. While loss of *hop* leads to small imaginal discs (Mukherjee et al., 2005; Perrimon and Mahowald, 1986), several hypomorphic *upd* alleles display small eye phenotypes (Bach et al., 2003; Tsai and Sun, 2004). Conversely, ectopic expression of Upd in the eye enhances proliferation resulting in enlarged and overgrown adult structures, phenotype shown to be sensitive to the dose of the downstream elements of the pathway (Bach et al., 2003; Mukherjee et al., 2005; Tsai and Sun, 2004). Consistent with this pro-proliferative function, JAK/STAT also regulates the competitive status of proliferating cells in the eye and wing imaginal discs. Cells lacking *stat92E* are eliminated from the epithelium through cell competition (Rodrigues et al., 2012), a process by which slow-dividing cells (so called losers) are detected and removed through apoptosis by fast growing cells (so called winners) (Morata and Ripoll, 1975). Furthermore, cells with hyperactivated STAT92E become winners and manifest supercompetitor features such as their trigger the non-autonomous induction of apoptosis in the surrounding wild type cells and their subsequent elimination (Rodrigues et al., 2012). The competitive capacity of JAK/STAT is dependent on the pro-apoptotic gene *hid*, but independent of dMyc, Yorkie (Yki), Wg signalling and ribosome biogenesis (Rodrigues et al., 2012).

Insights into the role of JAK/STAT signalling in *Drosophila* blood cells development, called hemocytes, have proven to be important in the understanding of mechanisms relevant to human disease. Gain-of-function mutations of Hop result in the overproliferation of hemocytes within the developing larva and their premature differentiation causing the formation of large melanotic tumour cell masses (Hanratty and Dearolf, 1993; Harrison et al., 1995; Luo et al., 1995, 1997). In fact, these tumours have invasive potential since transplantation of the hematopoietic organ of flies carrying the gain-of-function mutation of Hop into a wild type host produces the appearance of melanotic masses in the host (Hanratty and Ryerse, 1981). Interestingly, constitutive activation of several STATs has been observed in multiple human cancers, including blood malignancies (Calò et al., 2003).

JAK/STAT signalling has also an essential role in stem cell maintenance and proliferation within the gonads of both sexes. It has been proposed that the Upd ligand, expressed by a small group of somatic cells, sustains stem cell state and/or proliferation of adjacent germline stem cells (GSCs). As these

63

cells divide, the more distal daughter cell is further away from the source of the ligand and it starts to differentiate since is no longer exposed to sufficiently high levels of Upd necessary for pathway stimulation. Consistently, hop and stat92E mutant testes prematurely lose their GSCs during larval development (Kiger et al., 2001; Tulina and Matunis, 2001), while ectopic expression of upd results in the expansion of GSCs at the expense of differentiated cells (Kiger et al., 2001; Tulina and Matunis, 2001). So, JAK/STAT appears to have a pro-proliferative function in several different contexts in normal development. Not only activation of the pathway appears to be necessary to modulate proliferation but it is also sufficient to drive proliferation in multiple tissues. However, the mechanisms by which JAK/STAT regulate cell proliferation remain poorly understood. In humans, STAT activates cyclin D1, which encodes a regulatory subunit of the CYCD/CDK4 complex that promotes G1/S transition, and *c-myc*, which functions as a transcriptional regulator of cell cycle progression. Moreover, activation of both genes by JAK/STAT account for the proliferative effect of the pathway (Bowman et al., 2000; Calò et al., 2003). In Drosophila, STAT92E has been reported to interact with CYCD/CDK4 and CYCE/CDK2 complexes (Chen et al., 2003). Moreover, activation of the JAK/STAT pathway induces upregulation of cycD in the eye imaginal disc (Tsai and Sun, 2004) and increases CycB levels in wing imaginal disc cells (Mukherjee et al., 2005). However, these observations do not explain the mechanism by which JAK/STAT controls proliferation. Loss of a single copy of cycD does not reduce the eye overgrowth phenotype caused by ectopic activation of the JAK/STAT pathway (Mukherjee et al., 2006), and whether CycB regulation by JAK/STAT contributes to its role in proliferation has not been addressed. In addition, activation of JAK/STAT in wing imaginal cells does not increase dMyc protein levels (Rodrigues et al., 2012). In this sense, although some links between JAK/STAT pathway and cell cycle have been reported, the exact mechanisms by which JAK/STAT controls proliferation remain to be elucidated.

JAK/STAT was also demonstrated to function as a pro-survival factor in response to tissue stress (Betz et al., 2008; La Fortezza et al., 2016; Verghese and Su, 2016). High JAK/STAT activity can protect cells from radiation-induced apoptosis (Betz et al., 2008; Verghese and Su, 2016). STAT92E, when activated directly increases expression of the *Drosophila* inhibitor of apoptosis (Diap1) through binding to two STAT92E binding sites in the *diap1* promoter (Betz et al., 2008). Activation of *upd* transcription and JAK/STAT signalling upon tissue damage has been associated to compensatory proliferation and regeneration in imaginal discs and adult guts (Jiang et al., 2009; Katsuyama et al., 2015; Santabárbara-Ruiz et al., 2015).

JAK/STAT signalling in Drosophila appendage development

Several evidences implicate the JAK/STAT signalling pathway in the development of *Drosophila* appendages, such as the eye, leg, antenna and wing primordia. Besides the role of JAK/STAT in controlling proliferation in the eye imaginal disc it was also shown to control early eye patterning by regulating regional specification of the eye primordium. Unpaired is expressed in the ventral eye primordium at the first larval instar stage and activation of the pathway represses *wingless* expression (Ekas et al., 2006). As a result, the Iroquois-complex genes are only activated by Wg in dorsal cells. The dorsal-ventral subdivision induces the activation of a Notch organizer along the equator of the eye primordium, which is responsible for growth of the eye disc. JAK/STAT was shown to control proliferation of the eye primordium downstream of the Notch organizer. Upon ectopic expression of *upd*, the derepression of Wg creates a second organizer in the

dorsal half of the eye (Gutierrez-Aviño et al., 2009). In fact, ectopic activation of JAK-STAT is unable to restore eye size when Notch signalling is attenuated (Gutierrez-Aviño et al., 2009). Later in development, *upd* expression becomes restricted to the most posterior edge of the eye, the so called firing point as it is the point from where the eye morphogenetic furrow begins its anterior differentiation wave-like movement. The retraction of *upd* expression is mediated by Notch-induced activation of Eyegone (Eyg) (Chao et al., 2004). Several experiments indicate that Upd diffusion from the firing point is required for *wg* repression and proper progression of the morphogenetic furrow in the dorsal eye. *Stat93E* mutant clones show ectopic *wg* expression and impede the progression of the furrow, while ectopic Upd represses *wg* and induces precocious furrow initiation that is prevented by co-expressing Wg (Ekas et al., 2006; Tsai et al., 2007). Thus, the main JAK/STAT pathway function in eye development is to regulate Wg.

JAK/STAT plays a similar role in the proximo-distal patterning of both antenna and leg imaginal discs. Wg and Dpp are expressed in opposing domains of the antenna and leg discs and interactions between these two signalling pathways creates a proximo-distal (PD) axis by activation of Distalless (DII) in the centre of the disc. Udp is expressed in a pattern complementary to that of Wg and Dpp and it restricts Wg and Dpp expression to their corresponding domains to guarantee the formation of a single PD axis. Ectopic expression of Upd results in *wg* and *dpp* repression, while *stat93E* mutant clones show ectopic expression of *wg* and induce the duplication of leg and antenna structures by creating a secondary PD axis (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2007). Besides, Wg and Dpp reciprocally restrict *upd* expression (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2007) revealing that the reciprocal interaction between these three signalling pathways is important for patterning of the antenna and leg imaginal discs.

Evidence for a role of JAK/STAT in wing development comes from the original observation of the adult outstretched wing phenotype produced by the regulatory allele os¹ (Muller, 1930) which was later attributed to the late role of JAK/STAT in hinge development (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013). In the embryo, the wing disc primordium expresses low levels of upd mostly restricted to the anterior domain and little or no activation of the pathway is detected at this time (Rodrigues et al., 2012). Later in development, in second instar stage, upd is widely expressed throughout the wing primordium with a corresponding global activation of the pathway (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Hatini et al., 2013; Rodrigues et al., 2012) where it was suggested to inhibit the induction of ectopic wing fields (Hatini et al., 2013). At the beginning of the third instar larval stage activity of JAK/STAT becomes restricted to the hinge region. The downregulation from the wing pouch and notum coincides with the activation of Nub and Eyg in these regions, respectively, suggesting a causal relationship. In fact, Nub represses JAK/STAT activity and upd expression, as both gain- and loss-of-function of Nub modulates expression of both upd and a STAT92E activity reporter (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). The retraction of JAK/STAT activity from the pouch and notum contribute to the proportional proximo-distal subdivision and expansion of the pouch and notum regions as well as for medial-lateral patterning of the notum (Hatini et al., 2013). This is mediated by restricting the scope of Odd-skipped (Odd) function in the notum, which is required for notum AP axis organization, and by antagonizing Dpp function in the patterning of the medial-lateral axis of the notum (Hatini et al., 2013). Moreover, the retraction of JAK/STAT activity from

the pouch and notum suggests that Upd might be deleterious to wing blade and notum development. Indeed, Upd misexpression in the entire wing primordium causes aberrant development of the wing disc (Hatini et al., 2013). In addition, ectopic expression of Upd within the presumptive wing blade causes small adult wings (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). Characterisation of the *outstretched* alleles of the *unpaired* locus demonstrated a role of JAK/STAT signalling in wing hinge development during late larval stages. Late expression of upd becomes restricted to a characteristic five-dot pattern and activity of pathway is confined to the wing hinge (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013). The defects in wing posture of os¹ alleles arise from the lose of Unpaired expression in the proximal hinge region which results in decreased JAK/STAT activity (Johnstone et al., 2013). In fact, reduction in JAK/STAT activity within the proximal region results in abnormal hinge folds and phenocopies the held out wing defect associated with classical os alleles (Johnstone et al., 2013). Hinge cells lacking stat92E have significantly reduced proliferation suggesting that Upd acts as a growth factor in these cells. Stat92E mutant clones cell autonomously downregulate hinge-specific factors, such as dachsous (ds), Muscle segment homeodomain (Msh) and Zfh2, which are consistently upregulated upon ectopic STAT92E activity (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). Increased STAT92E activity also cell autonomously represses the Iro-C protein Araucan (Ara) (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). Some insights about the upstream regulation of JAK/STAT signalling come from the evidence that hth mutant clones show loss of STAT92E activity and Hthoverexpressing cells can induce ectopic activity of the pathway in the pouch and notum regions (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013) The wing marker Nub represses STAT92E activity and upd production (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013) which is consistent with the observation that developmentally regulated retraction of *upd* expression coincides with the induction of Nub.

In addition, Wg was also demonstrated to be upstream of STAT92E in the hinge, since absence of Wg signalling leads to loss of JAK/STAT activity (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). Therefore, JAK/STAT signalling is critical for hinge fate specification and growth during wing imaginal disc development, a region that articulates the proper wing with the thorax of the adult fly.

Although the JAK/STAT pathway plays important developmental roles in patterning and growth of *Drosophila* appendages, no developmental role of the conserved JAK/STAT signalling cascade has been described so far in vertebrate limbs.

Project and objectives

A discrete number of signalling pathways and morphogens of the Wnt/Wg, Shh/Hh and BMP/Dpp families regulate tissue growth and pattern formation in vertebrate and invertebrate limbs. The general aim of this thesis was to analyse the roles of the JAK/STAT signalling pathway in the development of wing imaginal disc. The objectives of this thesis can be subdivided as follows:

- Analyse the effect of loss- and gain-of-function of JAK/STAT signalling in the wing imaginal disc during early and late developmental stages.
- Characterize the relationship of the JAK/STAT pathway with other signalling pathways involved in wing imaginal disc growth and patterning.
- Identification of the molecular mechanisms underlying the function of JAK/STAT in wing development.

Results

JAK/STAT in the proximo-distal patterning of the wing

Early expression and activity of JAK/STAT signalling

Early in development, in second instar wing discs, localized expression of Wingless (Wg) and the EGFR ligand Vein (Vn) in opposing domains subdivides the wing primordium into the presumptive wing field and body wall (or notum) regions, respectively [Figure 24, (Ng et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000)].



Figure 24. Segregation of wing and notum developmental fields. (A) Expression of *vn* transcript (cyan) and Wg protein (red) in mid-second instar wing primordia. (B) Simplified cartoon depicting the expression and the antagonistic functions between Vn/EGFR and Wg in second instar and the corresponding adult structures they induce. Scale bar, 20µm.

We monitored at this developmental stage the expression of the Unpaired 1 ligand (Upd) using the Gal4/UAS binary expression system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993) and by *in situ* hybridization with an antisense RNA probe complementary to the *upd* mRNA. The *upd-gal4* driver is a P-element transposon insertion in the *upd* locus that carries the Gal4 transcriptional activator and behaves as an enhancer trap, recapitulating the endogenous expression pattern of the *upd* gene (Tsai and Sun, 2004). *upd* expression can be therefore visualized when the *upd-gal4* fly strain is coupled with a *UAS-GFP* transgene, resulting in Gal4-driven GFP expression in the *upd*

expressing territories. We also monitored the activity of the pathway using the well-characterized *10xSTAT-GFP* reporter. This reporter was designed from the *Socs36E* gene, a target of JAK/STAT that functions in a negative feedback loop to attenuate signalling (Callus and Mathey-Prevot, 2002; Karsten et al., 2002). The *10xSTAT-GFP* construct contains five tandem repeats of a 441 bp fragment from the first intron of *Socs36E*, each containing at least two potential binding sites for STAT92E, that drive the expression of GFP upon pathway activation (Bach et al., 2007).

We found that the expression of upd was restricted to the most distal domain of the wing disc, in a broader domain than Wg (Figure 25B). We confirmed the expression of *upd* to the distal domain of second instar wing discs by *in* situ hybridization, validating the use of the upd-gal4 driver as a faithful tool to monitor upd expression (Figure 25A). Expression of upd is dynamic and evolves during development, once the wing has been specified during second instar, upd retracts from the distal domain and starts to accumulate in a ring-like domain foreshadowing the presumptive wing hinge. As development proceeds during third instar, upd expression progressively resolves into its characteristic five-spot patern in the hinge - a region that connects the developing wing to the surrounding body wall - and the ventral pleura, which forms the lateral plate of the thorax. (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Hatini et al., 2013; Mukherjee et al., 2005; Rodrigues et al., 2012). Activation of the pathway during second instar was observed throughout the wing disc, although GFP levels were clearly lower in the most proximal region of the wing primordium (Figure 25C).



Figure 25. Expression and activity of JAK/STAT signalling components in second instar. (A-C) Wing primordia of second instar larvae labeled to visualize expression of *unpaired (upd,* purple, A, by ISH; green or white, B, in *upd-gal4, UAS-myrGFP* larvae), Wingless protein (Wg, red or white, B, C), the activity of the JAK/STAT pathway (green or white, C, in *10xSTAT-GFP* larvae), and DAPI (blue, B, C). A white line marks the contour of the discs. Scale bars, 20 µm.

JAK/STAT is required for the wing versus notum subdivision

We next analysed the potential developmental role of the JAK/STAT pathway at this stage of wing development. For this purpose, we used a collection of RNAi forms against the Domeless receptor, the JAK kinase Hop and the STAT92E transcription factor. We drove the expression of these RNAi transgenes with the scalloped-gal4 (sd-gal4) driver, which is expressed at high levels in the whole wing primordium at this developmental stage (Rafel and Milán, 2008). Remarkably, the resulting adult wings were either vestigial or absent, and body wall structures were often duplicated (Figure 26A, B). This phenotype is reminiscent of the wgmutant adult phenotype (Morata and Lawrence, 1977; Sharma and Chopra, 1976). In the developing wing imaginal disc, expression of the homeodomain protein Homothorax (Hth) is restricted to the presumptive hinge and body wall (Azpiazu and Morata, 2000; Casares and Mann, 2000), while the POU homeodomain protein Nubbin (Nub) is expressed in the presumptive wing territory and the distal part of the hinge (Ng et al., 1995, 1996). Wg is expressed in the body wall, hinge and wing pouch territories of late third instar discs in a characteristic

pattern (Figure 26C). In the hinge, two rings of Wg, the inner and the outer ring (IR and OR respectively) encircle the wing pouch, which is bisected into dorsal (D) and ventral (V) compartments by a stripe of Wg expression (Neumann and Cohen, 1996, 1997). In the notum, Wg runs in a stripe from the anterior (A) to the posterior (P) notum and approximately marks the border between the lateral and medial notum territories (Calleja et al., 2000). We then analysed and compared the expression of these molecular markers in mature wing discs in which the JAK/STAT pathway had been compromised. Consistent with the adult phenotypes, Nub was absent or residual in a small group of cells, and the characteristic expression pattern of Hth and Wg in the notum showed a mirror-image duplication (Figure 26D, E). These results indicate that JAK/STAT is required for proper wing fate specification.



Figure 26. Failure to specify wing fate in the absence of JAK/STAT. (A, B) Adult thoraxes and mature wing primordia (C-E) of *wild type* male individuals (A, C) or male individuals expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *sd-gal4* driver (B, D, E). Wing primordia were stained for Wingless (Wg, red, C-E), Nubbin (Nub, blue, C-E) and Homothorax (Hth, green or white, C-E). Wing territory (W), endogenous nota (N) and duplicated nota territories (N') are marked. Red arrows in B point to the duplicated nota (N'). Adult thoraxes are illustrative examples of complete or partial duplications of the notum structures. Scale bars, 50 µm.

JAK/STAT restricts the notum fate and ensures wing fate specification

To understand the mechanism by which JAK/STAT ensures proper wing versus notum specification we hypothesised that JAK/STAT might control the expression or activity of Wg, or it might collaborate with the Wg pathway during wing fate specification. Alternatively, JAK/STAT might repress the Vn/EGFR pathway or its target genes, acting as a brake, to restrict the notum fate to the most proximal territories of the early wing primordium and thus allowing Wg-mediated appendage specification. We therefore checked the expression and activity of Wg and Vn/EGFR in JAK/STAT-depleted wing discs. As was previously shown, blocking the response to Wg by overexpression of Shaggy/GSK3 – an antagonist of the Wg pathway – in a stripe along the AP compartment boundary caused a cell-autonomous loss of Nub [Figure 27A, (Rafel and Milán, 2008)]. In contrast, blocking JAK/STAT activity in the same domain did not have this effect (Figure 23B). Moreover, the early expression of Wg was not affected upon depletion of the JAK/STAT pathway (Figure 27B). Overall, these observations indicate that this pathway does not have an active role in inducing wing fate or in regulating Wg expression and activity, and therefore JAK/STAT does not behave as a Wingless-like molecule.



Figure 27. JAK/STAT does not regulate wing fate cell-autonomously. (**A**, **B**) Wing primordia from late third instar larvae expressing *shaggy* (*sgg*, **A**) or *dome*^{*RNAi*}(**B**) under the control of the *ptc-gal4* driver and labeled to visualized Nub protein (red or white) and GFP (green). Note that Nub is cell-autonomously downregulated in the *ptc-gal4* expressing domain (green, **A**). Scale bars, 50 µm.

The Drosophila Iroquois complex (Iro-C) consists of three genes encoding for homeobox transcription factors, namely Araucan, Caupolican and Mirror, which are expressed in the most proximal region of the wing primordium by the activity of the Vn/EGFR pathway (Figure 28A, C) and are required to specify notum structures [(del Corral et al., 1999; Simcox et al., 1996), see Introduction]. Recent experimental evidence has revealed a late role of the JAK/STAT pathway in repressing these genes in the hinge of mature wing primordia (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Hatini et al., 2013). We therefore analysed whether JAK/STAT has an earlier and more extensive role in restricting the expression of Vn/EGFR targets such as the *Iro-C* genes and apterous, a gene encoding for a LIM-homeodomain transcription factor that specifies the dorsal (D) compartment (Diaz-Benjumea and Cohen, 1993). We monitored the expression of *mirror* using the transcriptional reporter mirror-lacZ, a target of EGFR in the notum throughout development that serves both as a marker for notum identity as well as a readout of EGFR signalling in the presumptive body wall. We noted that *mirror* expression was expanded distally in JAK/STAT-depleted second instar wing primordia (Figure 28A, B) as well as in the resulting mature third instar wing discs, where the expansion of mirror was even more evident (Figure 28C-E).



Figure 28. JAK/STAT restricts the expression of the EGFR target mirror to the body wall. (A-E) Wing primordia from *wild type* larvae (A, C) or from larvae expressing *dome*^{*RNAi*} under the control of the *sd-gal4* driver (B, D, E) labeled to visualize *mirror* (*mirr-lacZ*, antibody to β -gal, green or white) and Wg protein (red) in second (A, B) and late third instar stages (C-E). Wing territories (W), endogenous nota (N), and duplicated nota territories (N') are marked in C-E. Scale bars, 20 µm (A, B) or 50 µm (C-E).

We then monitored the expression of *apterous* using the transcriptional reporter *apterous-lacZ. apterous* expression transiently relies on EGFR signalling during second instar and later is maintained by an autoregulatory loop (Bieli et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002b). In *dome*^{RNAI}-expressing third instar wing primordia, *apterous* expression was also expanded distally (Figure 29G-I), which is consistent with the duplicated nota observed in the adults, since the notum is mostly a dorsal derivative. The expansion in the expression domains of *mirror* and *apterous* was not always accompanied by the loss of the presumptive wing field (Figure 28D and 29H). In those cases where the notum duplication was partial, the remaining wing was very small and displaced ventrally, as well as apposed directly to the surrounding body wall due to the loss of the intervening hinge population (Figure 26E and28D). In the total duplications, almost the entire wing primordia expressed the notum marker *mirror* and the dorsal selector *apterous* (Figure 28E and 29I).



Figure 29. JAK/STAT restricts the expression of *vein* and *apterous* **to the body wall**. (**A-F**) Wing primordia from *wild-type* larvae (**A**, **D**) or from larvae expressing *dome*^{*RNAi*} under the control of the *sd-gal4* driver (**B**, **C**, **E**, **F**) labeled to visualize *vein* expression (*vein-lacZ*, X-Gal staining, blue) in second (**A-C**) and late third instar (**D-F**) stages. (**G-I**) Wing primordia from late third instar *wild type* larvae (**G**) of from larvae expressing *dome*^{*RNAi*} under the control of the *sd-gal4* driver (**H**, **I**) labeled to visualize *apterous* expression (*apterous-lacZ*, X-Gal staining, blue). Scale bars, 20 μm (**A-C**) or 50 μm (**D-I**).

In the early wing primordium, induction of Vn initially depends on Dpp signalling but slightly later is maintained by a positive feedback amplification loop through the activation of the EGFR pathway. Thus, Vn is both the ligand and a target of EGFR in the presumptive body wall [(Paul et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2000), see Introduction]. We found that the initial expression of the Vn ligand was unaffected in JAK/STAT-depleted early wing primordia (Figure 29B, compare with Figure 29A). Consistent with our observation that JAK/STAT restricts EGFR-regulated genes, we found that Vn expression was

expanded in later JAK/STAT-depleted second instar wing primordia (Figure 29C) and that this expansion remained in mature wing primordia (Figure 29E, F, compare with Figure 29D).

To further reinforce the proposal that the distal expansion of EGFR regulated genes observed upon JAK/STAT inhibition is responsible for the duplication of notum structures, we performed genetic interactions with members of the EGFR pathway and the *Iro-C* genes. We used of a null *Egfr* allele (*Egfr^{F2}*) or a deletion that covers the three *Iro-C* genes [*Iro^{EGP7}*, (Andreu et al., 2012)] in order to rescue the penetrance of the duplicated nota. Halving the doses of the *Egfr* gene or of the whole *Iro-C* reduced the frequency of duplicated nota observed in adults (Figure 30), confirming that the distal expansion of EGFR target gene expression contributes to the duplication of notum structures observed in adults. This frequency was increased in *wg* heterozygous animals (Figure 30) indicating that halving the dose of *wg* facilitates the acquisition of notum fate by ectopic *Iro-C* genes.



Figure 30. Reducing the *Egfr* and *Iro-C* gene doses decreases the frequency of duplicated nota. Bar graphs plotting the percentage of duplicated nota in the following genotypes: (1) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *UAS-dcr2/+* (2) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dome*^{*RNAi/wgCX4;*</sub> *UAS-dcr2/+* (3) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dome*^{*RNAi/EGFR^{F2}; UAS-dcr2/+* (4) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *UAS-dcr2/+* (4) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dcr2/- dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *UAS-dcr2/+* (5) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dcr2/- dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *UAS-dcr2/+* (6) *sd-gal4/Y; UAS-dcr2/- dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *UAS-dcr2/+ dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*</sub> *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*</sub> *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*</sub> *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*} *dome*^{*RNAi/+;*</sub> *domeR*}}}}}}</sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup></sup>

Effects of targeted activation of JAK/STAT in the wing

We next addressed whether the ectopic activation of the JAK/STAT pathway in the presumptive notum territory might affect the expression of these genes and consequently impair notum development or cause phenotypes similar to those described for Vn/EGFR downregulation. Ectopic expression of Upd to the most proximal side of the wing primordium downregulated *mirror* expression throughout development (Figure 31A-C) and caused a reduction in the size of the notum (Figure 31E, compare with Figure 31D). These two observations resemble the behavior of *Egfr* mutant clones in the notum and the "notumless" phenotype of *vn* hypomorphs, respectively (Simcox et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002b).



Figure 31. Ectopic expression of *upd* downregulates *mirror* throughout development and phenocopies *vn/Egfr* hypomorphs. (A-E) Second instar (A, B) and late third instar (C-E) wing primordia from *wild type* larvae (A, D) or larvae ectopically expressing the *UAS-upd* transgene under the control of the *ptc-gal4* driver (B, C, E). Wing discs are labeled to visualize *mirror (mirr-lacZ*, antibody to β-gal, green or white, A-C), Wg (red) and GFP (blue, A-C; green, D, E) to mark the domain of transgene expression. In C-E, wing territories (W) and endogenous nota (N) are marked. *mirror-lacZ* is downregulated in the notum from second (A, B) to third instar (C, compare with *wild type mirror* expression in Figure 24C) and the size of this territory is notably reduced (E) compared to the *wild type* (D). Scale bars, 20 µm (A, B) or 50 µm (C-E).

Very often, ectopic expression of Upd in the proximal territory or overexpression of the *wild type* JAK kinase (Hop) in the P compartment, led to the generation of ectopic wing structures emerging from the notum (Figure 32A, B, D, E white and red arrows). These results are reminiscent of the local reduction of Vn/EGFR activity in the notum, as expression of a chimeric protein between Vn and the secreted EGFR antagonist Argos (Vn::Aos) also induced ectopic wing structures in the same location [Figure 32C (Wang et al., 2000)]. Collectively, our results indicate that the expression of Upd and the activity of JAK/STAT during second instar correlates with a function in the process of wing versus notum subdivision. Our gain- and loss-of-function experiments show that JAK/STAT has an early role in repressing EGFR-regulated genes to restrict the notum fate to the most proximal region of the wing primordium and therefore ensuring Wg-mediated appendage specification.



Figure 32. Targeted activation of JAK/STAT generates ectopic wings emerging from the notum. (A-E) Third instar wing primordia (**A-D**) or adult fly (**E**) from larvae expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *ptc-gal4* (**A-C**) or *en-gal4* drivers (**D**, **E**), labeled to visualize Wg protein (red or white, **A**), DAPI (blue, **A**, **D**), Nub (red or white, **B-D**), Ci (green, **D**), and GFP (green, **A-C**) to mark the domain of transgene expression. In **A-E**, wing territories (W), endogenous nota (N) and ectopic wing territories (W', white arrows, **A-D**; red arrows, **E**) are marked. Targeted expression of the Upd ligand (**A**, **B**) or the Hop kinase (**D**, **E**) frequently leads to ectopic wing structures emerging from the notum that phenocopy the local loss of EGFR signalling in the notum (**C**, see also Material and Methods). Scale bars, 50 μm.

Non-autonomous effects of JAK/STAT deregulation

We observed that RNAi-mediated knockdown of any element of the JAK/STAT pathway (with *dome*^{RNAi}, *hop*^{RNAi} and *stat*^{RNAi}) in the anterior (A) compartment (with either *ci-gal4* or *ptc-gal4* drivers) caused the non-autonomous induction of ectopic wing structures emerging from the adjacent posterior (P) notum (Figure 33A-C, E). The same non-autonomous effect was observed in haltere primordia (Figure 33D). These observations suggest that in this experimental condition a wing-inducer signal is produced and released from the JAK/STAT-depleted A compartment, which non-autonomously triggers wing development in the adjacent P territory of the notum.



Figure 33. Depletion of JAK/STAT in the A compartment non-autonomously triggers wing development in the adjacent P compartment. (A-E) Late third instar wing (A-C, E) or haltere primordia (D) expressing the indicated transgenes in the anterior (A) compartment under the control of *ci-gal4* (A-D) or *ptc-gal4* (E), and labelled to visualize wing territories by Nub (red or white), DAPI (blue) and GFP (green) to visualize the domain of transgene expression. Endogenous wing (W), endogenous haltere capitellum (C), ectopic wing fields (W', white arrows, A-C, E) and ectopic haltere capitellum (C', white arrow, D) are marked. Ectopic wing fields and capitellum arise in the P compartment, adjacent to the transgene-expressing territory. Scale bars, 50 µm.

It has been shown that JAK/STAT represses Wg in the legs and antennae imaginal discs and that its downregulation in these tissues causes the ectopic expression of Wg (Avala-Camargo et al., 2007; Ekas et al., 2006). Since Wg is absolutely required for wing fate specification and sufficient to trigger wing development *de novo* in ectopic locations (see Introduction), we wondered whether Wg was ectopically expressed upon JAK/STAT depletion in the A compartment and if so, whether it might be responsible for the nonautonomous induction of ectopic wings in the P notum. We were not able however, to detect neither an increase nor changes in the dynamic pattern of Wg protein from second to early third instar (Figure 34A-C), the developmental stage at which the endogenous wing is specified and presumably, the stage when the entire wing primordia is competent to develop ectopic wings in response to Wg (Ng et al., 1996). To ensure that our temporal analysis of the dynamic pattern of Wq was not missing a cryptic source of Wg, we performed a functional experiment to confirm that Wg was not being ectopically expressed upon JAK/STAT downregulation in the A compartment. Depletion of JAK/STAT in a subset of A cells abutting the AP compartment boundary (with the *ptc-gal4* driver) causes the nonautonomous induction of wing structures (Figure 33E and 34D). However, co-expression of a *wg*^{RNAi} transgene in the same domain did not rescue this non-autonomous effect (Figure 34E), indicating that the potential autonomous production of Wg upon JAK/STAT depletion is not responsible for the non-autonomous induction of supernumerary wings.



Figure 34. JAK/STAT depletion in the A compartment does not cause ectopic Wg expression. (A-E) Second (L2, A, B), early third (eL3, C) and late third instar (wL3, D, E) wing primordia from larvae expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *ci-gal4* (A-C) or *ptc-gal4* (D, E) drivers, labeled to visualize wing territories by Nub (blue, D, E), Wg protein (red or white) and myrTomato (TMT, green, A-C) or GFP (D, E) to visualize the domain of transgene expression. In D, E the endogenous wing (W), endogenous nota (N) and ectopic wing fields (W', white arrowheads) are marked. The second instar wing disc in A is slightly younger than in B. Notice in D that the ectopic wing field (W') emerges non-autonomously and adjacent to domain expressing the *stat*^{RNAi} transgene, and that coexpression of *wg*^{RNAi} in E downregulates Wg expression levels in the same domain but does not rescue the ectopic wings caused by *stat*^{RNAi}. Scale bars, 20 µm (A-C), or 50 µm (D, E).

Interestingly, we noticed that impairing JAK/STAT signalling in the A compartment of the wing primordium caused a non-autonomous increase in the levels of the *10xSTAT-GFP* activity reporter (Figure 35A, B, red arrow), and a non-autonomous reduction in the expression levels of *mirror* (Figure 35C, red arrow). Moreover, expression of a truncated form of the Domeless receptor (Dome^{DN}), which lacks the intracellular activator domain but is potentially able to trap the ligand Upd, did not phenocopy the non-autonomous effects of RNAi-mediated depletion of JAK/STAT (Figure 36C).



Figure 35. Autonomous JAK/STAT inhibition causes non-autonomous effects. (A-C) Late (A, B) and early third instar (C) wing primordia from *wild type* larvae (A) and from larvae expressing *dome*^{RNAi} (B) or *stat92E*^{RNAi} (C) under the control of the *ci-gal4* driver and labeled to visualize the activity of JAK/STAT pathway (*10xSTAT-GFP*, green or white, A, B), Wg (red, A), *Myristoylated-Tomato* (TMT, red, B), *mirror* (*mirr-lacZ*, antibody against β-gal, red or white, C), and GFP (green, C). Red arrows in B point to non-autonomous ectopic activation of *10xSTAT-GFP* and in C to non-autonomous reduction of *mirror* expression levels. Scale bars, 50 µm.

JAK/STAT restricts the expression of its own ligand Upd

Collectively, these observations together with the finding that Upd or Hop missexpression are sufficient to generate ectopic wings in the P notum, prompted us to consider whether the Upd ligand might be either ectopically expressed or its levels increased upon targeted depletion of the JAK/STAT pathway in the A compartment. To test this idea, we performed a functional experiment to test whether the ectopic wings observed upon RNAi-mediated JAK/STAT depletion were Upd-dependent. Additionally, we monitored *upd* expression in JAK/STAT loss-of-function situations. Remarkably, expression of Dome^{DN} was able to fully rescue the non-autonomous induction of wing structures caused by targeted expression of *dome*^{RNAi} in the A compartment

(Figure 36A, C). Note that *dome*^{*RNAi*} is not expected to affect the expression levels of the *dome*^{*DN*} transgene as this RNAi targets the mRNA region encoding for the C-terminal intracellular domain (see Material and Methods). This result reinforces our proposal that the ectopic wings depend on Upd since this phenotype is suppressed in the presence of Dome^{DN}, likely by its ability to trap the ligand and limit its spreading towards the adjacent P compartment.



Figure 36. Non-autonomous induction of ectopic wings upon JAK/STAT inhibition is **Upd-dependent.** (A-C) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *ci-gal4* driver, labeled to visualize wing territories by Nub (red or white, A-C) Ci (green, C), and GFP (green, A, B) or to mark the domain of transgene expression. In A, the endogenous (W) and ectopic wing fields (W') are marked. The ectopic wing field (W') emerges non-autonomously and adjacent to domain expressing GFP and *dome*^{*RNAi*} transgenes, and that Dome^{DN} in B does not induce ectopic wings by itself but is able to fully rescue the ectopic wings caused by *dome*^{*RNAi*} (compare A and C). Scale bars, 50 µm.

We therefore analysed throughout development the expression of *upd* by *in situ* hybridization in *wild type* and in wing discs with compromised JAK/STAT signalling in the A compartment. *upd* is expressed in a distal domain of the second instar wing primordium (Figure 25A, B), and once the wing has been specified, it is repressed from the nascent wing pouch by Nub (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). During third instar, *upd* expression evolves into its

characteristic five-spot pattern located in the hinge and the ventral pleura (Figure 37, top). We found that depletion of JAK/STAT in the A compartment clearly impaired the restriction of *upd* to these five dots and *upd* expression levels were visibly increased (arrows in Figure 37, bottom). Consistent with this observation, clones of cells homozygous mutant for a null *stat92E* allele expressed *upd* in the wing pouch of early third instar wing discs (Figure 38). Whether this *upd* results from ectopic and the novo transcription of the *upd* locus or a failure to repress the distal expression of *upd* during second instar remains unknown. We also observed that JAK/STAT depletion did not cause the ectopic expression of *upd* in the body wall of early instar (Figure 38). Taken together, these observations support the notion that the negative feedback loop between JAK/STAT signalling and its own ligand contributes to restrict the expression levels and pattern of Upd to the maturing wing hinge and that a failure to do so interferes with the wing vs body wall subdivision.



Figure 37. JAK/STAT restricts the expression of its own ligand Upd. Wing primordia from early (eL3), mid (mL3) and late wandering (wL3) third instar stages of the indicated genotypes and labeled to visualize *upd* mRNA by *in situ* hybridization (purple). Note that *upd* expression pattern fails to resolve into its characteristic five-spot pattern and accumulates at higher levels in the anterior hinge (red arrows) upon JAK/STAT depletion. Endogenous wing (W) and ectopic wing territories (W') are marked. Scale bars, 50 µm.



Figure 38. *stat92E* mutant cells fail to repress *upd*. Three distinct examples of early third instar wing primordia with clones of cells lacking *stat92E* activity generated at the first instar and marked by the presence of two copies of RFP. Note that clones express *upd* (monitored by *upd-gal4, UAS-myrGFP*, green or white, red arrows). Scale bars, 50 µm.

Upstream regulators of upd and JAK/STAT activity

During second instar, *upd* expression is restricted to the distal part of the wing primordium, in a broader domain that Wg and opposite to the proximal Vn/EGFR territory (Figure 25B and 39A). This observation prompted us to analyse whether the early expression pattern of *upd* or the activity of the pathway relies on either positive or negative inputs from Wg or Vn/EGFR, respectively. We therefore modulated the Wg and EGFR pathways and monitored the early expression of *upd* and the *10xSTAT-GFP* activity reporter. However, the distal localization of *upd* and the activity of JAK/STAT during second instar were both largely unaffected in a *wg* transheterozygous mutant background that abolishes *wg* expression specifically during second instar (wg^{CX3}/wg^{CX4} , Figure 39B, D, compare with 39A, C). Similarly,

overexpression of a constitutively active EGF receptor (*EGFR^{CA}*) or its target gene *araucan* in the whole wing primordium did not modified the activity of the JAK/STAT pathway during second instar (Figure 39E, F, compare with 39C). Collectively, these results indicate that neither Wg nor Vn/EGFR are the upstream regulators of *upd* and JAK/STAT activity at this stage. Thus, it remains to be elucidated the mechanism by which the early expression of *upd* is restricted to the distal wing primordium.

During the third instar stage, JAK/STAT is downregulated from the developing wing pouch as the ligand Upd retracts to five dots in the hinge and ventral pleura (Figure 37). These events have been correlated with the expansion of the presumptive wing pouch (Hatini et al., 2013) in which Nubbin represses distal *upd* transcription and attenuates JAK/STAT signalling in the pouch (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). We see a decrease in the levels of the *10xSTAT-GFP* reporter in the presumptive body wall during second instar, and we show that this is necessary to ensure the correct development of this territory since maintaining high levels of STAT92E activity interferes with notum development. However, it is unclear whether the graded activity of the pathway is exclusively the result of the decay in the spreading of Upd from the distal domain or whether a pro-notum factor also collaborates to downregulate JAK/STAT activity from the body wall to allow its expansion (Hatini et al., 2013).



Figure 39. The early expression and activity of JAK/STAT signalling components does not depend on Wg or EGFR. Second instar wing primordia from wild type (A, C), wg trans-heterozygous mutants (B, D) or from larvae expressing a constitutively active EGF receptor (*Egfr^{CA}*, E) or its target gene *araucan* (F) under the control of the *sd-gal4* driver (E, F), labelled to visualize *upd* expression (in *upd-gal4*, *UAS-myrGFP* larvae, green or white, A, B), *STAT-GFP* activity reporter (green or white, C-F), Wg protein (red or white) and DAPI (blue). Scale bars, 20 μm.

Following this idea, we compromised Wg signalling (with a *UAS-notum* transgene) or overexpressed the pro-notum gene *araucan* in the whole wing primordium from very early stages and monitored JAK/STAT activity in the resulting mature third instar wing discs. In both cases, the loss of the wing was accompanied by a symmetric duplication of body wall structures as previously published [Figure 40A, C, D, see Introduction (Barrios et al., 2015; Morata and Lawrence, 1977; Sharma and Chopra, 1976; Wang et al., 2000)]. In these mature primordia, we observed a clear downregulation of the *10xSTAT-GFP* reporter from the developing ectopic nota (N', Figure 40A, C, D). We observed variable levels of JAK/STAT activity in these discs but always restricted to a central region, in between the endogenous and the

duplicated nota. This might be either a remnant activity from a residual source of *upd*, the activity of the pathway in the pleura or even vestiges of the hinge tegula [Figure 40A, C, D, see (Bryant, 1975; Morata and Lawrence, 1977) for fate maps and detailed anatomical characterization of the notum duplications]. In contrast, ectopic expression of Wg was not able to increase the levels of JAK/STAT activity (Figure 40B).These observations reinforce the idea that the expansion of the notum field is largely incompatible with high levels of JAK/STAT in this territory. Therefore, in our experimentally induced ectopic nota, the loss of JAK/STAT activity in maturing third instar discs is probably a consequence of the misspecification of the wing and concomitant duplication of body wall structures.



Figure 40. Late effects of Wg and EGFR deregulation on JAK/STAT activity. (A-D) Third instar wing primordia from *wild type* (A) or from larvae expressing the indicated transgenes in a stripe along the AP compartment boundary (*dpp-gal4*, B) or in the whole wing primordium (*sd-gal4*, C, D) to modulate the Wg signalling pathway (B, C) or the EGFR target *araucan* (D), and labelled to visualize *STAT-GFP* activity reporter (green or white), Wg protein (red or white) and DAPI (blue). In B, the ectopic Wg protein is expressed at very high levels in a stripe (white arrow) perpendicular to the endogenous Wg. Endogenous wing (W), endogenous nota (N) and ectopic nota (N') are indicated. Scale bars, 50 µm.

JAK/STAT and the control of overall organ size

JAK/STAT activity in the wing territory throughout development

Expression of Upd evolves as wing development proceeds as the ligand becomes restricted to the presumptive wing hinge and pleura, and consequently the *10xSTAT-GFP* reporter is robustly activated in these territories [Figure 35A and 40A, (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Hatini et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013; Rodrigues et al., 2012)]. Interestingly, we observed that mild activation of the *10xSTAT-GFP* reporter also occurs in the whole wing field at later stages and that this expression depends on the activity of the JAK/STAT pathway, as depletion of the Upd receptor Domeless induced a clear cell-autonomous downregulation of the reporter (Figure 41A, B). These observations prompted us to analyse whether the JAK/STAT pathway might have a broader developmental role during limb development, besides its reported activity in defining and promoting wing hinge growth (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013). For this purpose, and in order to bypass the earlier requirement of JAK/STAT signalling in wing fate specification, we used genetic tools with a milder effect on the pathway.



Figure 41. JAK/STAT is active in the wing pouch at later developmental stages. (A, B) Third instar wing primordia expressing $dome^{DN}$ (A) or $dome^{RNAi}$ (B) transgenes in the anterior compartment under the control of the *ci-gal4* driver, labeled with Ci (red, A, A') or myrTomato (TMT, red, B, B') to visualize the domain of transgene expression, and STAT-GFP reporter to monitor JAK/STAT activity (red or white, A, A', B, B'). STAT-GFP is autonomously downregulated in the transgene-expressing anterior compartment. The anterior (A) and posterior (P) compartments are indicated in the channel overlay (A, B). Scale bars, 50 µm.

JAK/STAT maintains the size of the P compartment

Expression of Dome^{DN} in the *sd-gal4* domain gave rise to a clear growth defect (Figure 42B, compare with 42A) and, most interesting, the size of the P compartment was clearly reduced (Figure 42B, white arrow). In some cases, the P compartment was virtually lost, giving rise to a stronger decrease in the size of the wing pouch, now composed entirely by A cells (Figure 42C, white arrow). The small-disc phenotype is characteristic of hop mutants but the anterior versus posterior compartment size has not been addressed in this case (Mukherjee et al., 2005; Perrimon and Mahowald, 1986). We therefore analysed whether the reduction in P compartment size observed in Dome^{DN}-expressing primordia was reproducible in null but larval-viable JAK otherwise mutants. The hop²⁷ mutation is а chemically-induced amorphic allele on the X chromosome in which embryonic and larval lethality is rescued by maternal contribution until the pupal stages. In this genetic background, the wing disc was smaller and most important, the P compartment was strongly reduced in size (Figure 42E, white arrow).



Figure 42. JAK/STAT is required to maintain the size of the posterior compartment. (A-E) Third instar wild type (A), hop^{27} hemizygous mutant (E) or larvae expressing the Dome^{DN} receptor (B-D) in the whole wing primordium under the control of the *sd-gal4* (B, C) or in the P compartment under the control of *en-gal4 driver* (D), labelled to visualize En protein (red, A-D), DAPI (blue, E) or Ci (green or white). Scale bars, 50 µm.

While depletion of Dome, Hop or Stat92E in A cells (with the *ci-gal4* or *ptc-gal4* drivers) did not have any noticeable impact on the size of this territory (Figs. 33A-C, 35B, 36 and 41), expression of Dome^{DN} as well as RNAi forms against *dome, hop* and *stat92E* in P cells (with the *en-gal4* driver) caused a strong reduction on the size of the P compartment (white arrow in Figure 42D and 43A-D). A similar phenotype was observed in wing discs expressing *dome*^{RNAi} in the whole wing disc using the *sd-gal4* driver (Figure 43E).



Figure 43. Canonical JAK/STAT is required to maintain the size of the posterior compartment. (A-E) Third instar wing primordia from larvae expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *en-gal4* (A-D) or *sd-gal4* (E) drivers, labelled to visualize the A compartment with Ci protein (red), En protein (green or white, E) and GFP (green or white, A-D). Scale bars, 50 μ m.

To address whether JAK/STAT is also broadly required to maintain the size of the P compartment in other *Drosophila* appendages, we inhibited JAK/STAT activity in the A or P territories (with *ci-gal4* and *hh-gal4* drivers, respectively), and analysed the resulting mature leg and haltere discs. Expression of an RNAi transgene against *hop* in P cells caused strong undergrowth of the P compartment in the leg and haltere primordia (Figure 44A, B, D, E), while the A compartment was unaffected when the same RNAi was expressed in A cells of these tissues (Figure 44A, C, D, F).



Figure 44. A general requirement of JAK/STAT in maintaining the P compartment of *Drosophila* appendages. (A-F) Mature larval leg (A-C) and haltere (D-F) discs from *wild type* larvae (A, D) or from larvae expressing hop^{RNAi} under the control of *hh-gal4* (B, E) or *ci-gal4* (C, F) labeled to visualize expression of Ci (green) and En (red) to mark the A and P compartments, respectively. Scale bars, 50 µm.

Interestingly, we observed that early L3 wing primordia, already shown a reduced P compartment (Figure 45A, C, quantified in 45F). To analyse whether JAK/STAT signalling is required to maintain the size of the P compartment throughout development, we used the thermosensitive version of the Gal4 repressor, Gal80¹⁵, to temporally control JAK/STAT depletion in P cells. At the permissive temperature (18 °C), the Gal4 transcriptional activator is inactive due to the Gal80¹⁵ repressor. Once the temperature is raised to 29 °C, the Gal80¹⁵ protein becomes inactive and thus allowing Gal4-driven transgene expression. We noticed that the reduction in the size of the P compartment observed in early third wing primordia (72 h after egg laying, AEL) grown at the restrictive temperature (18 °C) from early third instar until the end of larval development (Figure 45B, D, E, quantified in 45F). These results indicate that JAK/STAT is required to maintain the size of the P compartment throughout development.


Figure 45. JAK/STAT is required throughout development to maintain the P compartment size. (A-E) Early (A, C) and late (B, D, E) third instar larval wing primordia expressing *GFP* (A, B) or *dome*^{DN} (C-E) transgenes under the control of the *hh-gal4* driver and labeled to visualize expression of Ci (green) and En (red). Larvae were raised at 29 °C until dissection in early L3 (eL3, A, C) or late third instar stages (wL3, B, D). To address the capacity of the wing disc to recover, larvae were raised at 29 °C until early third instar, transferred to 18 °C at this stage and dissected 4 days later in late third instar (recovery, E, see also Material and Methods). Scale bars, 50 μm. (F) Graphic representation of the average size of the P versus de A compartment (P/A ratio) of the wing primordia represented in A-E. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0,001. Number of wing discs (n>17). See also Table 2.

To further characterize the requirement of JAK/STAT in the maintenance of P compartment size, we analysed the size and distribution of clones of cells mutant for a *stat92E* null allele (*stat92E*^{85c9}) using the classic FLP/FRT-mediated mitotic recombination technique. With this method, single cells homozygous mutant for the gene of interest are randomly generated all over the tissue, which then grow and proliferate to form groups of cells related by lineage called clones. Since cells mutant for JAK/STAT are eliminated through cell competition [(Rodrigues et al., 2012), a process by which slow-growing cells are detected and removed through apoptosis by

fast-growing cells (Levayer and Moreno, 2013)], we gave the *stat92E*^{85c9} mutant cells a relative growth advantage using the FLP/FRT *Minute* technique to impair growth of the surrounding non-mutant cells. In a *Minute/+* heterozygous background, *wild type (+/+)* clones were similarly recovered in both the A and P compartment (Figure 46A), and the average percentage of each compartment covered by these clones was largely similar (Figure 46C). In contrast, a low number of *stat92E*^{85c9} mutant cells were recovered in the P compartment (Figure 46B). The average percentage of each compartment covered by *stat92E*^{85c9} mutant clones was smaller when compared to *wild type* clones, and this difference was highest in the case of the P compartment (Figure 46C).



Figure 46. *stat92E* mutant clones are poorly recovered in the P compartment. (A, B) Examples of mature wing primordia with *wild type* clones (A) or clones mutant for *stat92E* (B), labeled by the absence of GFP (green or white), Ci (blue or white), En (red or white), and induced at first instar (see Material and Methods). Scale bars, 50 µm. (C) Scatter plot showing the percentage of the A or P compartments covered by *stat92E* mutant (red) or *wild type* (grey) clones. Error bars represent standard deviation. ns = not significant; ***p<0,001. Each dot represents a wing disc. Number of wing discs (n>45). See also **Table 3**.

Analysis of cell identity in JAK/STAT loss-of-function

The asymmetric recovery of *stat92E*^{85c9} mutant cells was not caused by changes in identity between A and P cells, as P mutant cells continued to express the P-selector gene Engrailed (Figure 46B and 47A). Neither was it a consequence of cells crossing from the P to the A compartment, since clones mutant for stat92E^{85c9} born in the P territory respected the AP compartment boundary (Figure 47A). In addition, we carried out a lineage tracing experiment to irreversibly label all cells born in the P compartment and expressing Dome^{DN} using the G-TRACE technique (Evans et al., 2009). Although a small number of cells with a P compartment origin crossed to the A compartment under these circumstances (Figure 47B), this violation does not appear to explain the observed reduction in the size of the P compartment. In this context, it is interesting to note that the cellular behaviour observed is reminiscent of the boundary transgressions that take place in regenerating wing discs upon transient induction of pro-apoptotic genes (Herrera and Morata, 2014), thereby suggesting that reduced survival cues might explain the size reduction of the P compartment (see below).



Figure 47. *stat92E* mutant clones respect the AP compartment boundary and do not switch from P to A identity. (A) Representative examples of mature larval wing primordia with clones of cells homozygous mutant for *stat92E*, labeled by the absence of *lacZ* expression (antibody against β -gal, green or white). Wing disc was stained for En (red) and Ci (blue). Clones were induced at first instar (see Material and Methods). Mutant clones and their corresponding twins (labeled with two copies of *lacZ*) can be monitored. (B) G-TRACE mediated cell lineage analysis to irreversibly label all cells born in the P compartment upon JAK/STAT depletion in P cells. Wing disc was stained for Engrailed (En, red or white), Ci (blue and white) and GFP (green or white). Dashed red line marks the AP boundary. Note that some cells of P origin (GFP) have lost their P identity (Engrailed) and belong now to the A compartment (Ci). Scale bars, 50 µm.

One important difference between the body wall and wing territories is the marked asymmetry in their respective P and A compartment sizes. In the notum, the P territory is very small relative to the A compartment, while in the wing pouch both the A and P compartments are of comparable sizes. Since we showed that JAK/STAT is involved in the wing versus notum subdivision during second instar, we wondered whether the specific reduction in the P compartment of the wing was caused by transformation of the P wing to the P notum, thus acquiring the intrinsic growth program of the P notum and decreasing its size. However, this reduction was not due to the transformation of the posterior wing to the posterior notum, as the characteristic expression pattern of wing and body wall markers (Nub and Tsh, respectively) was unaffected in hop^{27} hemizygous mutant animals (Figure 48A) and in Dome^{DN}-expressing wing discs (Figure 48B).

The wing and haltere primordia originate from dorsally-located imaginal discs in the embryo and are considered homologous organs, being the haltere a derived state from ancestral four-winged insects. Their differences rely on the specific expression and activity of the homeobox selector gene Ubx in haltere cells, which acts as a master switch that triggers haltere developmental program. If by mutation or experiment, Ubx function is removed from the haltere discs, this tissue fully transforms into a wing (Lewis, 1978). Conversely, ectopic expression of the Ubx transcription factor in the wing disc causes a wing-to-haltere transdetermination (Cabrera et al., 1985; White and Akam, 1985). The Ubx transcription factor is involved in several aspects of haltere development, among them, is the reduced size of the P compartment relative to the A due to low Dpp signalling in P haltere cells. Therefore, if Ubx was being ectopically expressed in the P compartment of our JAK/STAT depleted wing discs, this territory would acquire haltere-like characteristics with the subsequent decrease of the P compartment size. However, we did not detect ectopic Ubx protein neither in the A nor the P

compartments of Dome^{DN}-expressing discs besides its normal expression in the cuboidal marginal cells present at the disc posterior edge that joints the disc proper (DP) to the Ubx-expressing peripodial epithelium (Figure 48C). All together, these results reveal a cell-autonomous and compartmentspecific requirement of JAK/STAT signalling in promoting the growth, proliferation, and/or cell survival of P cells during development.



Figure 48. JAK/STAT depleted wing cells neither acquire notum identity nor transdetermine to haltere fate. (A-C) Third instar wing primordia from hop^{27} mutants (A) or from larvae expressing $Dome^{DN}$ under the control of *sd-gal4* (B, C), labelled to visualize the body wall marker Tsh (red or white, A), the wing marker Nub (red or white, B), the haltere identity marker Ubx (red or white, C), DAPI (blue, B) and Ci to mark the A compartment (green or white). White dashed line in B marks the AP compartment boundary. Scale bars, 50 µm.

JAK/STAT promotes the cycling and survival of P cells

Based on the cell autonomous requirement of JAK/STAT signalling in P cells, we monitored the activity of the major growth promoting pathways, the expression of a collection of cell cycle markers and the activity of the apoptotic pathway in P wing cells upon depletion of the JAK/STAT pathway. Growth of the developing wing relies, among others, on the activity of the Dpp morphogen expressed along the AP compartment boundary, on the

activity of the Hippo/Yorkie signalling pathway, and on the expression levels of the proto-oncogene *dMyc* (Hariharan, 2015; Neto-Silva et al., 2009). The activity levels of the Dpp and Hippo/Yorkie signalling pathways were unaffected in P cells expressing Dome^{DN}, as monitored by the expression of Spalt [a target of Dpp (de Celis et al., 1996)] and the Hippo readout *expanded* [a target of Yorkie (Yu et al., 2010)], respectively (Figure 49A, B). The levels of dMyc protein were also unaffected in Dome^{DN}-expressing cells (Figure 49C).



Figure 49. The reduction of P compartment size is independent of Dpp, Hippo and dMyc growth regulators. (A-C) Third instar wing primordia expressing the *dome*^{DN} transgene in the P compartment under the control of the *en-gal4* driver and labelled to visualize Dpp signalling with an antibody against Spalt (Sal, red or white, A), the Hippo readout *expanded-lacZ* (*ex-Z*, red or white, B), dMyc protein levels (red or white, C) and GFP (green) to mark the domain of transgene expression. Expression of these markers is unaffected in the P territory. Scale bars 50 µm.

These results are consistent with the fact that cells mutant for JAK/STAT are eliminated through cell competition in a Yorkie- and dMyc-independent manner (Rodrigues et al., 2012) and that *stat92E*^{85c9} mutant clones were hardly recovered in the P compartment in spite of being conferred a growth advantage with the *Minute* technique (Figure 46).

The amount of cell death during larval development is minor, except at the L2-L3 transition where there is a modest increase in dying cells and at the hinge-notum interface during late third instar (Milán et al., 1997). We thus monitored the activity of the apoptotic pathway. A TUNEL assay to label DNA strand breaks induced by apoptotic cell death revealed an increase in the number of apoptotic cells in the P compartment of hop²⁷ mutant wing discs during development when compared to *wild type* controls (Figure 50A-D). The Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis dIAP1 protects cells from apoptosis by inhibiting active caspases (Ryoo et al., 2002; Wilson et al., 2002), and STAT92E, when activated, has been previously shown to directly regulate dIAP1 expression in imaginal discs (Betz et al., 2008). Consistent with this report, overexpression of the JAK kinase Hop led to a cell-autonomous increase in the expression levels of a *diap1* enhancer-trap (Figure 50E, F). However, the role of JAK/STAT signalling in maintaining the physiological levels of dIAP1 expression appeared to be specific to the P compartment, as depletion of JAK/STAT signalling gave rise to a clear reduction in *diap1-lacZ* and dIAP1 protein levels in P cells but not in A cells (Figure 50G, I, J compare with 50E, H).



Figure 50. JAK/STAT regulates diap1 and protects P cells from apoptosis. (A-D) Wing primordia from hop^{27} mutant (A-C) or from *wild type* (D) larvae dissected at second (A), early third (B), or late third (C, D) instars, and labeled to visualize apoptotic cells by TUNEL staining (red) and Ci (green) to label the A compartment. A white line marks the contour of the wing discs. (E-J) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae of the indicated genotypes labeled to visualize expression of the *diap1-lacZ* enhancer trap (*diap1-Z*, red or white, E-G) and dIAP1 protein levels (red or white, H-J). Wing discs were labeled with either Ci (green, I, J) or GFP (green, F, G), to mark the A and P compartments, respectively. Red brackets mark the domain of transgene expression. Scale bars, 20 μ m (A, B) or 50 μ m (C-J).

We then inhibited cell death by expressing of a collection of *UAS-transgenes* that target different elements of the apoptotic machinery, thus impairing the initiation or execution of the apoptotic pathway. Interestingly, blocking apoptosis by overexpression of dIAP1 or an RNAi form against the initiator caspase Dronc, rescued the reduction in the size of the P compartment caused by Dome^{DN} expression (Figure 51A-C, quantified in 51E, F) as well as the amount of cell death observed (Figure 52A-C). A similar rescue of the size of the P compartment was observed upon expression of the baculovirus

protein P35, which blocks the activity of the effector caspases Dcp1 and drICE (Figure 51A, D, quantified in 51G).



Figure 51. Blocking apoptosis rescues the size of the P compartment. (A-D) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae expressing the indicated transgenes in the P compartment under the control of the *en-gal4* driver, and labelled to visualize dIAP1 protein (red, **B**), En (red, **A**, **C**, **D**) and Ci (green). Scale bars, 50 μ m. (**E-G**) Scatter plots showing the size of the P versus the A compartment (P/A ratio) of wing primordia expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *en-gal4* driver. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0.001. Number of wing discs in **E** (n>30), **F** (n>36), **G** (n>28). See also **Tables 4-6**.



Figure 52. Expression of *diap1* or *dronc*^{RNAi} rescues the apoptosis of the P compartment. (A-C) Late third instar wing primordia expressing the indicated transgenes in the P compartment under the control of the *en-gal4* driver, and labelled to visualize apoptotic cell death by TUNEL (red) and Ci protein (green) to mark the A compartment. Scale bars 50 µm.

Previous studies have found that clonal overexpression of the wild type kinase Hop in the wing imaginal disc upregulates CycB protein levels (Mukherjee et al., 2005). We then analysed the expression levels of the G1/S rate-limiting Cyclin E (CycE) and the G2/M rate-limiting Cyclins A and B (CycA and CycB) in P cells expressing Dome^{DN}. The expression levels of CvcE were not affected (Figure 53E). In contrast, CycA and B levels were visibly reduced in P cells expressing Dome^{DN} (Figure 53A, B, F). Expression of Dome^{DN} in A cells did not cause any overt reduction in the levels of these two G2 cyclins (Figure 53C, G). Interestingly, overexpression of CycA was able to largely rescue the reduction in the size of the P compartment caused by Dome^{DN} expression (Figure 53D). This observation therefore indicates that the downregulation of this G2 cyclin is partially responsible for the reduction in the size of the P compartment caused by loss of JAK/STAT signalling. Surprisingly, CycB overexpression did not rescue the size reduction of this compartment (Figure 53H). All together, these results indicate that JAK/STAT signalling maintains the size of the P compartment by regulating the cycling and survival of these cells. This pathway does so by regulating the levels of the G2/M rate-limiting CycA and the inhibitor of apoptosis dIAP1.



Figure 53. Impaired cell cycling of P cells contributes to the P compartment reduction. (A-C) Late third instar wing primordia from *wild type* (A) or from larvae expressing Dome^{DN} (B, C) under the control of *en-gal4* (B) or *ci-gal4* (C) drivers, labelled to visualize Ci protein (green, A), GFP (green, B, C) and CycA protein levels (red or white). Red bracket in B marks the domain of transgene expression and CycA downregulation. (E-G) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae expressing the Dome^{DN} under the control of *en-gal4* (E, F) or *ci-gal4* (G) drivers, labelled to visualize CycE (red or white, E), GFP (green, E), CycB (red or white, F, G) and Ci (green, F, G). Scale bars, 50 µm. (D, H) Scatter plots showing the P/A ratio of wing primordia expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *en-gal4* driver. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0,001. Number of wing discs in D (n>66), H (n>25). See also Tables 7, 8.

JAK/STAT counteracts the negative effects of Engrailed on cell cycling and survival

Stable subdivision of the wing primordium into A and P compartments is a consequence of asymmetric signalling by Hedgehog (Hh) from P to A cells (Lawrence, 1997). The activity of the homeodomain protein En in P cells helps to generate this asymmetry by inducing expression of Hh in the P compartment and at the same time repressing the essential downstream component of the Hh pathway Cubitus interruptus [Ci, (Dominguez et al., 1996)]. Thus, only A cells that receive the Hh signal across the compartment boundary will respond by stabilizing Ci. We thus analysed whether the specific requirement of the P compartment for JAK/STAT to drive cell cycling and survival might be due to the (1) absence of Hh signalling or (2) the presence of En in these cells. In the first case, the combined activities of two signalling molecules (Upd cytokines and the Hh morphogen) might provide survival and proliferation cues to A cells, whereas in the second case, the sole action of Upd through the JAK/STAT signalling pathway might exert a similar action in P cells. The first hypothesis would explain why blocking JAK/STAT in the A compartment does not have any noticeable impact on the size of this territory, as the Hh pathway would compensate for the lack of STAT92E activity. However, depletion of Hh signalling together with JAK/STAT in A cells did not cause any obvious phenotype in terms of compartment size (Figure 54A). These observations indicate that the sensitivity of P cells to a decrease in JAK/STAT activity is not due to the lack of Hh signalling in these cells. We next addressed the alternative hypothesis and analysed whether JAK/STAT signalling counteracts the potential negative effects of the En transcriptional repressor in cell cycling and survival. In order to test this hypothesis we use different genetic tools to downregulate En protein levels in P cells simultaneously expressing Dome^{DN}.



Figure 54. Simultaneous inhibition of JAK/STAT and Hh signalling does not cause undergrowth of the A compartment. (A) Coexpression of Dome^{DN} and Smo^{DN} in the A compartment under the control of *ci-gal4* driver and labelled for Ci (green) and DAPI (blue). (B) Expression of an *en*^{RNAi} transgene in the dorsal compartment (red) under the control of *apterous-gal4* (*ap-gal4*) driver, labelled for TMT (Tomato, red), En (green or white) and DAPI (blue). (blue). Magnification in the single channel shows the cell-autonomous downregulation of En protein levels in the dorsal-posterior compartment. Scale bars, 50 μm.

A reduction in the levels of En in P cells (Figure 54B), either by expression of two independent en^{RNAi} transgenes or by halving the doses of en and *invected* genes by a chromosomal deficiency (in $Df(2)en^{E}/+$ individuals), consistently rescued the reduction in the size of the P compartment caused by Dome^{DN} expression (Figure 55A-C). The rescue was larger with the VDRC-RNAi line and milder with the TRiP-RNAi line (two independent and publically available *Drosophila* RNAi collections) or the chromosomal deficiency (compare Figure 55A with 55B,C).



Figure 55. Depletion of En rescues the size of the P compartment. (A-C) Scatter plots showing the size of the P versus the A compartment (P/A ratio) of late third instar wing primordia expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *en-gal4* driver. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0,001. Number of wing discs in **A** (n>47), **B** (n>66), **C** (n>45). See also **Tables 9-11.**

Most interesting, the reduction in CycA levels and the amount of cell death observed in JAK/STAT-depleted P compartments were both largely rescued upon expression of *en*^{RNAi} (Figure 56A-C, quantified in 56D). These results indicate that JAK/STAT protects P cells from Engrailed and that the reduced survival and impaired cell cycling of JAK/STAT depleted P-cells are likely the consequence of the negative effect of Engrailed on these processes.



Figure 56. Depletion of En rescues apoptosis and CycA downregulation in P cells. (A-C) Wing primordia from third instar larvae expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *en-gal4* driver, and labelled to visualize apoptotic cell death by TUNEL staining (red or white, A, B), CycA (red or white, C) and Ci (green). Red bracket in C marks the domain of transgene expression and the rescue in CycA downregulation. Scale bars, 50 μ m. (D) Scatter plot showing the absolute number of apoptotic cells in the P compartment of late third instar wing primordia from individuals of the indicated genotypes. ***p<0,001. Number of wing discs (n>19). See also Table 12.

The *en-gal4* driver used to knockdown *engrailed* function is an enhancer trap construct inserted in the *en* locus that faithfully recapitulates its endogenous expression pattern. Thus, *en-gal4* likely integrates all or most of the regulatory inputs on the *en* gene. Besides, engrailed is subject to multiple modes of regulation in embryogenesis and imaginal discs involving both positive and negative autoregulation by its own En product (Garaulet et al., 2008; Guillén et al., 1995; Heemskerk et al., 1991). Thus, we considered whether the rescue in tissue size, apoptosis and CycA protein levels caused by expression of *en*^{RNAi} might be an indirect consequence of a reduction in

the expression of the *en-gal4* driver, which would lead to lower levels of Dome^{DN} expression and consequently to an apparent rescue of the mentioned parameters. To address this question we drove en^{RNAi} expression under the control of *en-gal4* and monitored the expression levels of this driver. If anything, the levels of this driver increased, monitored by an *UAS-GFP* transgene and antibody to the Gal4 protein (Figure 57A, B, quantified in 57C). This observation is consistent with the reported capacity of En to negatively regulate its own expression in the wing disc that was proposed to be used to finely modulate physiological levels of En protein (Garaulet et al., 2008; Guillén et al., 1995; Simmonds et al., 1995; Tabata et al., 1995).



Figure 57. Physiological levels of Engrailed negatively regulate its own expression. (A, B) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae of the indicated genotypes labeled to visualize GFP or Gal4 (white) to quantify variations in the strength of the *en-gal4* driver. The white line marks the contour of the discs. All discs were processed and stained in parallel and images were captured with the same confocal settings. Scale bars, 50 μ m (C) Bar graph showing the average signal intensity/pixel of GFP and Gal4 protein levels in the P compartments of the indicated genotypes. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0,001. Number of wing discs (n>18). See also Table 13.

To further reinforce that Engrailed is responsible for the phenotypes observed upon JAK/STAT depletion in the P compartment we tested the capacity of Engrailed to phenocopy the JAK/STAT loss-of-function phenotypes. Temporary-regulated overexpression of En in its domain gave rise to a clear reduction in dIAP1 and CycA protein levels, caused apoptotic cell death and more important, reduced the size of the P compartment (Figure 58A-E, quantification in 58F). All together, these results indicate that JAK/STAT signalling counteracts the negative impact of Engrailed on the cycling and survival of P cells.



Figure 58. Overexpression of En in the P compartment phenocopies the loss of JAK/STAT in this territory. (A-E) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae overexpressing En (A-C, E) or GFP (D) in the P compartment for 24-48 h (A-C) or 72 h (D, E) under the control of the *hh-gal4* driver, labelled to visualize dIAP1 protein (red or white, A), apoptotic cells by TUNEL (red or white, B), CycA protein (red or white, C), En (red, D, E) and Ci (green) protein. In A, C, a red bracket marks the domain of transgene expression where dIAP1 and CycA are downregulated. In B, the red dashed line marks the AP boundary. Scale bars 50 µm. (F) Scatter plot showing the P/A ratio of wing primordia expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *hh-gal4* driver. Error bars represent standard deviation. ***p<0,001. Number of wing discs (n=17). See also Table 14.

JAK/STAT promotes the stable localization of the Dpp organizer

Hh from P cells induces the expression of Dpp in A cells abutting the P compartment, and Dpp organizes the growth and patterning of the developing appendage (Affolter and Basler, 2007). We thus analysed whether the strong reduction in the pool of Hh-expressing cells caused by Dome^{DN} expression had any impact on Dpp expression and, consequently, on wing growth. As noted above, two distinct growth phenotypes could be observed in wing discs expressing Dome^{DN} in the *sd-gal4* domain (Figure 42B, C). In most cases, a mild but reproducible growth defect accompanied by a clear size reduction of the P compartment was observed (Figure 42B). and in all these cases the expression of Dpp and its target gene Spalt was maintained (Figure 59B, compare with 59A). However, a certain fraction of wing discs showed a complete loss of the P compartment, accompanied by a strong reduction in the size of the wing pouch (Figure 42C). These features resemble the tissue size defects observed in *dpp* mutant wing discs (Zecca et al., 1995). Consistent with the reduction in the number of Hh-producing cells, the stripe of Dpp expression and its downstream target gene Spalt were lost in these cases (Figure 59C, compare with 59A).



Figure 59. The loss of the P compartment abolishes *dpp* expression at the AP boundary. (A-C) Late third instar wing primordia from wild type (A) or from larvae expressing Dome^{DN} in the whole wing disc under the control of the sd-gal4 driver (B, C), labelled to visualize dpp expression (dpp-lacZ, green) and its target gene Spalt (Sal, red or white). Note in C the loss of *dpp-lacZ* and Sal protein accompanied by a strong reduction of the wing pouch (magnification). Scale bars, 50 µm.

These two distinct phenotypes could also be obtained upon expression of $Dome^{DN}$ in the P compartment (Figure 42D and 60A). Remarkably, the fraction of wing discs with loss of Dpp activity, visualized by the expression of Spalt, was clearly reduced upon overexpression of Hh or dIAP1 in the P compartment (compare Figure 60A and B, quantified in 60C). Thus, the prosurvival and mitogenic activity of JAK/STAT signalling in P cells contributes to the maintenance of a pool of Hh-producing cells that induces Dpp expression in nearby A cells to generate a well-sized and fully-functional limb primordia.



Figure 60. JAK/STAT promotes Dpp expression by maintaining the pool of Hhexpressing cells. (A, B) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae expressing Dome^{DN} (A) or coexpressing Dome^{DN} and Hh (using a Hh::GFP tagged protein, B) in the P compartment under the control of the *hh-gal4* driver labelled to visualize GFP (green, A), Hh::GFP protein (green, B) and Spalt (Sal, red or white). Scale bars, 50 µm. (C) Bar graph plotting the percentage of wing primordia in which Dpp was lost, monitored by the absence of Spalt expression in the wing pouch. Wing primordia are expressing the indicated transgenes under the control of the *hh-gal4* driver. Number of wing discs (n>40). See also **Table 15**.

Interplay between growth and patterning

JAK/STAT restricts Dpp organizing activity to the developing appendage

As development proceeds, high levels of expression and activity of the Upd ligand and the JAK/STAT pathway in the hinge primordium (Figure 61A, B) contribute to its growth (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Hatini et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013). Consistently, expression of Dome^{DN} in the A compartment gave rise to a clear reduction in the anterior hinge size and to the close apposition of the developing appendage and the surrounding body wall or notum (Figure 61C, D, red brackets). Moreover, Dpp is expressed along the AP boundary straddling the wing pouch, the hinge and the body wall, but it exerts its organizing activities only in the wing appendage (Figure 62A).



Figure 61. Expression and activity of JAK/STAT and Dpp signalling components in the hinge and body wall. (A-C) Late third instar wing primordia from larvae of the indicated genotypes labelled to visualize expression of *upd* (*upd-gal4*, *UAS-myrGFP*, green or white, **A**), activity of the JAK/STAT pathway (*10xSTAT-GFP*, green or white, **B**) and Ptc (green, **C**) to mark the AP compartment boundary. Magnifications of the hinge region where JAK/STAT signalling is highly active are shown in the lower panels of **A** and **B**. White arrow marks the AP boundary of the body wall in **C**. (**D**) Depletion of JAK/STAT in the A compartment compromises hinge growth. Wing disc is labeled with GFP (green) to mark the A compartment, Nubbin (Nub, red) to visualize the wing pouch and the distal hinge and DAPI (blue). Red brackets in the lower panel show the affected hinge region (compare left and right bracket). Dashed red line marks the AP boundary. Wing (W), notum (N) and hinge (H) territories are marked in **C**, **D**. Scale bars, 50 µm.

We thus wondered whether the hinge region acts as a fence that contributes to isolating the organizing activity of Dpp to the developing appendage. Interestingly, we noticed that when Dome^{DN} was expressed in the hinge (with *homothorax-gal4* driver, *hth-gal4*), the AP boundary of the body wall became closer to the developing wing (compare Fig 61C and Figure 62B, white arrows). Consequently, this Dpp stripe behaved as a new AP organizer which induced its target gene Spalt in nearby wing cells (compare Figure 62A with 62C, white star) as well as the expansion and concomitant pattern duplications of the endogenous wing (Figure 62D, white star).



Figure 62. JAK/STAT-mediated hinge growth isolates the body wall and appendage sources of Dpp. (A-D) Late third instar wing primordia from *wild type* (A) or from larvae expressing Dome^{DN} (B-D) in the hinge territory under the control of the *homothorax-gal4* driver (*hth-gal4*). Wing discs are labelled to visualize the Dpp-expressing cells at the AP boundary with *dpp-lacZ* (*dpp-Z*, green, A) or Patched (Ptc, green, B, C), the wing territory with Nub (red, D), Wg (green, D) and Dpp activity with Spalt (Sal, red, A-C). White arrow in B points to the AP boundary of the body wall abutting the wing pouch because of the reduction in hinge size. As a result, the AP boundary organizes the surrounding tissue and induces pattern duplications of the endogenous wing, indicated by the additional A' and P' territories at both sides of the new organizer. Stars in C and D mark the ectopic expression of Spalt (C) and the resulting outgrowth marked by Nub (D). Scale bars, 50 µm.

Although all the animals from this experiment eventually died at the pupal stage, we were able to recover a certain number of pharate adults to analyse this phenotype in the adult wings. Consistent with the phenotypes observed

in the wing primordia, we frequently observed pattern duplications in the P compartment of the wing (red stars in Figure 63B, C, compare with 63A). Very often, we observed duplications of the P longitudinal veins L5 and L4 (Figure 63B, C) as well as the presence of A structures such as the anterior wing margin (awm) or anterior hinge elements like the costa (Co) (Figure 63B). Collectively, these results indicate that JAK/STAT signalling contributes, through its growth promoting activity in the hinge region, to isolate the body wall and appendage sources of Dpp, thus restricting the organizing activity of Dpp to the developing appendage.



Figure 63. Depletion of JAK/STAT in the hinge generates pattern duplications in the P compartment. Cuticle preparations of adult wings from *wild type* individuals (**A**) or from individuals expressing Dome^{DN} under the control of the *hth-gal4* driver (**B**, **C**). Red dashed line in **A** marks the approximate AP compartment boundary. L2-L5, longitudinal veins; Co, costa; awm, anterior wing margin. The wings of *hth>dome^{DN}* individuals present pattern duplications of the P structures (eg. L4', L5', red), and in these duplications A structures (awm' and Co', red) are often observed. Higher magnification of the ectopic awm (awm') is shown in the inset of panel **B**.

Discussion

Morphogens of the Wnt/Wg, Shh/Hh and BMP/Dpp families regulate tissue growth and pattern formation in vertebrate and invertebrate limbs. During this thesis we studied the role of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway in the growth and patterning of the wing primordium. We unravel a fundamental role of the secreted Upd ligand and the JAK/STAT pathway in facilitating the activities of these three morphogens in exerting their fate- and growthpromoting activities in the Drosophila wing primordium

A new role for JAK/STAT in wing fate specification

Targeted inhibition of the JAK/STAT pathway in the whole wing primordium from very early stages results in the total or partial duplication of body wall structures accompanied by the loss or reduction of the wing. The notum duplications are reminiscent of the wg mutant phenotype (Sharma and Chopra, 1976), although in these mutants the resulting adults show an "all or none" response without intermediate states such as the partial duplication of the thorax and vestiges of the wing (Morata and Lawrence, 1977). In these hypomorphic mutants there are only two possible outcomes. During second instar, if Wg levels are sufficient to induce wing fate, the resulting adults show no phenotype and display fully-formed wings. In contrast, if Wg levels are too low at this critical developmental stage, the wing fails to specify causing the concomitant and total duplication of body wall structures. The absence of this binary response in our JAK/STAT-deficient wing discs indicates that the mechanism might be different than in the wg mutants. Indeed, we show that JAK/STAT does not regulate wing fate cell-autonomously, neither behaves it as Wingless-like molecule nor regulates it the expression of Wg during second instar, since the wing marker Nubbin and the expression of Wg itself are not modulated by JAK/STAT. It is known that overexpression of EGFR or its target gene *araucan* in the distal territory of the early wing primordium can produce either total or partial notum duplications, and in

these cases the wings are lost or reduced (Aldaz et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2000). Interestingly, we observe these two phenotypes in our JAK/STAT depleted wing discs. We found that JAK/STAT has a negative impact on EGFR-regulated genes, acting as a brake, to restrict the notum field to its normal position in the proximal territory and thus ensuring Wg-mediated wing specification. Consistently, the proximal confinement of these EGFR targets, and consequently the notum identity, is impaired in JAK/STAT depleted discs, causing the expansion of the notum to the distal territory taking over most or all of the wing primordium. In fact, reducing the dose of the Egfr gene or the whole *Iro-C* complex substantially rescued the frequency of duplicated nota. Therefore, the extent of the notum expansion at the critical moment when the wing has to be specified by Wg, likely dictates whether the notum duplication is complete or partial, and whether this duplication is accompanied or not by a reduced or vestigial wing. An important point that may clarify the differences between the notum duplications observed in the wg mutants and in the loss of JAK/STAT is the order of events. In a wg mutant, the wing fails to specify first, and as a consequence the distal territory acquires the notum fate as the ground state. In JAK/STAT depleted wing discs, the first event is the expansion of the notum field, and as a secondary effect the wing may or may not be specified.

Regulation of EGFR by JAK/STAT

We found that the EGFR targets *mirror* and *apterous* expand distally in JAK/STAT depleted wing discs. *mirror*, a member of the Iro-C complex contributes to specify the notum fate and apterous determines dorsal identity (Blair, 1993; del Corral et al., 1999; Diaz-Benjumea and Cohen, 1993; Milán et al., 2001). We also show that the initial expression of the EGFR ligand Vn, which is known to depend on transluminal Dpp transmission, is not affected in early JAK/STAT-depleted wing discs (Paul et al., 2013). However, after the

initial induction, *vn* expression is sustained by EGFR as a part of an autoregulatory loop (Paul et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2000). In agreement with JAK/STAT repressing EGFR-regulated genes, *vn* is also expanded in later JAK/STAT depleted second instar wing discs and its expression remains in mature wing primordia. We did not uncover, however, the molecular mechanisms underlying EGFR target gene repression by JAK/STAT signalling in second instar.

The socs36E gene is a STAT92E target encoding the SOCS36E protein (Suppressor Of Cytokine Signalling 36E) that forms a negative feedback loop to attenuate JAK/STAT signaling upon pathway activation (Karsten et al., 2002; Stec et al., 2013). In fact, the *10xSTAT-GFP* activity reporter in based on the STAT92E binding sites present in the first intron of socs36E (Bach et al., 2007). Moreover, SOCS36E has also been shown to inhibit the EGFR pathway in imaginal tissues (Almudi et al., 2009; Callus and Mathey-Prevot, 2002) as well as to limit EGFR-induced overgrowth in *Drosophila* epithelial transformation models (Herranz et al., 2012). If STAT92E inhibits EGFR activity through SOCS36, the loss of JAK/STAT would reduce SOCS36E levels and cause an EGFR upregulation. However, the crosstalk between JAK/STAT, SOCS36E and EGFR does not seem to be the mechanism, as depletion of SOCS36E in the whole wing primordium from very early stages does not impair wing specification neither causes notum duplications. Moreover, *socs36E* homozygous null mutants are viable and fertile, and only exhibit a mild increase in wing size (Almudi et al., 2009; Herranz et al., 2012). In addition to SOCS36E, SOCS44A has been shown to positively regulate EGFR signaling in the wing (Rawlings et al., 2004). However, this hypothesis seems less possible because socs44A has not been identified as a target of STAT92E (Rawlings et al., 2004) and it is not upregulated upon pathway stimulation (Bina et al., 2010).

It is possible that STAT92E inhibits directly each of the EGFR targets here analyzed, but this would require the independent negative regulation of mirror, apterous and vein. It is more likely that STAT92E confines EGFR-regulated genes and hence the notum identity through the regulation of a single downstream element of the EGFR cascade. For instance, STAT92E might repress (directly or indirectly) the downstream transcription factor of the EGFR pathway, Pointed [Pnt (Rebay, 2002; Scholz et al., 1993)]. In this scenario, JAK/STAT would restrict the availability of Pnt to the proximal regions of the early wing primordium, thus limiting the competence to respond to EGFR only in the proximal cells normally fated to become the notum. If so, downregulation of JAK/STAT signalling at early stages would cause ectopic expression of Pnt in more distal cells, now competent to respond to the Vn ligand coming from neighbouring proximal cells and leading to EGFR target gene expression in a more distal position. As a consequence, Vn would be expressed in these cells in response to the EGFR feedback loop, which would signal distally to recruit more cells into the expanding notum domain. The reiteration of this mechanism based on Pnt derepression and Vn/EGFR autoregulation is likely to result in the progressive recruitment of all or most of the wing disc cells to the notum fate. In favor of this hypothesis, expression of the PntP2 isoform that mediates the positive Vn/EGFR feedback loop starts broad and becomes restricted to the proximal territory in second instar wing discs (Paul et al., 2013). Whether the spatial confinement of PntP2 that limits productive Vn/EGFR signaling to the future body wall relies on JAK/STAT is an open question.

We also show that ectopic expression of the Upd ligand or autonomous activation of the pathway recapitulates the phenotypes associated with the loss of Vn/EGFR, such as the downregulation of *Iro-C* (*mirror*), the reduced notum size as well as ectopic wings emerging from the notum (Austin et al.,

2014; Simcox et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a, 2002b). We do not observe, however, the loss of *apterous* upon JAK/STAT stimulation, as the apterous-dependent DV boundary formation that bisects the wing into D and V compartments is normal in both the endogenous and ectopic wings. Considering that *apterous* is a low-threshold target of EGFR and that only null *vn* or strong *Egfr* alleles cause the loss of *apterous* expression (Wang et al., 2000), it is likely that ectopic expression of Upd can only moderately inhibit EGFR signaling, impairing notum identity and growth but not the establishment of the D compartment. In fact, *vn* hypomorphs, in which the notum is virtually lost or reduced to a stump, still have a D compartment (Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a).

Non-autonomous effects of JAK/STAT deregulation

The analysis of the behaviour of *stat92E* mutant clones has led to the proposal that JAK/STAT signalling inhibits the formation of ectopic wing fields in the notum. However, stat92E mutant clones do not acquire wing identity cell-autonomously, but they do trigger wing development in the adjacent wild type cells (Hatini et al., 2013). Consistent with this observation, we find that downregulation of JAK/STAT signalling in A cells non-autonomously triggers wing development in the adjacent P notum. indicating that STAT92E normally represses a wing-inducer signal in the A compartment. However, we do not detect any change in the endogenous pattern or levels of Wg in A cells with compromised STAT92E activity, and more important, we do not rescue this non-autonomous effect by knocking down Wg in these cells. This is intriguing since Wg is absolutely required for wing fate specification and sufficient to trigger wing development in the notum when overexpressed (Ng et al., 1996).

We found that induction of ectopic non-autonomous wings depend on Upd. Three independent observations support this hypothesis. First, ectopic expression of Upd or autonomous activation of the pathway are able to bypass EGFR-mediated repression and trigger wing development in the notum. Second, depletion of JAK/STAT in the A compartment and simultaneously trapping the Upd ligand at the source fully supresses the induction of wing structures. And third, inhibition of JAK/STAT signalling results in either ectopic or increased levels of upd as well as the failure in the restriction to its five-spot pattern. Therefore, we conclude that JAK/STAT restricts the expression pattern and levels of its own ligand Upd. The negative feedback loop between JAK/STAT and its own ligand prevents high levels of JAK/STAT signalling in proximal territories that would otherwise impair the development of the notum and cause the induction of supernumerary wings. Moreover, it also might contribute to the refinement of the highly resolved expression pattern of *upd* into the characteristic five dots in the hinge and pleura (Johnstone et al., 2013).

It is worth to mention that despite Wg is not ectopically expressed in the JAK/STAT-depleted A compartment and that the ectopic wings depend on Upd, the requirement of Wg to induce wing fate in the notum cannot not be circumvented by Upd and therefore, a source of Wg of unknown origin should be required in collaboration with Upd to generate the ectopic wings. However, we show that Upd missexpression or autonomous activation of the pathway does not induce Wg expression, raising the question of where does Wg come from. One possibility considers that during second instar, the secreted endogenous Wg protein from the distal domain is able to diffuse enough cell diameters and reach the proximal territory. During normal development, the levels of extracellular Wg in the proximal region would be insufficient to induce wing fate because the presumptive body wall is

receiving correct patterning cues and EGFR blocks Wg responsiveness, making this region refractory to any effect of low levels of Wg. Only higher levels of Wg in the proximal domain, such as the obtained by overexpression, would bypass EGFR-mediated wing fate repression and induce ectopic wings emerging from the notum (Ng et al., 1996). Since missexpression of Upd interferes with EGFR-mediated notum development, it is possible that this generates a sensitized proximal region competent to respond to low levels of Wg coming from distal cells. This idea is consistent with the fact that overexpression of a secreted EGFR antagonist also triggers wing development in the notum without inducing ectopic expression of Wg (Wang et al., 2000). The use of standard immunostaining protocols, that highlight the intracellular fraction of Wg at the source, makes difficult to determine the range of Wg diffusion. In this sense, it would be necessary to analyse the extracellular distribution of Wg protein in second instar as well to force its retention to the distal domain as a functional test.

As development proceeds, expression of Wg evolves in a stereotyped pattern in the wing pouch, the hinge and notum. During third instar stage, few hours after the L2-L3 transition, Wg starts to be expressed in a stripe in the notum that runs along the AP axis and is important for the development of the mechanosensory bristles of the notum (García-García et al., 1999). The notal stripe of Wg never induces wing fate in the notum, probably because this region is already committed to the notum fate and in principle, Wg only can do so in a precise time window during second instar when the primordium is in an undetermined state in terms of wing & body wall fate. If missexpression of Upd creates a more permissive region in the notum due to the downregulation of EGFR signalling, it could be possible for the notal Wg stripe to induce wing fate in a group of cells of this sensitized region, even during the beginning of the third instar stage.

A number of genetic manipulations reported in the literature result in notumto-wing transformations and all of them involve the ectopic expression of Wg or the direct or indirect activation of the Wg pathway (Collins and Treisman, 2000; Grimm and Pflugfelder, 1996; Klein and Arias, 1998; Ng et al., 1996; Pflugfelder et al.; Silver et al., 2007b). Moreover, ectopic wings always emerge from a spot located in the P compartment of the notum, although occasionally. A cells can be recruited into the new developing appendage. The reason for this specificity is unknown but it has to rely on subtle molecular differences between the A and P notum compartments. The D selector gene apterous subdivides the entire wing disc into D and V compartments and a stripe of DV boundary cells bisect the disc along the wing pouch, the hinge and the notum. Notch activity induces Wg and Vg expression in DV boundary cells of the wing pouch, but the DV boundary continues in the hinge and notum of both the A and P compartments which express only Vg – and not Wg – in response to Notch signalling. In the A compartment the Notch-Vg combination ends at the presumptive hingenotum border but in the P compartment the DV boundary and hence Notch-Vg activity continues and reaches almost the end of the notum (Casares and Mann, 2000). Therefore, the P notum has Notch-Vg but the A notum does not. Besides, only in the posterior edge of the notum both the AP and DV organizers get very close, almost in contact. Thus, it seems that this region in the P notum recapitulates some aspects of the endogenous position of the wing during second instar and contains, except Wg, all the elements necessary to trigger wing development and proximo-distal outgrowth. Consequently, when Wg is ectopically provided, this region fulfils all the requirements to initiate the development of a new wing.

Our data indicate that the ectopic wings induced in a non-autonomous manner by RNAi-mediated JAK/STAT downregulation are Upd-dependent

since trapping the ligand at the source rescues this effect. In these experiments, the A compartment cannot respond to Upd (as the pathway is being downregulated) and the levels of the EGFR target genes promoting notum fate are expected to be high, thus inhibiting wing fate specification and preventing the potential recruitment of A cells to the developing ectopic appendage. By contrast, in the nearby P compartment, increased JAK/STAT activity (as a consequence of Upd coming from A cells) results in EGFR target gene downregulation and to the induction of ectopic wings.

Upstream regulators of upd during second instar

During second instar, *upd* is expressed in distal cells in a broader domain than *wg*. Based on the nested-like expression pattern of *upd* and *wg*, we hypothesised that *upd* could be a downstream target of Wg signalling, acting as a subordinate gene to execute a subset or complementary functions of Wg beyond the range of action of secreted Wg at this developmental stage. Although it is not clear whether there is a crosstalk between JAK/STAT and Wg signalling in the hinge region of third instar wing primordia (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Rodrigues et al., 2012), both expression of *upd* and STAT92E activity remains normal in *wg* mutant second instar wing discs.

Analysis of *stat92E* mutant clones has revealed a late role of JAK/STAT in repressing the *Iro-C* genes in the hinge of mature wing primordia since these clones, when recovered in the hinge, upregulate both *mirror* and *araucan* (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Hatini et al., 2013). The upregulation of the *Iro-C* genes in *stat92E* mutant clones has been associated with the acquisition of notum-like features in the adult, such as the differentiation of cuticular protrusions decorated with bristles characteristic of the notum (Hatini et al., 2013). Consistent with our results, ectopic activation of the pathway either in clones (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013) or broadly in the entire

wing disc (Hatini et al., 2013) represses these genes in the notum of mature wing discs. Besides, *Egfr* or *Iro-C* mutant clones are frequently excluded from the notum and displace to the hinge where they acquire hinge-like characteristics in the differentiated adult cuticle (del Corral et al., 1999; Villa-Cuesta et al., 2007). In this case, it is unknown whether the notum-to-hinge transformation of *Egfr/Iro-C* mutant clones is also accompanied by the upregulation of JAK/STAT signalling. Thus, it appears that a mutual antagonism between JAK/STAT and EGFR/Iro-C maintains the hinge-notum border and keeps segregated the notum and hinge developmental fields in maturing third instar wing primordia.

In these sense, we show that JAK/STAT has an earlier and more extensive role in restricting Vn/EGFR targets during second instar and this is required to confine the notum field, allowing the proper specification of the wing. However, EGFR or Iro-C does not appear to negatively regulate STAT92E signalling at this early stage, as overexpression of a constitutively EGF receptor or its target gene *araucan* does not affect the activity of the pathway during second instar. Nonetheless, we do confirm that the development of the notum is largely incompatible with high levels of STAT92E activity in this territory. We have modulated the Wg pathways or the *Iro-C* genes to generate notum duplications without directly manipulating the levels of JAK/STAT signalling. In these two cases, the ectopic body wall develops from the Wg- and Upd-expressing distal territory that is normally fated to become the wing. In this context, we observe the retraction of the 10xSTAT-GFP reporter from the developing ectopic nota in maturing third instar discs, thereby suggesting that the loss of STAT92E activity from this region is rather a consequence of the loss of the wing and duplication of body wall structures.

At the embryonic stage 15, expression of upd [monitored by an *upd-gal4* enhancer trap (Tsai and Sun, 2004)] in the embryonic wing primordium is low and seems to be mostly restricted to the A compartment (Rodrigues et al., 2012), but in second instar *upd* is expressed in the distal domain of the A and P compartments. This raises the possibility that upd expression could be, at least in the A compartment, inherited from the embryonic ectoderm, perhaps by the activity of Hh coming from adjacent P cells. Thus, it remains an open question the mechanism by which *upd* expression is restricted to the distal domain of the wing primordium in second instar.

A refined model for wing fate specification

The proximo-distal subdivision of the wing primordium into the wing pouch and the body wall takes place early in development during the second larval instar, when the wing disc is very small and contains at most few hundred cells. The current model for wing fate specification proposes that this developmental decision relies on two distinct mechanisms (Rafel and Milán, 2008; Wang et al., 2000). First, the antagonistic expression and activity of the Vn and Wg ligands in opposing domains instruct cells to acquire the body wall and wing fate, respectively. Wg prevents the expression of Vn in the distal domain and induces a set of wing-determining genes (Ng et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000; Wu and Cohen, 2002). In contrast, Vn, through the EGFR pathway, inhibits the cellular response to Wg and instructs cells to acquire body wall fate [Figure 64 (Wang et al., 2000; Zecca and Struhl, 2002a, 2002b)]. Second, growth promoted by Notch pulls the sources of these two morphogens apart, alleviating the repression of wing fate by Vn/EGFR, and ensuring Wg-mediated appendage specification. If growth is inhibited at this critical stage, the sources of these two ligands remain very close and Wg is unable to induce wing fate due to EGFR-mediated wing fate repression (Rafel and Milán, 2008). Thus, while Wg and Vn play an instructive

role in the segregation of the wing and notum developmental fields, growth promoted by Notch has a permissive role in this process by modulating the timing and range of activity of these two signalling molecules (Dekanty and Milán, 2011; Rafel and Milán, 2008). However, expression of Vn is maintained by a positive feedback loop through the activation of the EGFR pathway (Figure 64). Thus, proximity to other cells generates a "community effect" that serves as a mechanism to sustain Vn expression (Golembo et al., 1999; Paul et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2000). In this sense, it is expected that in the absence of additional repressors or mechanisms of confinement, the signal propagates through a field of cells, resulting in a runaway situation with too many cells becoming part of the community and recruited to the body wall fate. Thus, an autocrine loop that in principle functions to sustain Vn/EGFR and hence the notum field - in a defined group of proximal cells. can be turned into an amplification loop that colonizes the entire primordium. The results obtained in this thesis suggest that JAK/STAT has a permissive role in the process of wing fate specification, by repressing EGFR-regulated genes and limiting productive Vn/EGFR activity proximally. This restricts the notum field to its normal position in the proximal territory of the early wing primordium, preventing its distal expansion and allowing Wg to correctly trigger wing development (Figure 64).



Figure 64. Upd and JAK/STAT signalling in the model for wing fate specification. During second instar the ligands Vein (blue) and Wg (red) are expressed in the proximal and distal territories of the wing primordia, respectively. Vein signals through the EGFR pathway to induce notum fate in the proximal region, while Wg induces wing fate in the distal domain. Vein blocks Wg responsiveness to inhibit wing development in ectopic locations and Wg prevents Vein to be expressed in the distal territory. A feedforward loop between Vein and EGFR sustains Vein/EGFR signalling in the proximal domain. Upd (dark green) is expressed in distal cells in a broader domain than Wg and signals through the JAK/STAT pathway (light green) throughout the wing primordia with lower levels in the proximal region. Low STAT92E activity in the presumptive body wall is required for the proper development of the notum. JAK/STAT represses EGFR target gene expression and limits productive Vn/EGFR autocrine loop proximally. This confines the notum field to the proximal territory, preventing its distal expansion to allow Wg-mediated wing specification.
A cell-autonomous requirement for JAK/STAT in P cells

In the Drosophila wing, the biological function of JAK/STAT signalling is best understood by its role in hinge growth and patterning (Avala-Camargo et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013). Indeed, as development proceeds and the ligand Upd becomes restricted to the hinge and pleura, the 10xSTAT-GFP activity reporter retracts from the nascent wing pouch and focuses to these regions where it is robustly activated (Bach et al., 2007). Consistently, wings with stat92E mutant clones display a near complete lack of hinge structures and are directly attached to the thorax (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013). However, there is also evidence that JAK/STAT is required for the development of the wing pouch. The adult wing of *Drosophila* is decorated with longitudinal- and cross-veins that are arranged in a stereotyped pattern (Stark et al., 1999), and a number of signalling pathways such as Dpp, Hh, EGFR and Notch are involved in the positioning, patterning and differentiation of veins and intervein territories within the wing pouch (Blair, 2007: De Celis, 2003). Some hop or stat92E viable alleles show ectopic vein material in the adult wing blade (Rawlings et al., 2004; Yan et al., 1996b), and modulation of JAK/STAT activity causes variable gain or loss of veins along the proximo-distal axis of the wing (Harrison et al., 1995; Rawlings et al., 2004; Stec et al., 2013). These observations indicate that JAK/STAT signalling interacts with other vein-forming genes in the pouch at later stages of larval development. Further evidence that JAK/STAT has a broader and more extensive role besides its reporter activity in the hinge comes from the observation that hop mutant animals show a small-disc phenotype, suggesting impaired growth or viability (Mukherjee et al., 2005; Perrimon and Mahowald, 1986). Moreover, JAK/STAT is implicated in the process of cell competition (Rodrigues et al., 2012), a mechanism by which "weaker" but otherwise viable cells are detected and eliminated from mosaic tissues containing cells with distinct fitness (Amoyel and Bach, 2014; Levayer and Moreno, 2013; Morata and Ripoll, 1975).

In this sense, we observe a mild activation of the 10xSTAT-GFP reporter in the wing pouch at later stages of development, and confirm that this activity depends on the Upd receptor. While inhibition of the pathway in the A compartment does not cause a noticeable autonomous effect in terms of size, depletion of JAK/STAT in the entire wing or specifically in P cells causes a clear growth defect associated with a strong reduction of P territory. Eventually, the P compartment is completely lost, giving rise to a stronger decrease in the size of the wing pouch, which is now formed only by A cells. Further confirmation of this phenotype comes from the observation that hop²⁷ mutant wing discs, besides the reported small-disc phenotype (Mukheriee et al., 2005; Perrimon and Mahowald, 1986), discs also show a strong reduction in P compartment. Although the *hop*²⁷ mutant allele is described as amorphic (Luo et al., 1999), the P reduction in size is less penetrant than using the Gal4/UAS system for targeted depletion of JAK/STAT signalling components. This is to some extent expected since the maternal gene product deployed in the oocyte is sufficient to rescue embryonic and larval development of zygotic mutants until late larval or pupal stages (Perrimon and Mahowald, 1986). In rare cases, animals complete metamorphosis and die as pharate adults inside the pupal case.

In the leg imaginal disc, JAK/STAT has been shown to negatively regulate Wg and Dpp, restricting them to their normal position and thus promoting the formation of a single proximo-distal axis (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2007). We find that depletion of JAK/STAT in P cells also reduces the size of the P compartment in leg discs but the A compartment seems unaffected when the same RNAi is expressed in A cells. Thereby suggesting that in addition to its reported role in leg patterning, JAK/STAT might also control the size of

the P compartment in the leg. It is possible that JAK/STAT has a prevalent function in the P compartment of *Drosophila* appendages since the size of the P territory of the haltere primordium also depends on JAK/STAT.

The analysis in the size and distribution of clones mutant for a null stat92E allele support the results obtained by targeted depletion of JAK/STAT or in hop²⁷ mutant wing discs, and further confirm the autonomous and compartment-specific requirement for STAT92E in the P compartment. stat92E mutant clones are progressively eliminated from the tissue by cell competition when confronted with wild type cells, but the molecular nature of the low fitness of these mutant cells is not clear and appears to be independent of Myc, Yorkie, Wingless and ribosome biogenesis (Rodrigues et al., 2012). If the growth of the surrounding non-mutant tissue is impaired using the *Minute* technique, this confers a relative growth advantage to the stat92E mutant clones, which are now expected grow and colonize large territories of the wing disc. We do see this effect in the case of stat92E mutant clones generated in the A compartment, which seem to grow well and extensively populate the A compartment, although they end up covering a significantly smaller portion of this territory (40 %) compared to control clones (52 %). This may reflect either a general defect in cellular growth and/or proliferation or a specific requirement of JAK/STAT in particular regions - such as the hinge - that is not fulfilled by the increased protein biosynthetic capacity conferred by the Minute technique. In the P compartment the situation is different as stat92E clones, in spite of being conferred with a relative growth advantage, considerably fail to grow in this territory (21%) compared with stat92E clones in the adjacent A compartment (40 %), or with control clones in the P compartment (59 %). It is important to highlight that even with the Minute technique, stat92E clones still have a marked growth deficiency in the P compartment, revealing а

cell-autonomous requirement for JAK/STAT that cannot be compensated by conferring these cells a relative growth advantage compared to the surrounding *wild type* cells.

The wing disc appears to possess a size-sensing mechanism that measures global dimensions to arrest growth at a predetermined size, and this size is modulated by external inputs such as nutrient availability and temperature (Edgar, 2006; Mirth and Shingleton, 2012; Shingleton, 2010). This organ-autonomous control of size allows certain flexibility in the number and size of cells that each compartment contains at the end of the growth period while maintaining the final target size and proportions (Neufeld et al., 1998; Weigmann et al., 1997). Thus, the wing disc does not count cells numbers nor cell divisions, but dimensions (Day and Lawrence, 2000). Besides, the wing disc is highly resilient, as it is capable to overcome transient growth perturbations, ablation of fragments or even massive cell death after irradiation without affecting the final adult wing size or proportions (Haynie and Bryant, 1977; Martín and Morata, 2006; Mesquita et al., 2010; Milán et al., 1997). In this sense, JAK/STAT might be persistently required to maintain the size of the P compartment or, in contrast, the requirement might be limited to a defined time window. If the function of JAK/STAT in P cell is only required early but dispensable at later stages, chronic inhibition of JAK/STAT should not cause a strong growth defect since one would expect the wing disc to have enough time to recover during the later stages. However, chronic inhibition of STAT92E activity causes the severe undergrowth of the P compartment or even its complete loss, indicating that the pathway is required at least during late developmental stages. Our temporally and spatially controlled depletion of JAK/STAT indicates that STAT92E activity is required throughout development in P cells. We observe a P reduction already in early L3 (the end of the first half of larval development), and this phenotype is maintained or even enhanced when we chronically target STAT92E activity until the end of larval development. Interestingly, the reduction in the size of the P compartment observed in young discs is largely rescued when we restore JAK/STAT signalling to endogenous and normal levels during the second half of larval development. Although we have not monitored the cellular and molecular events occurring during the recovery process, it is expected that the growth perturbation caused by JAK/STAT depletion triggers a kind of compensatory proliferation (Mollereau et al., 2013; Perez-Garijo et al., 2004; Ryoo et al., 2004; Smith-Bolton et al., 2009). Thus, during this phase the P compartment would increase its growth rates relative to the A territory to catch up with the A compartment at the end of larval development. It is also possible that the P compartment recovers by just growing at its normal rates and the A compartment slows its growth or event stops growing as it approaches to its final size, thus "waiting" for the perturbed P compartment to reach a final target size (Gokhale et al., 2016; Martín and Morata, 2006; Mesquita et al., 2010). If so, this would require a systemic response to extend the duration of the larval growth period and allow the P compartment to recover while the A territory is growth-arrested (Colombani et al., 2012; Garelli et al., 2012; Katsuyama et al., 2015; Parker and Shingleton, 2011). Although there is not an obvious and generalized developmental delay between experiments and controls neither in chronic nor in temporally-controlled assays, it is possible that heterogeneities at the population level both in growth rates and/or developmental timing permits the operation of both mechanisms.

JAK/STAT promotes the cycling and survival of P cells

We show that the reduction in the size of the P compartment is not a consequence of changes in cell identity as P cells mutant for *stat92E* maintain normal levels of the P-selector Engrailed and consequently respect

the AP compartment boundary. In contrast, in the lineage tracing experiment we do see that a small number of cells from P compartment origin crossed to the A compartment, but this number is very low and does not seem to explain the observed reduction in the size of the P compartment. It is possible that a fraction of these A cells with P origin result from a few founder P cells that violated the compartment boundary and proliferated in their new A territory. Thus, perhaps only a fraction of P-origin cells found in the A compartment genuinely crossed the boundary, while the rest should be their progeny. We found this cellular behaviour very similar to the transgressions of compartment boundaries and cell reprogramming observed during regeneration in imaginal discs (Herrera and Morata, 2014), and this anticipated that reduced survival cues might explain the reduction of the P compartment. We also considered two alterative hypothesis involving cell fate changes in the P compartment: a wing-to-notum transformation and the wing-to-haltere homeotic change. In both cases the molecular markers for wing and haltere identity were unaffected.

JAK/STAT does not autonomously modulate physiological levels of the major organ-intrinsic growth regulators, such as Dpp signalling, Hippo pathway and Myc levels. The case of Dpp is particularly interesting because the width of the Spalt domain does not appear to scale with the reduced size of the P compartment. In general, altering the size of one compartment is accompanied by the expansion or contraction of the Dpp gradient according to the size of the field being patterned, and this ensures that pattern scales to accommodate differences in disc size (Ferreira and Milán, 2015; Teleman and Cohen, 2000). The observation that the Hippo pathway activity and Myc protein are unaffected in P compartments depleted for JAK/STAT is consistent with the fact that *stat92E* mutant cells are outcompeted by winner cells independently of Yorkie and Myc (Rodrigues et al., 2012), and that *stat92E* mutant clones are hardly recovered in the P compartment in spite of the growth advantage conferred by the *Minute* technique.

In general, cell death during larval development is very low, except for a moderate increase at the L2-L3 larval molt and at the hinge-notum border during late third instar (Milán et al., 1997). Therefore, the developmental role of apoptosis in wing development is considered to have a minor contribution in terms of size and shape, except for a late function in the refinement of hairs and sensory bristle number and spacing (Koto et al., 2011; Takemura and Adachi-Yamada, 2011). However, we observe high levels of apoptosis in the P compartment of hop²⁷ mutant wing discs throughout development as well in targeted inhibition of JAK/STAT in P cells. Indeed, these levels of apoptosis contribute to the reduction in the P compartment since blocking apoptosis by different means substantially rescues the size of this territory. STAT92E has been shown to have a protective role against irradiation-induced apoptosis by regulating dIAP1 (Betz et al., 2008). Consistent with this report, we show that JAK/STAT contributes to maintain endogenous levels of dIAP1 in the P compartment, but A cells do not seem to require STAT92E activity to survive as well as to sustain physiological levels of dIAP1. In agreement with an asymmetric requirement for JAK/STAT in preventing apoptosis, we do not detect high levels of cell death in the A compartment of wing discs entirely mutant for hop²⁷, and we do not observe any noticeable growth defect in the A wing pouch when JAK/STAT is inhibited in this compartment. Although the amount of cell death in the A compartment in *hop*²⁷ mutant discs is low, it seems to be above the basal levels observed in a *wild type* discs. We also observe a slight increase in dying cells in the A compartment while downregulating JAK/STAT activity only in P cells, thereby suggesting a non-autonomous effect. This apparent non-autonomous effect may be explained if posterior-dying cells and apoptotic corpses, once basally extruded from the epithelium, are free to passively move around the basal plane of the disc. In contrast to this view, it is known that apoptotic cells release a number of signals before dying and there is increasing evidence for a non-apoptotic role of Caspases (Miura, 2012; Perez-Garijo and Steller, 2015). Several non-autonomous effects following Caspase activation have been described, such as apoptosisinduced proliferation [AIP (Fan and Bergmann, 2008)], apoptosis-induced apoptosis [AIA (Mesquita et al., 2010; Milán et al., 1997; Pérez-Garijo et al., 2013)], as well as Caspase-dependent cell cycle arrest (Mesquita et al., 2010). Therefore, it is possible that high levels of apoptosis in the P compartment caused by JAK/STAT downregulation non-autonomously induce apoptotic cell death in the adjacent A compartment, resembling the phenomena of AIA. In favour of this view, blocking Caspase function in P cells rescues the high levels of autonomous cell death as well as the low number of apoptotic cells in the A compartment. However, we cannot exclude that a fraction of these few apoptotic cells in basal planes of the A compartment come from posterior-dying cells.

In addition to its reported protective roles upon tissue stress (Betz et al., 2008; La Fortezza et al., 2016; Verghese and Su, 2016), the JAK/STAT pathway is a positive regulator of proliferation in several *Drosophila* tissues, such as the eye imaginal disc or the hematopoietic organ (Bach et al., 2003; Harrison et al., 1995; Tsai and Sun, 2004), and is involved in a variety of *Drosophila* tumour models (Classen et al., 2009; Herranz et al., 2012; Luo et al., 1995; Tamori et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2010) as well in regeneration (Jiang et al., 2009; Santabárbara-Ruiz et al., 2015). In the wing disc, it has been shown to upregulate CycB upon pathway stimulation (Mukherjee et al., 2005). In this sense, we observe a downregulation in the levels of the G2/M rate-limiting CycA and CycB in the P but not the A compartment upon

targeted inhibition of JAK/STAT, suggesting a cell cycle defect. Indeed, overexpression of CycA largely rescues the size of the P compartment, indicating that impaired cell cycling contributes to the undergrowth of the P compartment. However, it would be necessary to analyse the distribution of cells in the different phases of the cell cycle since the downregulation of mitotic cyclins might reflect either a G1/S or a G2/M defect. For instance, in mature wing primordia, a zone of non-proliferating cells (ZNC) at the DV boundary is arrested in G1, and in these cells CycA is nearly absent (Herranz et al., 2008; Johnston and Edgar, 1998).). In contrast, in rca1 mutants (Regulator of Cyclin A) both CycA and CycB are prematurely degraded by APC (Anaphase-promoting complex) during G2, and these cells fail to execute mitosis (Grosskortenhaus and Sprenger, 2002). The downregulation of CycB might be consequence of lower levels of CycA, as CycB is prematurely degraded in cycA mutant embryos (Dienemann and Sprenger, 2004). Despite mitotic cyclins have partially redundant functions (Knoblich and Lehner, 1993; Lehner and O'Farrell, 1990; Sigrist et al., 1995), CycA is the only essential mitotic cyclin in *Drosophila*, as the presence of CycB is not sufficient to induce mitosis in cycA mutants (Jacobs et al., 1998), even after overexpression (Dienemann and Sprenger, 2004). This suggests that a function of CycA can apparently not be fulfilled by CycB, which fits well with our observation that CycB overexpression does not rescue the undergrowth of the P compartment. We have not explored the molecular mechanisms underlying CycA regulation.

Our results indicate that P cells are not fully arrested since blocking apoptosis substantially rescues tissue size, indicating that P cells can proliferate, possibly at slower rates. We cannot rule out that impaired cell cycling may cause apoptosis in some P cells, but it is unlikely that most of the cell death triggered by loss of STAT92E is a consequence of cell cycle deregulation, as one would expect that overexpression of CycA to fully tissue size. In this sense, visual inspection of basal planes in CycA-overexpressing P compartments confirms the presence of pyknotic cells and cellular debris. We thus favour the model in which STAT92E independently promotes the survival and cycling of the Hh-expressing cell population.

JAK/STAT counteracts the negative effects of Engrailed

We show that the undergrowth of the P compartment caused by JAK/STAT deregulation is due to the presence of the transcriptional repressor Engrailed in P cells, as reducing En levels rescues apoptosis, CvcA levels and consequently tissue size. Moreover, overexpression of En in its own domain phenocopies the loss of JAK/STAT in terms of dIAP1 downregulation, apoptosis, reduced CycA levels and more important, a decrease in the size of the P compartment. These results indicate that JAK/STAT promotes the cycling and survival of P cells by counteracting the negative effect of En on these two genes. Interestingly, overexpression of En in P cells considerably reduces the size of the posterior wing pouch and posterior notum, but the posterior hinge – where JAK/STAT activity is highest – is not visibly affected, possibly by enhanced protection of these cells against high levels of En. We have not explored the mechanisms by which dIAP1 and CycA are regulated by STAT92E and En. JAK/STAT has been shown to directly control diap1 transcription via two conserved STAT92E binding sites (Betz et al., 2008) and cis-regulatory maps of the Drosophila genome have identified two En binding sites on the *diap1* locus (Nègre et al., 2011; Roy et al., 2010). Based on these data, STAT92E and En might be directly regulating *diap1* in P cells. However, during normal development physiological levels of dIAP1 do not depend on En, as downregulation of En alone does not increase dIAP1 levels (Figure 65). Therefore, endogenous dIAP1 levels do not result from a balance between positive STAT92E inputs and negative regulation by En.

Interestingly, one of the STAT92E and En binding sites is located in an overlapping fragment at the first *diap1* intron, raising the possibility of a competitive mode of regulation. In this scenario, STAT92E would be normally bound to- and positively regulating *diap1* while preventing En binding and/or *diap1* repression. Thus, depletion of JAK/STAT in P cells would allow En to bind and downregulate *diap1*.



Figure 65. Engrailed does not regulate physiological levels of dIAP1. Late third instar wing disc expressing *en*^{*RNAi*} in the dorsal compartment under the control of *apterous-gal4* (*ap*), and labelled to visualize dIAP1 protein (green or white), DAPI (blue) and myrTomato to label the domain of transgene expression. Scale bars, 50 µm.

The gene *en* is subject to multiple modes of regulation involving both positive and negative autoregulation as well as epigenetic maintenance through the PcG proteins (Garaulet et al., 2008; Heemskerk et al., 1991; Moazed and O'Farrell, 1992). In the embryo Wg sustains En expression in adjoining cells but later *en* expression becomes independent of this extracellular influence and comes to transiently rely on positive autoregulation (Heemskerk et al., 1991). In the wing imaginal disc, it has been shown that high levels of En interfere with wing development due to the capacity of En to negatively regulate its own expression (Garaulet et al., 2008; Guillén et al., 1995; Tabata et al., 1995). Consistent with this proposal, we observe an increase in the expression levels of the *en-gal4* driver - which is inserted in the *en* locus and behaves as a transcriptional reporter – in *en*^{RNAi} expressing wing discs. The functional significance is uncertain but indicates that the amount of En transcriptional repressor has to be precisely modulated. In this sense, our data indicates that even endogenous levels of En are potentially deleterious for cellular viability, unless this is prevented by JAK/STAT signalling.

As is it often the case in development, a discrete number of genes is recurrently used to specify cell fate and regulate gene expression in a context dependent manner. We propose that the capacity of En to block cell cycle and promote cell death might be required in another developmental context and that this capacity is specifically suppressed in the developing *Drosophila* limbs by JAK/STAT, and modulated by the negative autoregulation of En. It is interesting to note in this context that En-expressing territories in the embryonic ectoderm are highly enriched in apoptotic cells (Pazdera et al., 1998). Whether this apoptosis plays a biological role and relies on En activity requires further study.

Biological relevance of JAK/STAT in wing growth

Later in development, once the wing field is specified, restricted expression of Dpp at the AP compartment boundary organizes the growth and patterning of the whole developing appendage (Burke and Basler, 1996; de Celis et al., 1996; Martín-Castellanos and Edgar, 2002; Nellen et al., 1996b; Restrepo et al., 2014). Dpp expression is induced in A cells by the activity of Hh coming from P cells which express the En transcriptional repressor (Strigini and Cohen, 1997; Tabata et al., 1995; Zecca et al., 1995). We show that depletion of JAK/STAT in the P compartment or in the entire wing primordia eventually leads to the total loss of the Hh-expressing cell population. Consequently, Dpp expression is abolished at the AP boundary causing a dramatic reduction of the size of the entire wing pouch. Consistently, boosting Hh production in P cells largely decreases the fraction of wing discs that lost Dpp. Collectively, our results indicate that through an autonomous function in the P compartment, JAK/STAT controls overall organ size by maintaining a pool of Hh-expressing cells sufficient to induce stable Dpp expression at the AP boundary, thus generating a well sized and fullyfunctional limb primordia (Figure 66).



Figure 66. JAK/STAT signalling controls overall organ size. Upd (green) signals through the JAK/STAT and promotes the cycling and survival of P cells (red) by counteracting the negative effects of Engrailed on CycA and dIAP1, thus allowing En-dependent induction of Hh and promoting Dpp-mediated appendage growth (blue). Negative autoregulation of En contributes to buffer the potential deleterious effect of En on cycling and survival.

The development of the wing hinge region, which connects the developing appendage to the surrounding body wall and depends on JAK/STAT activity (Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013; Johnstone et al., 2013), has been previously shown to restrict the Wg organizer and thus delimit the size and position of the developing appendage (Casares and Mann, 2000). Our results support the notion that JAK/STAT and the hinge region contributes to isolate the body wall and appendage sources of Dpp to delimit its organizing activity to the developing appendage. Thus, besides its structural function in the adult, the hinge has an important function in coordinating growth and tissue patterning. Taken together, our results reveal a fundamental role of JAK/STAT in promoting appendage specification and growth through the regulation of

morphogen production and activity, and a role of pro-survival cues and mitotic cyclins in regulating the pool of morphogen-producing cells in a developing organ.

Multicellular organisms exhibit great diversity of body sizes and shapes as well as an ample repertory of appendages and anatomical adaptations. In spite of such diversity, growth control, patterning and morphogenesis appear to be governed by a discrete and conserved number of developmental pathways recurrently used for different purposes (Rokas, 2008a, 2008b). Studies of limb development, both in vertebrates and invertebrates, have been instrumental in the identification of the short- and long-range signaling molecules controlling growth and pattern formation in developing limbs (Affolter and Basler, 2007; Baena-Lopez et al., 2012; Bénazet and Zeller, 2009; Dekanty and Milán, 2011; Restrepo et al., 2014). of the BMP/Dpp, Sonic Hedgehog/Hedgehog, Morphogens and Wnt/Wingless families play a conserved role in promoting growth and fate specification within growing limbs, which emerge as outgrowths perpendicular to the major axes of the developing animal (Capdevila and Belmonte, 2001; Tickle, 1999; Zeller et al., 2009). The striking parallelisms in the molecules and mechanisms underlying limb development in vertebrates and invertebrates have contributed to the proposal that an ancient patterning system is being recurrently used to generate body wall outgrowths (Mercader et al., 1999; Panganiban et al., 1997; Shubin et al., 1997, 2009). Whether the conserved JAK/STAT pathway also plays a developmental role in the specification or growth of vertebrate limbs by regulating morphogen production or activity is a tempting question that remains to be elucidated.

Conclusions

1. Early in development, JAK/STAT ensures proper wing vs notum subdivision.

2. Loss of JAK/STAT early in development impairs wing fate specification and results in the duplication of the notum structures.

3. JAK/STAT represses EGFR target genes and thus restricts body wall identity to the most proximal regions of the wing primordium.

4. Ectopic activation of JAK/STAT in proximal regions generates ectopic wings and phenocopies the loss of EGFR signalling in the body wall.

5. JAK/STAT restricts the expression pattern and levels of its own ligand Upd.

6. JAK/STAT is required throughout development to maintain the size of the posterior compartment of imaginal discs.

7. Apoptosis and impaired cell cycling contribute to the reduction in the size of the posterior compartment.

8. JAK/STAT promotes the cycling and survival of posterior cells through the positive regulation of CycA and dIAP1.

9. JAK/STAT counteracts the negative effects of Engrailed on cell cycling and survival.

10. JAK/STAT controls overall organ size by maintaining the pool of Hh-expressing cells to ensure the stable and localized expression of the Dpp organizer.

11. Growth of the hinge promoted by JAK/STAT isolates the body wall and appendage sources of Dpp to restrict the organizing activity of Dpp to the developing appendage.

Material and Methods

Drosophila strains and genetics

Flies were raised at 25 °C (unless otherwise indicated) in a 12/12 h day/night period on standard *Drosophila* medium containing 4 % glucose, 55 g/L yeast, 0,65 % agar, 28 g/L wheat flour, 4 ml/L propionic acid and 1,1 g/L nipagin). Larvae were grown in standard *Drosophila* medium at 25 °C or 29 °C to enhance transgene expression. In the case of strong gal4 drivers (eg. *ci-gal4*, *ptc-gal4*, *hth-gal4*, *sd-gal4*) larvae were generally grown at 25°C to decrease larval and pupal lethality.

Gal4 drivers

The following stocks were obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (BDSC) or are described in Flybase: *en-gal4* (BDSC 30564); *hh-gal4; sd-gal4; ci-gal4; upd-gal4* (Tsai and Sun, 2004); *hth-gal4; ptc-gal4.*

Other transcriptional reporter lines

The following stocks were obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (BDSC) or are described in Flybase: *10xSTAT-GFP* (BDSC 26197 and 26198); *mirror-lacZ* (BDSC 10880); *apterous-lacZ; vein-lacZ* [(Rafel and Milán, 2008), gift from C. Estella]; *expanded-lacZ; diap1-lacZ* (BDSC 12093); *dpp-lacZ*.

UAS-transgenes

The following stocks were obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (BDSC) or are described in Flybase: *UAS-dome*^{ΔCYT} [(Brown et al., 2001), *UAS-dome*^{DN} in the text]; *UAS-upd* [(Ayala-Camargo et al., 2013), gift from F. Serras]; *UAS-hop::myc* [(Sotillos et al., 2008), gift from J. Castelli-Gair); *UAS-diap1*[(Betz et al., 2008), gift from H. Steller]; *UAS-p35* (BDSC 5072); *UAS-vn::aos* [(Schnepp et al., 1998), gift from A. Simcox];

UAS-Egfr^{ATOP4.2}[(Queenan et al., 1997), gift from G. Jiménez]; UAS-araucan; UAS-hh::GFP[(Gradilla et al., 2014), gift from I. Guerrero]; UAS-en; UAS-sgg (BDSC 5255); UAS-notum; UAS-wg; UAS-CycA (BSDC 6633); UAS-CycB::HA [(Dienemann and Sprenger, 2004), gift from E. Martin-Blanco]; UAS-dcr2 (BDSC 24644 and 24651); ubi-FRT-stop-GFP (BDSC 32250); UAS-FLP (BDSC 4539), UAS-smo^{5A} (UAS-smo^{DN} in the text, BDSC 23943); UAS-myristoylated-Tomato (UAS-myrT, BDSC 32222); UAS-GFP (BDSC 4775, 6658 and 6874); UAS-myristoylated-GFP (UAS-myrGFP BDSC 32196); UAS-RFP (BDSC 30556).

The following *UAS-RNAi* stocks were used to knockdown gene function by RNAi-mediated post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS), and provided by the BDSC or the Vienna *Drosophila* RNAi Center (VDRC): *UAS-dome*^{RNAi} (VDRC 106071 and BDSC 34618); *UAS-hop*^{RNAi} (BDSC 32966); *UAS-stat92E*^{RNAi} (BDSC 33637 and VDRC 106980); *UAS-dronc*^{RNAi} (VDRC 23033); *UAS-en*^{RNAi} (VDRC 105678 and BDSC 26752); *UAS-wg*^{RNAi} (BDSC 33902).

Following the protocol described in (Green et al., 2014), *UAS-RNAi* strains from the VDRC KK stock collection were routinely tested for the existence of unwanted second site insertions by a diagnostic PCR and cleaned by a genetic recombination scheme. According to the VDRC, the *UAS-dome*^{*RNAi*} line used in Figure 36 (VDRC 106071) does not target the mRNA encoding for the truncated form of *dome*^{*ACYT*} (Dome^{DN} in the text).

Mutant alleles and FRT-bearing chromosomes

wg^{CX4} (BDSC 2980); *wg*^{CX3} (BDSC 2977); *Egfr*^{F2} (BDSC 2768); *iro*^{EGP7} [(Andreu et al., 2012), gift from S. Campuzano); *hop*²⁷ (BDSC 8493); *FRT82B stat92E*^{85c9} [(Rodrigues et al., 2012), gift from F. Serras]; *FRT82B stat92E*^{85c9}

ubiRFP [(Schroeder et al., 2013), gift from G. Halder); *FRT82B M(3)95A2 ubiGFP; FRT82B arm-lacZ; FRT82B; Df(2)en^E* (a deficiency that covers both the *engrailed* and *invected* genes, BDSC 2216).

Mosaic analysis and lineage tracing

Loss of function clones for the $stat92E^{85c9}$ allele were generated in the following genotypes:

(1) *hs-FLP; FRT82B stat92E*^{85c9}/*FRT82B M(3)95A2 ubiGFP* (Minute + clones)

(2) *hs-FLP; FRT82B stat92E*^{85c9}/*FRT82B arm-lacZ* (twin/clone analysis)

(3) upd-gal4, UAS-myrGFP/hs-FLP;; FRT82B stat92E^{85c9} ubiRFP/FRT82B

Flies were allowed to lay eggs for 4 h at 25 °C in 55 mm petri dishes with standard fly medium. Hatched larvae were synchronized at early first instar and allowed to grow at 25 °C in standard fly medium. 16 h later (40 h after egg laying, AEL), larvae were heat-shocked at 38 °C for 1 h, and wing discs were dissected ~100 h after clone induction for the Minute clones (1), ~85 h after clone induction for the twin/clone analysis (2), and 24-48 h after clone induction to monitor *upd* expression in stat92E mutant cells (3). Lineage tracing of the P compartment was generated as described in (Evans et al., 2009) using the following genotype: *UAS-FLP/ubi-FRT-stop-FRT-GFP; UAS-dome*^{ACYT}/hh-GAL4.

Temporal and regional control of target gene expression

Transgene expression was temporally controlled in the following experiments:

(1) Ectopic expression of Upd. To monitor *mirror-lacZ* expression, flies were allowed to lay eggs at 25 °C overnight and *ptc-gal4, UAS-GFP/UAS-upd;*

mirror-lacZ/tub-gal80^{TS} larvae were raised at 29 °C until dissection in second or third instar larval stages. To visualize ectopic wings emerging from the notum, larvae were maintained at 18 °C, shifted to 29 °C in late second instar (5 days after egg laying, AEL) and dissected at late third instar stages.

(2) Overexpression of Shaggy. Flies were allowed to lay eggs at 18 °C overnight, *ptc-gal4, UAS-GFP/ UAS-sgg; tub-gal80^{TS}/+* larvae were initially grown at 18 °C to bypass early larval lethality, shifted to 29 °C in early second instar stage (4 days after egg laying, AEL) and wing discs were dissected at late third instar stages.

(3) Temporal depletion of JAK/STAT in the P compartment. Flies were allowed to lay eggs at 25 °C overnight, control (*UAS-GFP/+; hh-gal4, tub-gal80^{TS}/UAS-dome*^{DN}) larvae were transferred to 29 °C, and wing discs were dissected at day 3 and 5 AEL (at early and late third instar stages, respectively). To address the capacity of the wing disc to recover P compartment size, experimental (*hh-gal4, tub-gal80^{TS}/UAS-dome*^{DN}) larvae were grown at 29 °C, shifted to 18 °C at day 3 AEL (at early third instar), and kept at this temperature for 4 days until wing disc dissection (at late third instar).

(4) Overexpression of Engrailed. Flies were allowed to lay eggs at 18 °C overnight, and *hh-gal4, tub-gal80^{TS}/UAS-en* larvae were shifted to 29°C in early second (4 days AEL) or mid third instar (7 days AEL), and wing discs were dissected 72 h or 24-48 h later, respectively.

Histochemistry

Antibodies

Mouse anti-Wg (1:10-50) (4D4, DSHB); goat anti-Hth (1:50) (sc-26187, Santa Cruz Biotechnology); mouse anti-Nub (1:10) (gift from S. Cohen); rabbit anti-Nub (1:600) (gift from X. Yang); mouse anti-βgal (1:50) (40-1a, DSHB); mouse anti-En (1:5) (4D9, DSHB); rat anti-Ci (1:10) (2A1, DSHB); mouse anti-Ptc (1:50) (Apa1, DSHB); mouse anti-CycA (1:50) (A12, DSHB); mouse anti-CycB (1:50) (F2F4, DSHB); rabbit anti-CycE (1:100) (sc-481, Santa Cruz Biotechnology); mouse anti-Diap1 (1:200) (gift from B. Hay); rabbit anti-Tsh (1:600) (gift from S. Cohen); rabbit anti-Sal (1:500) (gift of R. Barrio), guinea pig anti-dMyc (1:1000) (gift from G. Morata); rabbit anti-Gal4 (1:100) (sc-577, Santa Cruz Biotechnology); sheep anti-Dig-AP (1:2000) (11093274910, Roche Diagnostics); Secondary antibodies labelled with Cy2, Cy3, Cy5 and Alexa 647 fluorophores were obtained from Jackson ImmunoResearch and diluted (1:400) in PBT.

Immunostaining

Larvae were dissected in cold PBS, fixed for 20 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, rinsed 3 times during 15 minutes with PBT (PBS + 0,2% Triton-X), and blocked for 1 hour in BBT (PBT + BSA 0,2% + 250 mM NaCl) in a nutating mixer. Primary antibodies were diluted in PBT in a final volume of 50 µl and incubated overnight at 4 °C. After incubation, samples were rinsed 4 times during 15 minutes with PBT, and stained with DAPI and fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies diluted in PBT for 2 hours at room temperature in a nutating mixer. After secondary antibody incubation, samples were rinsed 4 times during 15 minutes in PBT with a final 5 minutes rinse in PBS to eliminate the excess of detergent. Samples were stored and mounted in glycerol-based mounting medium

[40 ml Glycerol + 5 ml PBS 10X + 400 μ l N-propyl-gallate (50% m/v in ethanol)]. Images were captured using a Leica TCS SP2 or SP5 confocal microscopes and analyzed with the FIJI software for image processing (Schindelin et al., 2012). Images were mounted into figures using Adobe Photoshop CS5.

TUNEL assay

Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) is a method for detecting double-stranded, low molecular weight DNA fragments as well as single strand breaks, by labeling the terminal end of nucleic acids. TUNEL assay was adapted from (Wang et al., 1999) with the In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit, TMR red (Roche Diagnostics).

In situ hybridization

Detection of *upd* mRNA was performed by the NBT/BCIP enzymatic amplification reaction, which produces a chromogenic staining, following the protocol described in (Milán et al., 1996). The Dig-labeled antisense RNA probes were generated and kindly provided by F. Serras (Santabárbara-Ruiz et al., 2015).

Measurements and statistical analysis

For each independent experiment, a control using the same number of UAS-transgenes was raised in parallel. For each experiment and control, the corresponding mean and standard deviation was calculated, and a two tailed unpaired *t*-test assuming equal variances was carried out in Microsoft Excel, *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001. p-value < 0.05 was considered

statistically significant for all analyses. Graphical representations of data were done using GraphPad Prism version 6.07.

Quantification of tissue size

(1) Quantification of the wing discs P/A ratio in JAK/STAT depleted discs: flies were allowed to lay eggs at 25 °C overnight, resulting larvae of the genotype *en-gal4*, *UAS-GFP*; *UAS-dome*^{DN} were transferred to 29°C and wing discs were dissected in late third instar stages. The size of the A compartment and of the whole wing primordium were measured using Fiji Software and the size of the P compartment was obtained by subtracting the A compartment size from total wing disc size. The number of wing discs analysed for each experiment are indicated in the corresponding figure legends. Since the P/A ratio of late third instar wing discs is largely constant, the same dataset (n=36) of the genotype *en-gal4*, *UAS-GFP/+* was used as a *wild type* control.

(2) Quantification of the wing discs P/A ratio in wing discs overexpressing Engrailed: overexpression of UAS-en was temporally controlled to bypass embryonic lethality. Flies were allowed to lay eggs at 18 °C overnight, and *hh-gal4, tub-gal80^{TS}/UAS-en* larvae were shifted to 29°C in mid third instar (7 days AEL). Wing discs were dissected 72 h later and the P/A ratio was measured as described above (1). Since the P/A ratio of late third instar wing discs is largely constant, the same dataset (n=17) of the genotype *UAS-GFP/+; hh-gal4, tub-gal80^{TS}/+* was used as a *wild type* control.

(3) Clonal area measurements: the Fiji Software, was used to measure the size of the A compartment and of the whole wing primordium. The size of the P compartment was obtained by subtracting the A compartment size from total wing disc size. The clonal area that covers each compartment was obtained by measuring the area devoid of GFP expression in each domain

with a macro for the Fiji Software provided by the Advanced Digital Microscope Facility at the IRB Barcelona. The clone area/compartment area ratios were calculated.

Quantification of fluorescent signal intensity

Control (n=18) and experimental (n=23) wing discs were fixed and stained together to avoid variability between discs. Samples were imaged under identical settings using a Leica SP5 confocal microscope. Confocal conditions were adjusted to minimize saturated pixels with maximal intensity. To quantify GFP and Gal4 expression levels in the posterior compartment, average signal intensity per pixel was obtained from raw images using the histogram function of Fiji Software. The corresponding mean and standard deviation was calculated, and a two tailed unpaired *t*-test assuming equal variances was carried out in Microsoft Excel. ***p<0.001. Graphical representations of data were done using GraphPad Prism version 6.07.

Quantification of cell death

Images from basal planes were considered for the determination of the number of cells labeled by TUNEL in the P compartment, and absolute numbers of apoptotic cells were quantified with the Fiji Software. All genotypes were analyzed in parallel. The corresponding standard deviation was calculated, and a t-test analysis was carried out. *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001. Graphical representations of data were done using GraphPad Prism version 6.07.

Bibliography

Adachi-Yamada, T., Fujimura-Kamada, K., Nishida, Y., and Matsumoto, K. (1999). Distortion of proximodistal information causes JNK-dependent apoptosis in Drosophila wing. Nature *400*, 166–169.

Adams, M.D. (2000). The Genome Sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. Science (80-.). 287, 2185–2195.

Affolter, M., and Basler, K. (2007). The Decapentaplegic morphogen gradient: from pattern formation to growth regulation. Nat. Rev. Genet. *8*, 663–674.

Agaisse, H., Petersen, U.M., Boutros, M., Mathey-Prevot, B., and Perrimon, N. (2003). Signaling role of hemocytes in Drosophila JAK/STAT-dependent response to septic injury. Dev. Cell *5*, 441–450.

Aldaz, S. (2005). Patterning function of homothorax/extradenticle in the thorax of Drosophila. Development *132*, 439–446.

Aldaz, S., Morata, G., and Azpiazu, N. (2003). The Pax-homeobox gene eyegone is involved in the subdivision of the thorax of Drosophila. Development *130*, 4473–4482.

Aldaz, S., Escudero, L.M., and Williams, N. (2010). Quick guide Imaginal discs. Curr. Biol. *20*, 429–431.

Alexandre, C., Baena-Lopez, A., and Vincent, J.-P. (2014). Patterning and growth control by membrane-tethered Wingless. Nature *505*, 180–185.

Almudi, I., Stocker, H., Hafen, E., Corominas, M., and Serras, F. (2009). SOCS36E specifically interferes with Sevenless signaling during Drosophila eye development. Dev. Biol. *326*, 212–223.

Amoyel, M., and Bach, E. a (2014). Cell competition: how to eliminate your neighbours. Development *141*, 988–1000.

Andersen, D.S., Colombani, J., and Léopold, P. (2013). Coordination of organ growth: Principles and outstanding questions from the world of insects. Trends Cell Biol. *23*, 336–344.

Anderson, C., and Stern, C.D. (2016). Organizers in Development. In Current Topics in Developmental Biology, (Elsevier Inc.), pp. 435–454.

Andreu, M.J., Gonzalez-Perez, E., Ajuria, L., Samper, N., Gonzalez-Crespo, S., Campuzano, S., and Jimenez, G. (2012). Mirror represses pipe expression in follicle cells to initiate dorsoventral axis formation in Drosophila. Development *139*, 1110–1114.

Arbouzova, N.I., and Zeidler, M.P. (2006). JAK/STAT signalling in Drosophila: insights into conserved regulatory and cellular functions. Development *133*, 2605–2616.

Arias, A. (2003). White as morphogens? The view from the wing of Drosophila. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *4*, 1–5.

Arthur, W. (2006). D'Arcy Thompson and the theory of transformations. Nat. Rev. Genet. 7, 401–406.

Austin, C.L., Manivannan, S.N., and Simcox, A. (2014). TGF- ligands can substitute for the neuregulin Vein in Drosophila development. Development *141*, 4110–4114.

Avila, F.W., and Erickson, J.W. (2007). Drosophila JAK/STAT Pathway Reveals Distinct Initiation and Reinforcement Steps in Early Transcription of Sxl. Curr. Biol. *17*, 643–648.

Ayala-Camargo, A., Ekas, L.A., Flaherty, M.S., Baeg, G.H., and Bach, E.A. (2007). The JAK/STAT pathway regulates proximo-distal patterning in Drosophila. Dev. Dyn. *236*, 2721–2730.

Ayala-Camargo, A., Anderson, A.M., Amoyel, M., Rodrigues, A.B., Flaherty, M.S., and Bach, E.A. (2013). JAK/STAT signaling is required for hinge growth and patterning in the Drosophila wing disc. Dev. Biol. *382*, 413–426.

Azpiazu, N., and Morata, G. (2000). Function and regulation of homothorax in the wing imaginal disc of Drosophila. Development *127*, 2685–2693.

Bach, E.A., Ekas, L.A., Ayala-Camargo, A., Flaherty, M.S., Lee, H., Perrimon, N., and Baeg, G.H. (2007). GFP reporters detect the activation of the Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway in vivo. Gene Expr. Patterns *7*, 323–331.

Bach, E. a, Vincent, S., Zeidler, M.P., and Perrimon, N. (2003). A sensitized genetic screen to identify novel regulators and components of the Drosophila janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription pathway. Genetics *165*, 1149–1166.

Baeg, G.H., Zhou, R., and Perrimon, N. (2005). Genome-wide RNAi analysis of JAK/STAT signaling components in Drosophila. Genes Dev. *19*, 1861–1870.

Baena-Lopez, L.A., Franch-Marro, X., and Vincent, J.P. (2009). Wingless promotes proliferative growth in a gradient-independent manner. Sci. Signal. *2*, ra60.

Baena-Lopez, L.A., Nojima, H., and Vincent, J.-P. (2012). Integration of morphogen signalling within the growth regulatory network. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. *24*, 166–172.

Baena-López, L.A., Baonza, A., and García-Bellido, A. (2005). The orientation of cell divisions determines the shape of Drosophila organs. Curr. Biol. *15*, 1640–1644.

Barrios, N., González-Pérez, E., Hernández, R., and Campuzano, S. (2015). The Homeodomain Iroquois Proteins Control Cell Cycle Progression and Regulate the Size of Developmental Fields. PLOS Genet. *11*, e1005463.

Bate, M., and Arias, A.M. (1991). The embryonic origin of imaginal discs in Drosophila. Development *112*, 755–761.

Beira, J. V, and Paro, R. (2016). The legacy of Drosophila imaginal discs. Chromosoma.

Bellen, H.J., Levis, R.W., Liao, G., He, Y., Carlson, J.W., Tsang, G., Evans-Holm, M., Hiesinger, P.R., Schulze, K.L., Rubin, G.M., et al. (2004). The BDGP gene disruption project: Single transposon insertions associated with 40% of Drosophila genes. Genetics *167*, 761–781.

Bellen, H.J., Levis, R.W., He, Y., Carlson, J.W., Evans-Holm, M., Bae, E., Kim, J., Metaxakis, A., Savakis, C., Schulze, K.L., et al. (2011). The Drosophila gene disruption project: progress using transposons with distinctive site specificities. Genetics *188*, 731–743.

Bénazet, J.-D.D., and Zeller, R. (2009). Vertebrate limb development: moving from classical morphogen gradients to an integrated 4-dimensional patterning system. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. *1*, a001339.

Bergmann, A., Agapite, J., McCall, K., and Steller, H. (1998). The Drosophila Gene hid Is a Direct Molecular Target of Ras-Dependent Survival Signaling. Cell *95*, 331–341.

Betz, A., Ryoo, H.D., Steller, H., and Darnell, J.E. (2008). STAT92E is a positive regulator of Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis 1 (DIAP/1) and protects against radiation-induced apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *105*, 13805–13810.

Betz, a, Lampen, N., Martinek, S., Young, M.W., and Darnell, J.E. (2001). A Drosophila PIAS homologue negatively regulates stat92E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *98*, 9563–9568.

Bieli, D., Kanca, O., Requena, D., Hamaratoglu, F., Gohl, D., Schedl, P., Affolter, M., Slattery, M., Müller, M., and Estella, C. (2015). Establishment of a Developmental Compartment Requires Interactions between Three Synergistic Cis-regulatory Modules. PLOS Genet. *11*, e1005376.

Bina, S., Wright, V.M., Fisher, K.H., Milo, M., and Zeidler, M.P. (2010). Transcriptional targets of Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway signalling as effectors of haematopoietic tumour formation. EMBO Rep. *11*, 201–207.

Binari, R., and Perrimon, N. (1994). Stripe-specific regulation of pair-rule genes by hopscotch, a putative Jak family tyrosine kinase in Drosophila. Genes Dev. *8*, 300–312.

Blair, S.S. (1993). Mechanisms of compartment formation: evidence that non-proliferating cells do not play a critical role in defining the D/V lineage restriction in the developing wing of Drosophila. Development *119*, 339–351.

Blair, S.S. (1995). Compartments and appendage development in Drosophila. Bioessays *17*, 299–309.

Blair, S.S. (2003). Genetic mosaic techniques for studying Drosophila development. Development *130*, 5065–5072.

Blair, S.S. (2007). Wing Vein Patterning in Drosophila and the Analysis of Intercellular Signaling. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *23*, 293–319.

Boehm, B., Westerberg, H., Lesnicar-Pucko, G., Raja, S., Rautschka, M., Cotterell, J., Swoger, J., and Sharpe, J. (2010). The role of spatially controlled cell proliferation in limb bud morphogenesis. PLoS Biol. *8*, e1000420.

Bosse, A., Stoykova, A., Nieselt-Struwe, K., Chowdhury, K., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A., and Gruss, P. (2000). Identification of a novel mouse Iroquois homeobox gene,Irx5, and chromosomal localisation of all members of the mouse Iroquois gene family. Dev. Dyn. *218*, 160–174.

Boveri, T. (1901). Die Polarität von Oocyte, Ei und Larve des Strongylocentrotus lividus. Zool. Jb. Abt. Anat. Ont 630–653.

Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Turkson, J., and Jove, R. (2000). STATs in oncogenesis. Oncogene 19, 2474–2488.

Brand, A.H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. Development 118, 401-415.

Braunstein, J., Brutsaert, S., Olson, R., and Schindler, C. (2003). STATs Dimerize in the Absence of Phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 34133–34140.

Brown, S., Hu, N., and Hombría, J.C.G. (2001). Identification of the first invertebrate interleukin JAK/STAT receptor, the Drosophila gene domeless. Curr. Biol. *11*, 1700–1705.

Bryant, P.J. (1970). Cell Lineage Relationships in the Imaginal Wing Disc of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. *411*, 389–411.

Bryant, P.J. (1971). Regeneration and duplication following operations in situ on the imaginal discs of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. *26*, 637–651.

Bryant, P.J. (1975). Pattern formation in the imaginal wing disc of Drosophila melanogaster: fate map, regeneration and duplication. J. Exp. Zool. *193*, 49–77.

Burke, R., and Basler, K. (1996). Dpp receptors are autonomously required for cell proliferation in the entire developing Drosophila wing. Development *122*, 2261–2269.

Cabrera, C., Botas, J., and Garcia-Bellido, A. (1985). Distribution of Ultrabithorax proteins in mutants of Drosophila bithorax complex and its transregulatory genes. Nature *318*, 569–571.

Calleja, M., Herranz, H., and Estella, C. (2000). Generation of medial and lateral dorsal body domains by the pannier gene of Drosophila. Development *127*, 3971–3980.

Callus, B. a, and Mathey-Prevot, B. (2002). SOCS36E, a novel Drosophila SOCS protein, suppresses JAK/STAT and EGF-R signalling in the imaginal wing disc. Oncogene *21*, 4812–4821.

Calò, V., Migliavacca, M., Bazan, V., Macaluso, M., Buscemi, M., Gebbia, N., and Russo, A. (2003). STAT Proteins: From Normal Control of Cellular Events to Tumorigenesis. J. Cell. Physiol. *197*, 157–168.

Campbell, G., and Tomlinson, A. (1999). Transducing the Dpp morphogen gradient in the wing of Drosophila: regulation of Dpp targets by brinker. Cell *96*, 553–562.

Capdevila, J., and Belmonte, J.C.I. (2001). Patterning Mechanisms Controlling Vertebrate Limb Development. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *17*, 87–132.

Capdevila, J., and Guerrero, I. (1994). Targeted expression of the signaling molecule decapentaplegic induces pattern duplications and growth alterations in Drosophila wings. EMBO J. *13*, 4459–4468.

Carroll, S.B., Weatherbee, S.D., and Langeland, J. a (1995). Homeotic genes and the regulation and evolution of insect wing number. Nature *375*, 58–61.

Casares, F., and Mann, R.S. (2000). A dual role for homothorax in inhibiting wing blade development and specifying proximal wing identities in Drosophila. Development *127*, 1499–1508.

Cavodeassi, F., Modolell, J., and Gomez-Skarmeta, J.L. (2001). The Iroquois family of genes: from body building to neural patterning. Development *128*, 2847–2855.
Cavodeassi, F., Rodríguez, I., and Modolell, J. (2002). Dpp signalling is a key effector of the wing-body wall subdivision of the Drosophila mesothorax. Development *129*, 3815–3823.

De Celis, J.F. (2003). Pattern formation in the Drosophila wing: The development of the veins. BioEssays *25*, 443–451.

de Celis, J., and García-Bellido, A. (1994). Roles of the Notch gene in Drosophila wing morphogenesis. Mech. Dev. *46*, 109–122.

de Celis, J.F., Barrio, R., and Kafatos, F.C. (1996). A gene complex acting downstream of dpp in Drosophila wing morphogenesis. Nature *381*, 421–424.

Chao, J.-L., Tsai, Y.-C., Chiu, S.-J., and Sun, Y.H. (2004). Localized Notch signal acts through eyg and upd to promote global growth in Drosophila eye. Development *131*, 3839–3847.

Chen, X., Oh, S.W., Zheng, Z., Chen, H.W., Shin, H.H., and Hou, S.S. (2003). Cyclin D-Cdk4 and cyclin E-Cdk2 regulate the JAK/STAT signal transduction pathway in Drosophila. Dev. Cell *4*, 179–190.

Cifuentes, F.J., and García-Bellido, A. (1997). Proximo-distal specification in the wing disc of Drosophila by the nubbin gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *94*, 11405–11410.

Classen, A.-K., Bunker, B.D., Harvey, K.F., Vaccari, T., and Bilder, D. (2009). A tumor suppressor activity of Drosophila Polycomb genes mediated by JAK-STAT signaling. Nat. Genet. *41*, 1150–1155.

Clifford, R.J., and Schupbach, T. (1989). Coordinately and differentially mutable activities of torpedo, the Drosophila melanogaster homolog of the vertebrate EGF receptor gene. Genetics *123*, 771–787.

Cohen, S.M. (1990). Specification of limb development in the Drosophila embryo by positional cues from segmentation genes. Nature *343*, 173–177.

Cohen, B., Simcox, a a, and Cohen, S.M. (1993). Allocation of the thoracic imaginal primordia in the Drosophila embryo. Development *117*, 597–608.

Cohen, S.M., Brönner, G., Küttner, F., Jürgens, G., and Jäckle, H. (1989). Distal-less encodes a homoeodomain protein required for limb development in Drosophila. Nature *338*, 432–434.

Collins, R.T., and Treisman, J.E. (2000). Osa-containing Brahma chromatin remodeling complexes are required for the repression of Wingless target genes. Genes Dev. *14*, 3140–3152.

Collins, R.T., Furukawa, T., Tanese, N., and Treisman, J.E. (1999). Osa associates with the Brahma chromatin remodeling complex and promotes the activation of some target genes. EMBO J. *18*, 7029–7040.

Colombani, J., Andersen, D.S., and Léopold, P. (2012). Secreted Peptide Dilp8 Coordinates Drosophila Tissue Growth with Developmental Timing. Science (80-.). *336*, 582–585.

del Corral, R.D., Aroca, P., Gomez-Skarmeta, J.L., Cavodeassi, F., and Modolell, J. (1999). The Iroquois homeodomain proteins are required to specify body wall identity in Drosophila. Genes Dev. *13*, 1754–1761.

Couso, J.P., and Arias, A.M. (1994). Notch is required for wingless signaling in the epidermis of Drosophila. Cell *79*, 259–272.

Couso, J., Bate, M., and Martinez-Arias, A. (1993). A wingless-dependent polar coordinate system in Drosophila imaginal discs. Science (80-.). *259*, 484–489.

Crick, F., and Lawrence, P. (1975). Compartments and polyclones in insect development. Science (80-.). *189*, 340–347.

Crickmore, M. a, and Mann, R.S. (2008). The control of size in animals: insights from selector genes. Bioessays *30*, 843–853.

Dahmann, C., Oates, A.C., and Brand, M. (2011). Boundary formation and maintenance in tissue development. Nat. Rev. Genet. *12*, 43–55.

Day, S.J., and Lawrence, P. a (2000). Measuring dimensions: the regulation of size and shape. Development *127*, 2977–2987.

Dekanty, A., and Milán, M. (2011). The interplay between morphogens and tissue growth. EMBO Rep. *12*, 1003–1010.

Desplan, C., and Lecuit, T. (2003). Flowers' wings, fruitflies' petals. Nature 422, 123–124.

Diaz-Benjumea, F.J., and Cohen, S.M. (1993). Interaction between dorsal and ventral cells in the imaginal disc directs wing development in Drosophila. Cell *75*, 741–752.

Diaz-Benjumea, F.J., and Cohen, S.M. (1995). Serrate signals through Notch to establish a Wingless-dependent organizer at the dorsal/ventral compartment boundary of the Drosophila wing. Development *121*, 4215–4225.

Diaz-Benjumea, F.J., and Garcia-Bellido, A. (1990). Behaviour of Cells Mutant for an EGF Receptor Homologue of Drosophila in Genetic Mosaics. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. *242*, 36–44.

Diaz-Benjumea, F.J., and Hafen, E. (1994). The sevenless signalling cassette mediates Drosophila EGF receptor function during epidermal development. Development *120*, 569–578.

Dienemann, A., and Sprenger, F. (2004). Requirements of Cyclin A for mitosis are independent of its subcellular localization. Curr. Biol. *14*, 1117–1123.

Dietzl, G., Chen, D., Schnorrer, F., Su, K.-C., Barinova, Y., Fellner, M., Gasser, B., Kinsey, K., Oppel, S., Scheiblauer, S., et al. (2007). A genome-wide transgenic RNAi library for conditional gene inactivation in Drosophila. Nature *448*, 151–156.

Doherty, D., Feger, G., Younger-Shepherd, S., Jan, L.Y., and Jan, Y.N. (1996). Delta is a ventral to dorsal signal complementary to Serrate, another notch ligand, in Drosophila wing formation. Genes Dev. *10*, 421–434.

Dominguez, M., Brunner, M., Hafen, E., and Basler, K. (1996). Sending and Receiving the Hedgehog Signal: Control by the Drosophila Gli Protein Cubitus interruptus. Science (80-.). *272*, 1621–1625.

Du, W.E.I., Vidal, M., Xie, J.-E., and Dyson, N. (1996). RBF, a nove RB-related gene that regulates E2F activity and interacts with cyclin E in Drosophila. Genes Dev. *10*, 1206–1218.

Dynlacht, B.D., Brook, a, Dembski, M., Yenush, L., and Dyson, N. (1994). DNAbinding and trans-activation properties of Drosophila E2F and DP proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *91*, 6359–6363.

Edgar, B. a (2006). How flies get their size: genetics meets physiology. Nat. Rev. Genet. 7, 907–916.

Ekas, L. a, Baeg, G.-H., Flaherty, M.S., Ayala-Camargo, A., and Bach, E. a (2006). JAK/STAT signaling promotes regional specification by negatively regulating wingless expression in Drosophila. Development *133*, 4721–4729.

Evans, C., Olson, J., Ngo, K., Kim, E., and Lee, N. (2009). G-TRACE: rapid Gal4-based cell lineage analysis in Drosophila. Nature *6*.

Fan, Y., and Bergmann, A. (2008). Apoptosis-induced compensatory proliferation. The Cell is dead. Long live the Cell! Trends Cell Biol. *18*, 467–473.

Fernald, K., and Kurokawa, M. (2013). Evading apoptosis in cancer. Trends Cell Biol. *23*, 620–633.

Fernandez-Teran, M.A., Hinchliffe, J.R., and Ros, M.A. (2006). Birth and death of cells in limb development: A mapping study. Dev. Dyn. *235*, 2521–2537.

Ferreira, A., and Milán, M. (2015). Dally Proteoglycan Mediates the Autonomous and Nonautonomous Effects on Tissue Growth Caused by Activation of the PI3K and TOR Pathways. PLOS Biol. *13*, e1002239.

Flaherty, M.S., Zavadil, J., Ekas, L. a., and Bach, E. a. (2009). Genome-wide expression profiling in the Drosophila eye reveals unexpected repression of Notch signaling by the JAK/STAT pathway. Dev. Dyn.

La Fortezza, M., Schenk, M., Cosolo, A., Kolybaba, A., Grass, I., and Classen, A.-K. (2016). JAK/STAT signalling mediates cell survival in response to tissue stress. Development dev.132340.

Galant, R., and Carroll, S.B. (2002). Evolution of a transcriptional repression domain in an insect Hox protein. Nature *415*, 910–913.

Garaulet, D.L., Foronda, D., Calleja, M., and Sánchez-Herrero, E. (2008). Polycombdependent Ultrabithorax Hox gene silencing induced by high Ultrabithorax levels in Drosophila. Development *135*, 3219–3228.

Garcia-Bellido, A., and Merriam, J.R. (1971). Parameters of the wing imaginal disc development of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. *24*, 61–87.

Garcia-Bellido, a, Ripoll, P., and Morata, G. (1973). Developmental compartmentalisation of the wing disk of Drosophila. Nat. New Biol. *245*, 251–253.

García-García, M.J., Ramain, P., Simpson, P., and Modolell, J. (1999). Different contributions of pannier and wingless to the patterning of the dorsal mesothorax of Drosophila. Development *126*, 3523–3532.

Garelli, A., Gontijo, a. M., Miguela, V., Caparros, E., and Dominguez, M. (2012). Imaginal Discs Secrete Insulin-Like Peptide 8 to Mediate Plasticity of Growth and Maturation. Science (80-.). *336*, 579–582.

Gebelein, B., Culi, J., Ryoo, H.D., Zhang, W., and Mann, R.S. (2002). Specificity of Distalless repression and limb primordia development by abdominal Hox proteins. Dev. Cell *3*, 487–498.

Gieseler, K., Wilder, E., Mariol, M.C., Buratovitch, M., Bérenger, H., Graba, Y., and Pradel, J. (2001). DWnt4 and wingless elicit similar cellular responses during imaginal development. Dev. Biol. *232*, 339–350.

Gilbert, M.M., Weaver, B.K., Gergen, J.P., and Reich, N.C. (2005). A novel functional activator of the Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway, unpaired2, is revealed by an in vivo reporter of pathway activation. Mech. Dev. *122*, 939–948.

Giraldez, A.J., and Cohen, S.M. (2003). Wingless and Notch signaling provide cell survival cues and control cell proliferation during wing development. Development *130*, 6533–6543.

Gokhale, R.H., Hayashi, T., Mirque, C.D., and Shingleton, A.W. (2016). Intraorgan growth coordination in Drosophila is mediated by systemic ecdysone signaling.

Golembo, M., Yarnitzky, T., Volk, T., and Shilo, B.Z. (1999). Vein expression is induced by the EGF receptor pathway to provide a positive feedback loop in patterning the Drosophila embryonic ventral ectoderm. Genes Dev. *13*, 158–162.

Gómez-Skarmeta, J.L., Campuzano, S., and Modolell, J. (2003). Half a century of neural prepatterning: the story of a few bristles and many genes. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. *4*, 587–598.

Gómez-Skarmeta, J.-L., del Corral, R.D., de la Calle-Mustienes, E., Ferrés-Marcó, D., and Modolell, J. (1996). araucan and caupolican, Two Members of the Novel Iroquois Complex, Encode Homeoproteins That Control Proneural and Vein-Forming Genes. Cell *85*, 95–105.

Goto, S., and Hayashi, S. (1997). Specification of the embryonic limb primordium by graded activity of Decapentaplegic. Development *124*, 125–132.

Goyal, L., McCall, K., Agapite, J., Hartwieg, E., and Steller, H. (2000). Induction of apoptosis by Drosophila reaper, hid and grim through inhibition of IAP function. EMBO J. *19*, 589–597.

Gradilla, A.-C., González, E., Seijo, I., Andrés, G., Bischoff, M., González-Mendez, L., Sánchez, V., Callejo, A., Ibáñez, C., Guerra, M., et al. (2014). Exosomes as Hedgehog carriers in cytoneme-mediated transport and secretion. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5649.

Green, E.W., Fedele, G., Giorgini, F., and Kyriacou, C.P. (2014). A Drosophila RNAi collection is subject to dominant phenotypic effects. Nat. Methods *11*, 222–223.

Grimm, S., and Pflugfelder, G.O. (1996). Control of the gene optomotor-blind in Drosophila wing development by decapentaplegic and wingless. Science *271*, 1601–1604.

Grosskortenhaus, R., and Sprenger, F. (2002). Rca1 inhibits APC-Cdh1Fzr and is required to prevent cyclin degradation in G2. Dev. Cell *2*, 29–40.

Guillén, I., Mullor, J.L., Capdevila, J., Sánchez-Herrero, E., Morata, G., and Guerrero, I. (1995). The function of engrailed and the specification of Drosophila wing pattern. Development *121*, 3447–3456.

Gutierrez-Aviño, F.J., Ferres-Marco, D., and Dominguez, M. (2009). The position and function of the Notch-mediated eye growth organizer: the roles of JAK/STAT and four-jointed. EMBO Rep. *10*, 1051–1058.

Hamaratoglu, F., Affolter, M., and Pyrowolakis, G. (2014). Dpp/BMP signaling in flies: From molecules to biology. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *32*, 128–136.

Hanratty, W.P., and Dearolf, C.R. (1993). The Drosophila Tumorous-lethal hematopoietic oncogene is a dominant mutation in the hopscotch locus. Mol. Gen. Genet. *238*, 33–37.

Hanratty, W.P., and Ryerse, J.S. (1981). A genetic melanotic neoplasm of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. *83*, 238–249.

Hariharan, I.K. (2015). Organ Size Control: Lessons from Drosophila. Dev. Cell *34*, 255–265.

Harris, M.B., Chang, C.C., Berton, M.T., Danial, N.N., Zhang, J., Kuehner, D., Ye, B.H., Kvatyuk, M., Pandolfi, P.P., Cattoretti, G., et al. (1999). Transcriptional repression of Stat6-dependent interleukin-4-induced genes by BCL-6: specific regulation of iepsilon transcription and immunoglobulin E switching. Mol. Cell. Biol. *19*, 7264–7275.

Harrison, D.A., Binari, R., Nahreini, T.S., Gilman, M., and Perrimon, N. (1995). Activation of a Drosophila Janus kinase (JAK) causes hematopoietic neoplasia and developmental defects. EMBO J. *14*, 2857–2865.

Harrison, D.A., McCoon, P.E., Binari, R., Gilman, M., and Perrimon, N. (1998). Drosophila unpaired encodes a secreted protein that activates the JAK signaling pathway. Genes Dev. *12*, 3252–3263.

Hatini, V., Kula-Eversole, E., Nusinow, D., and Del Signore, S.J. (2013). Essential roles for stat92E in expanding and patterning the proximodistal axis of the Drosophila wing imaginal disc. Dev. Biol. *378*, 38–50.

Haynie, J.L., and Bryant, P.J. (1977). The effects of X-rays on the proliferation dynamics of cells in the imaginal wing disc of Drosophila melanogaster. Wilhelm Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. *183*, 85–100.

Heemskerk, J., DiNardo, S., Kostriken, R., and O'Farrell, P.H. (1991). Multiple modes of engrailed regulation in the progression towards cell fate determination. Nature *352*, 404–410.

Herranz, H., Pérez, L., Martín, F. a, and Milán, M. (2008). A Wingless and Notch double-repression mechanism regulates G1-S transition in the Drosophila wing. EMBO J. *27*, 1633–1645.

Herranz, H., Hong, X., Hung, N.T., Mathijs Voorhoeve, P., and Cohen, S.M. (2012). Oncogenic cooperation between SOCS family proteins and EGFR identified using a Drosophila epithelial transformation model. Genes Dev. *26*, 1602–1611.

Herrera, S.C., and Morata, G. (2014). Transgressions of compartment boundaries and cell reprogramming during regeneration in Drosophila. Elife *3*.

Hombría, J., and Sotillos, S. (2013). JAK-STAT pathway in Drosophila morphogenesis: From organ selector to cell behavior regulator. JAK-STAT 1–8.

Hombría, J.C.G., Brown, S., Häder, S., and Zeidler, M.P. (2005). Characterisation of Upd2, a Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway ligand. Dev. Biol. *288*, 420–433.

Hou, X.S., Melnick, M.B., and Perrimon, N. (1996). marelle acts downstream of the Drosophila HOP/JAK kinase and encodes a protein similar to the mammalian STATs. Cell *84*, 411–419.

Irvine, K.D., and Vogt, T.F. (1997). Dorsal-ventral signaling in limb development. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. *9*, 867–876.

Jacobs, H.W., Knoblich, J.A., and Lehner, C.F. (1998). Drosophila Cyclin B3 is required for female fertility and is dispensable for mitosis like Cyclin B. Genes Dev. *12*, 3741–3751.

Jaźwińska, A., Kirov, N., Wieschaus, E., Roth, S., and Rushlow, C. (1999). The Drosophila gene brinker reveals a novel mechanism of Dpp target gene regulation. Cell *96*, 563–573.

Jiang, H., Patel, P.H., Kohlmaier, A., Grenley, M.O., McEwen, D.G., and Edgar, B. a. (2009). Cytokine/Jak/Stat Signaling Mediates Regeneration and Homeostasis in the Drosophila Midgut. Cell *137*, 1343–1355.

Johnston, L.A., and Edgar, B.A. (1998). Wingless and Notch regulate cell-cycle arrest in the developing Drosophila wing. Nature *394*, 82–84.

Johnston, L. a, and Sanders, A.L. (2003). Wingless promotes cell survival but constrains growth during Drosophila wing development. Nat. Cell Biol. *5*, 827–833.

Johnstone, K., Wells, R.E., Strutt, D., and Zeidler, M.P. (2013). Localised JAK/STAT Pathway Activation Is Required for Drosophila Wing Hinge Development. PLoS One *8*, e65076.

Jönsson, F., and Knust, E. (1996). Distinct functions of the Drosophila genes Serrate and Delta revealed by ectopic expression during wing development. Dev. Genes Evol. *206*, 91–101.

Kallio, J., Myllymäki, H., Grönholm, J., Armstrong, M., Vanha-aho, L.-M., Mäkinen, L., Silvennoinen, O., Valanne, S., and Rämet, M. (2010). Eye transformer is a negative regulator of Drosophila JAK/STAT signaling. FASEB J. *24*, 4467–4479.

Karsten, P., Häder, S., and Zeidler, M.P. (2002). Cloning and expression of Drosophila SOCS36E and its potential regulation by the JAK/STAT pathway. Mech. Dev. *117*, 343–346.

Katsuyama, T., Comoglio, F., Seimiya, M., Cabuy, E., and Paro, R. (2015). During Drosophila disc regeneration, JAK/STAT coordinates cell proliferation with Dilp8-mediated developmental delay. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *112*, E2327-36.

Kenyon, K.L., Ranade, S.S., Curtiss, J., Mlodzik, M., and Pignoni, F. (2003). Coordinating proliferation and tissue specification to promote regional identity in the Drosophila head. Dev. Cell *5*, 403–414.

Kiger, a a, Jones, D.L., Schulz, C., Rogers, M.B., and Fuller, M.T. (2001). Stem cell self-renewal specified by JAK-STAT activation in response to a support cell cue. Science *294*, 2542–2545.

Kim, J., Sebring, A., Esch, J.J., Kraus, M.E., Vorwerk, K., Magee, J., and Carroll, S.B. (1996). Integration of positional signals and regulation of wing formation and identity by Drosophila vestigial gene. Nature *382*, 133–138.

Kim, J., Johnson, K., Chen, H.J., Carroll, S., and Laughon, a (1997). Drosophila Mad binds to DNA and directly mediates activation of vestigial by Decapentaplegic. Nature *388*, 304–308.

Kirkpatrick, H., Johnson, K., and Laughon, A. (2001). Repression of Dpp Targets by Binding of Brinker to Mad Sites. J. Biol. Chem. *276*, 18216–18222.

Kisseleva, T., Bhattacharya, S., Braunstein, J., and Schindler, C.W. (2002). Signaling through the JAK/STAT pathway, recent advances and future challenges. Gene *285*, 1–24.

Klein, T., and Arias, A.M. (1998). Different Spatial and Temporal Interactions between Notch, Wingless, and Vestigial Specify Proximal and Distal Pattern Elements of the Wing in Drosophila. Dev. Biol. *194*, 196–212.

Knoblich, J.A., and Lehner, C.F. (1993). Synergistic action of Drosophila cyclins A and B during the G2-M transition. EMBO J. *12*, 65–74.

Kornberg, T. (1981). Engrailed: a gene controlling compartment and segment formation in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *78*, 1095–1099.

Kornberg, T., Sidén, I., O'Farrell, P., and Simon, M. (1985). The engrailed locus of Drosophila: in situ localization of transcripts reveals compartment-specific expression. Cell *40*, 45–53.

Koto, A., Kuranaga, E., and Miura, M. (2011). Apoptosis ensures spacing pattern formation of Drosophila sensory organs. Curr. Biol. *21*, 278–287.

Kurada, P., and White, K. (1998). Ras Promotes Cell Survival in Drosophila by Downregulating hid Expression. Cell *95*, 319–329.

Lane, M.E., Sauer, K., Wallace, K., Jan, Y.N., Lehner, C.F., and Vaessin, H. (1996). Dacapo, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, stops cell proliferation during Drosophila development. Cell *87*, 1225–1235.

Lawrence, P.A. (1997). Developmental biology. Straight and wiggly affinities. Nature *389*, 546–547.

Lawrence, P. a (2001). Morphogens: how big is the big picture? Nat. Cell Biol. *3*, E151–E154.

Lawrence, P.A., and Morata, G. (1977). The early development of mesothoracic compartments in Drosophila. An analysis of cell lineage and fate mapping and an assessment of methods. Dev. Biol. *56*, 40–51.

Lawrence, P., and Struhl, G. (1996). Morphogens, compartments, and pattern: lessons from drosophila? Cell *85*, 951–961.

Lecuit, T., and Cohen, S.M. (1997). Proximal-distal axis formation in the Drosophila leg. Nature *388*, 139–145.

Lecuit, T., and Le Goff, L. (2007). Orchestrating size and shape during morphogenesis. Nature *450*, 189–192.

Lecuit, T., Brook, W.J., Ng, M., Calleja, M., Sun, H., and Cohen, S.M. (1996). Two distinct mechanisms for long-range patterning by Decapentaplegic in the Drosophila wing. Nature *381*, 387–393.

Lehner, C.F., and O'Farrell, P.H. (1990). The roles of Drosophila cyclins A and B in mitotic control. Cell *61*, 535–547.

Levayer, R., and Moreno, E. (2013). Mechanisms of cell competition: themes and variations. J. Cell Biol. *200*, 689–698.

Levine, M. (2002). How insects lose their limbs. Nature 415, 848-849.

Lewis, E.B. (1978). A gene complex controlling segmentation in Drosophila. Nature *276*, 565–570.

Lewis, D.L., DeCamillis, M., and Bennett, R.L. (2000). Distinct roles of the homeotic genes Ubx and abd-A in beetle embryonic abdominal appendage development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *97*, 4504–4509.

Li, W.X. (2008). Canonical and non-canonical JAK-STAT signaling. Trends Cell Biol. *18*, 545–551.

Luo, H., Hanratty, W.P., and Dearolf, C.R. (1995). An amino acid substitution in the Drosophila hopTum-I Jak kinase causes leukemia-like hematopoietic defects. EMBO J. *14*, 1412–1420.

Luo, H., Rose, P., Barber, D., Hanratty, W.P., Lee, S., Roberts, T.M., D'Andrea, a D., and Dearolf, C.R. (1997). Mutation in the Jak kinase JH2 domain hyperactivates Drosophila and mammalian Jak-Stat pathways. Mol. Cell. Biol. *17*, 1562–1571.

Luo, H., Asha, H., Kockel, L., Parke, T., Mlodzik, M., and Dearolf, C.R. (1999). The Drosophila Jak kinase hopscotch is required for multiple developmental processes in the eye. Dev. Biol. *213*, 432–441.

Makki, R., Meister, M., Pennetier, D., Ubeda, J.M., Braun, A., Daburon, V., Krzemień, J., Bourbon, H.M., Zhou, R., Vincent, A., et al. (2010). A short receptor downregulates JAK/STAT signalling to control the Drosophila cellular immune response. PLoS Biol. *8*, 33–34.

Mandaravally Madhavan, M., and Schneiderman, H.A. (1977). Histological analysis of the dynamics of growth of imaginal discs and histoblast nests during the larval development of Drosophila melanogaster. Wilhelm Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. *183*, 269–305.

Manjón, C., Sánchez-Herrero, E., and Suzanne, M. (2007). Sharp boundaries of Dpp signalling trigger local cell death required for Drosophila leg morphogenesis. Nat. Cell Biol. *9*, 57–63.

Mann, R.S., and Carroll, S.B. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of selector gene function and evolution. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. *12*, 592–600.

Mann, R.S., and Morata, G. (2000). The developmental and molecular biology of genes that subdivide the body of Drosophila. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *16*, 243–271.

Mao, Y., Tournier, A.L., Bates, P. a, Gale, J.E., Tapon, N., and Thompson, B.J. (2011). Planar polarization of the atypical myosin Dachs orients cell divisions in Drosophila. Genes Dev. *25*, 131–136.

Martín, F. a, and Morata, G. (2006). Compartments and the control of growth in the Drosophila wing imaginal disc. Development *133*, 4421–4426.

Martín, F. a, Perez-Garijo, A., Moreno, E., and Morata, G. (2004). The brinker gradient controls wing growth in Drosophila. Development *131*, 4921–4930.

Martín, F. a, Herrera, S.C., and Morata, G. (2009). Cell competition, growth and size control in the Drosophila wing imaginal disc. Development *136*, 3747–3756.

Martín-Castellanos, C., and Edgar, B. a (2002). A characterization of the effects of Dpp signaling on cell growth and proliferation in the Drosophila wing. Development *129*, 1003–1013.

Martinez-Arias, A. (1986). The Antennapedia gene is required and expressed in parasegments 4 and 5 of the Drosophila embryo. EMBO J. *5*, 135–141.

Mata, J., Curado, S., Ephrussi, a, and Rørth, P. (2000). Tribbles coordinates mitosis and morphogenesis in Drosophila by regulating string/CDC25 proteolysis. Cell *101*, 511–522.

Mercader, N., Leonardo, E., Azpiazu, N., Serrano, A., Morata, G., Martínez, C., and Torres, M. (1999). Conserved regulation of proximodistal limb axis development by Meis1/Hth. Nature *402*, 425–429.

Mesquita, D., Dekanty, A., and Milán, M. (2010). A dp53-dependent mechanism involved in coordinating tissue growth in Drosophila. PLoS Biol. *8*, e1000566.

Méthot, N., and Basler, K. (1999). Hedgehog controls limb development by regulating the activities of distinct transcriptional activator and repressor forms of Cubitus interruptus. Cell *96*, 819–831.

Milan, M., Campuzano, S., and Garcia-Bellido, A. (1996). Cell cycling and patterned cell proliferation in the Drosophila wing during metamorphosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *93*, 11687–11692.

Milán, M. (2002). Survival of the fittest: cell competition in the Drosophila wing. EMBO Rep. *3*, 724–725.

Milán, M., Campuzano, S., and García-Bellido, a (1996). Cell cycling and patterned cell proliferation in the wing primordium of Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *93*, 640–645.

Milán, M., Campuzano, S., and García-Bellido, a (1997). Developmental parameters of cell death in the wing disc of Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *94*, 5691–5696.

Milán, M., Weihe, U., Tiong, S., Bender, W., and Cohen, S.M. (2001). msh specifies dorsal cell fate in the Drosophila wing. Development *128*, 3263–3268.

Mills, K., Daish, T., and Kumar, S. (2005). The function of the Drosophila caspase DRONC in cell death and development. Cell Cycle *4*, 744–746.

Mirth, C.K., and Shingleton, A.W. (2012). Integrating body and organ size in Drosophila: Recent advances and outstanding problems. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). *3*, 49.

Miura, M. (2012). Apoptotic and Nonapoptotic Caspase Functions in Animal Development. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. *4*, a008664–a008664.

Moazed, D., and O'Farrell, P.H. (1992). Maintenance of the engrailed expression pattern by Polycomb group genes in Drosophila. Development *116*, 805–810.

Mollereau, B., Perez-Garijo, a, Bergmann, a, Miura, M., Gerlitz, O., Ryoo, H.D., Steller, H., and Morata, G. (2013). Compensatory proliferation and apoptosis-induced proliferation: a need for clarification. Cell Death Differ. *20*, 181.

Morata, G. (2001). How Drosophila appendages develop. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2.

Morata, G., and Herrera, S. (2010). Differential division rates and size control in the wing disc. Fly (Austin). *4*, 226–229.

Morata, G., and Lawrence, P.A. (1977). The development of wingless, a homeotic mutation of Drosophila. Dev. Biol. *56*, 227–240.

Morata, G., and Ripoll, P. (1975). Minutes: Mutants of Drosophila autonomously affecting cell division rate. Dev. Biol. *42*, 211–221.

Morata, G., and Struhl, G. (2013). Developmental biology: Tethered wings. Nature 1–2.

Morgan, T. (1901). Regeneration. Macmillan, New York.

Moser, M., and Campbell, G. (2005). Generating and interpreting the Brinker gradient in the Drosophila wing. Dev. Biol. *286*, 647–658.

Mukherjee, T., Hombría, J.C.-G., and Zeidler, M.P. (2005). Opposing roles for Drosophila JAK/STAT signalling during cellular proliferation. Oncogene *24*, 2503–2511.

Mukherjee, T., Schäfer, U., and Zeidler, M.P. (2006). Identification of Drosophila genes modulating Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription signal transduction. Genetics *172*, 1683–1697.

Muller, H.J. (1930). Types of visible variations induced by X-rays in Drosophila. J. Genet. *22*, 299–334.

Müller, B., Hartmann, B., Pyrowolakis, G., Affolter, M., and Basler, K. (2003). Conversion of an extracellular Dpp/BMP morphogen gradient into an inverse transcriptional gradient. Cell *113*, 221–233.

Müller, P., Kuttenkeuler, D., Gesellchen, V., Zeidler, M.P., and Boutros, M. (2005). Identification of JAK/STAT signalling components by genome-wide RNA interference. Nature *436*, 871–875.

Nègre, N., Brown, C.D., Ma, L., Bristow, C.A., Miller, S.W., Wagner, U., Kheradpour, P., Eaton, M.L., Loriaux, P., Sealfon, R., et al. (2011). A cis-regulatory map of the Drosophila genome. Nature *471*, 527–531.

Nellen, D., Burke, R., Struhl, G., and Basler, K. (1996a). Direct and Long-Range Action of a DPP Morphogen Gradient. Cell *85*, 357–368.

Nellen, D., Burke, R., Struhl, G., and Basler, K. (1996b). Direct and long-range action of a DPP morphogen gradient. Cell *85*, 357–368.

Neto-Silva, R.M., Wells, B.S., and Johnston, L.A. (2009). Mechanisms of growth and homeostasis in the Drosophila wing. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *25*, 197–220.

Neufeld, T.P., de la Cruz, a F., Johnston, L. a, and Edgar, B. a (1998). Coordination of growth and cell division in the Drosophila wing. Cell *93*, 1183–1193.

Neumann, C.J., and Cohen, S.M. (1996). Distinct mitogenic and cell fate specification functions of wingless in different regions of the wing. Development *122*, 1781–1789.

Neumann, C.J., and Cohen, S.M. (1997). Long-range action of Wingless organizes the dorsal-ventral axis of the Drosophila wing. Development *124*, 871–880.

Newman, S. (2006). The developmental-genetic toolkit and the molecular homologyanalogy paradox. Biol. Theory *1*, 12–16.

Newman, S. a, and Bhat, R. (2009). Dynamical patterning modules: a "pattern language" for development and evolution of multicellular form. Int. J. Dev. Biol. *53*, 693–705.

Ng, M., Diaz-Benjumea, F.J., and Cohen, S.M. (1995). Nubbin encodes a POUdomain protein required for proximal-distal patterning in the Drosophila wing. Development *121*, 589–599.

Ng, M., Diaz-Benjumea, F.J., Vincent, J.P., Wu, J., and Cohen, S.M. (1996). Specification of the wing by localized expression of wingless protein. Nature *381*, 316–318.

Ni, J.-Q., Zhou, R., Czech, B., Liu, L.-P., Holderbaum, L., Yang-Zhou, D., Shim, H.-S., Tao, R., Handler, D., Karpowicz, P., et al. (2011). A genome-scale shRNA resource for transgenic RNAi in Drosophila. Nat. Methods *8*, 405–407.

Niswander, L., Tickle, C., Vogel, A., Booth, I., and Martin, G.R. (1993). FGF-4 replaces the apical ectodermal ridge and directs outgrowth and patterning of the limb. Cell *75*, 579–587.

De Nooij, J.C., Letendre, M.A., and Hariharan, I.K. (1996). A cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, dacapo, is necessary for timely exit from the cell cycle during Drosophila embryogenesis. Cell *87*, 1237–1247.

O'Farrell, P., Edgar, B., Lakich, D., and Lehner, C. (1989). Directing cell division during development. Science (80-.). *246*, 635–640.

Padmanabha, D., and Baker, K.D. (2014). Drosophila gains traction as a repurposed tool to investigate metabolism. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. *25*, 518–527.

Panganiban, G., Nagy, L., and Carroll, S.B. (1994). The role of the Distal-less gene in the development and evolution of insect limbs. Curr. Biol. *4*, 671–675.

Panganiban, G., Sebring, a, Nagy, L., and Carroll, S. (1995). The development of crustacean limbs and the evolution of arthropods. Science *270*, 1363–1366.

Panganiban, G., Irvine, S.M., Lowe, C., Roehl, H., Corley, L.S., Sherbon, B., Grenier, J.K., Fallon, J.F., Kimble, J., Walker, M., et al. (1997). The origin and evolution of animal appendages. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *94*, 5162–5166.

Papoulas, O., Beek, S.J., Moseley, S.L., McCallum, C.M., Sarte, M., Shearn, A., and Tamkun, J.W. (1998). The Drosophila trithorax group proteins BRM, ASH1 and ASH2 are subunits of distinct protein complexes. Development *125*, 3955–3966.

Parker, N.F., and Shingleton, A.W. (2011). The coordination of growth among Drosophila organs in response to localized growth-perturbation. Dev. Biol. *357*, 318–325.

Pastor-Pareja, J.C., Grawe, F., Martín-Blanco, E., and García-Bellido, A. (2004). Invasive Cell Behavior during Drosophila Imaginal Disc Eversion Is Mediated by the JNK Signaling Cascade. Dev. Cell *7*, 387–399.

Paul, L., Wang, S.-H., Manivannan, S.N., Bonanno, L., Lewis, S., Austin, C.L., and Simcox, A. (2013). Dpp-induced Egfr signaling triggers postembryonic wing development in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.

Pazdera, T.M., Janardhan, P., and Minden, J.S. (1998). Patterned epidermal cell death in wild-type and segment polarity mutant Drosophila embryos. Development *125*, 3427–3436.

Perez-Garijo, a., and Steller, H. (2015). Spreading the word: non-autonomous effects of apoptosis during development, regeneration and disease. Development *142*, 3253–3262.

Perez-Garijo, A., Martín, F. a, and Morata, G. (2004). Caspase inhibition during apoptosis causes abnormal signalling and developmental aberrations in Drosophila. Development *131*, 5591–5598.

Pérez-Garijo, A., Fuchs, Y., and Steller, H. (2013). Apoptotic cells can induce nonautonomous apoptosis through the TNF pathway. Elife *2*, e01004.

Perrimon, N., and Mahowald, A.P. (1986). I(1)hopscotch, a larval-pupal zygotic lethal with a specific maternal effect on segmentation in Drosophila. Dev. Biol. *118*, 28–41.

Pflugfelder, G.O., Eichinger, F., and Shen, J. T-box genes in Drosophila limb development.

Popadic, A., Rusch, D., Peterson, M., Rogers, B.T., and Kaufman, T.C. (1996). Origin of the arthropod mandible. Nature *380*, 395.

Prober, D. a, and Edgar, B. a (2000). Ras1 promotes cellular growth in the Drosophila wing. Cell *100*, 435–446.

Pueyo, J.I., and Couso, J.P. (2005). Parallels between the proximal-distal development of vertebrate and arthropod appendages: homology without an ancestor? Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. *15*, 439–446.

Pyrowolakis, G., Hartmann, B., Müller, B., Basler, K., and Affolter, M. (2004). A simple molecular complex mediates widespread BMP-induced repression during Drosophila development. Dev. Cell *7*, 229–240.

Queenan, A.M., Ghabrial, A., and Schüpbach, T. (1997). Ectopic activation of torpedo/Egfr, a Drosophila receptor tyrosine kinase, dorsalizes both the eggshell and the embryo. Development *3880*, 3871–3880.

Rafel, N., and Milán, M. (2008). Notch signalling coordinates tissue growth and wing fate specification in Drosophila. Development *135*, 3995–4001.

Rawlings, J.S., Rennebeck, G., Harrison, S.M.W., Xi, R., and Harrison, D.A. (2004). Two Drosophila suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) differentially regulate JAK and EGFR pathway activities. BMC Cell Biol. *5*, 38.

Rebay, I. (2002). Keeping the receptor tyrosine kinase signaling pathway in check: lessons from Drosophila. Dev. Biol. *251*, 1–17.

Reiter, L.T., Potocki, L., Chien, S., Gribskov, M., and Bier, E. (2001). A systematic analysis of human disease-associated gene sequences in Drosophila melanogaster. Genome Res. *11*, 1114–1125.

Restrepo, S., Zartman, J.J., and Basler, K. (2014). Coordination of Patterning and Growth by the Morphogen DPP. Curr. Biol. *24*, R245–R255.

Rodrigues, A.B., Zoranovic, T., Ayala-Camargo, A., Grewal, S., Reyes-Robles, T., Krasny, M., Wu, D.C., Johnston, L. a, and Bach, E. a (2012). Activated STAT regulates growth and induces competitive interactions independently of Myc, Yorkie, Wingless and ribosome biogenesis. Development *139*, 4051–4061.

Rokas, A. (2008a). The origins of multicellularity and the early history of the genetic toolkit for animal development. Annu. Rev. Genet. *42*, 235–251.

Rokas, A. (2008b). The molecular origins of multicellular transitions. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 18, 472–478.

Rolland-Lagan, A.-G., Bangham, J.A., and Coen, E. (2003). Growth dynamics underlying petal shape and asymmetry. Nature *422*, 161–163.

Ronshaugen, M., McGinnis, N., and McGinnis, W. (2002). Hox protein mutation and macroevolution of the insect body plan. Nature *415*, 914–917.

Roy, S., Ernst, J., Kharchenko, P. V, Kheradpour, P., Negre, N., Eaton, M.L., Landolin, J.M., Bristow, C.A., Ma, L., Lin, M.F., et al. (2010). Identification of functional elements and regulatory circuits by Drosophila modENCODE. Science *330*, 1787–1797.

Ruberte, E., Marty, T., Nellen, D., Affolter, M., and Basler, K. (1995). An absolute requirement for both the type II and type I receptors, punt and thick veins, for dpp signaling in vivo. Cell *80*, 889–897.

Ryoo, H.D., Bergmann, A., Gonen, H., Ciechanover, A., and Steller, H. (2002). Regulation of Drosophila IAP1 degradation and apoptosis by reaper and ubcD1. Nat. Cell Biol. *4*, 432–438.

Ryoo, H.D., Gorenc, T., and Steller, H. (2004). Apoptotic Cells Can Induce Compensatory Cell Proliferation through the JNK and the Wingless Signaling Pathways. Dev. Cell *7*, 491–501.

Santabárbara-Ruiz, P., López-Santillán, M., Martínez-Rodríguez, I., Binagui-Casas, A., Pérez, L., Milán, M., Corominas, M., and Serras, F. (2015). ROS-Induced JNK and p38 Signaling Is Required for Unpaired Cytokine Activation during Drosophila Regeneration. PLoS Genet. *11*.

Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., et al. (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. Nat. Methods *9*, 676–682.

Schnepp, B., Donaldson, T., Grumbling, G., Ostrowski, S., Schweitzer, R., Shilo, B.Z., and Simcox, A. (1998). EGF domain swap converts a Drosophila EGF receptor activator into an inhibitor. Genes Dev. *12*, 908–913.

Scholz, H., Deatrick, J., Klaes, A., and Klambt, C. (1993). Genetic dissection of pointed, a Drosophila gene encoding two ETS-related proteins. Genetics *135*, 455–468.

Schroeder, M.C., Chen, C.-L., Gajewski, K., and Halder, G. (2013). A non-cellautonomous tumor suppressor role for Stat in eliminating oncogenic scribble cells. Oncogene *32*, 4471–4479.

Schwank, G., and Basler, K. (2010). Regulation of organ growth by morphogen gradients. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. *2*, a001669.

Schwank, G., Restrepo, S., and Basler, K. (2008). Growth regulation by Dpp: an essential role for Brinker and a non-essential role for graded signaling levels. Development *135*, 4003–4013.

Sefton, L., Timmer, J.R., Zhang, Y., Béranger, F., and Cline, T.W. (2000). An extracellular activator of the Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway is a sex-determination signal element. Nature *405*, 970–973.

Serrano, N., and O'Farrell, P.H. (1997). Limb morphogenesis: connections between patterning and growth. Curr. Biol. *7*, R186-95.

Sharma, R.P., and Chopra, V.L. (1976). Effect of the wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. *48*, 461–465.

Shi, S., Calhoun, H.C., Xia, F., Li, J., Le, L., and Li, W.X. (2006). JAK signaling globally counteracts heterochromatic gene silencing. Nat. Genet. *38*, 1071–1076.

Shi, S., Larson, K., Guo, D., Lim, S.J., Dutta, P., Yan, S.-J., and Li, W.X. (2008). Drosophila STAT is required for directly maintaining HP1 localization and heterochromatin stability. Nat. Cell Biol. *10*, 489–496.

Shingleton, A.W. (2010). The regulation of organ size in Drosophila: Physiology, plasticity, patterning and physical force. Organogenesis *6*, 76–87.

Shlevkov, E., and Morata, G. (2012). A dp53/JNK-dependant feedback amplification loop is essential for the apoptotic response to stress in Drosophila. Cell Death Differ. *19*, 451–460.

Shubin, N., Tabin, C., and Carroll, S. (1997). Fossils, genes and the evolution of animal limbs. Nature *388*, 639–648.

Shubin, N., Tabin, C., and Carroll, S. (2009). Deep homology and the origins of evolutionary novelty. Nature *457*, 818–823.

Sigrist, S., Jacobs, H., Stratmann, R., and Lehner, C.F. (1995). Exit from mitosis is regulated by Drosophila fizzy and the sequential destruction of cyclins A, B and B3. EMBO J. *14*, 4827–4838.

Silver, S.J., Hagen, J.W., Okamura, K., Perrimon, N., and Lai, E.C. (2007a). Functional screening identifies miR-315 as a potent activator of Wingless signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 18151–18156.

Silver, S.J., Hagen, J.W., Okamura, K., Perrimon, N., and Lai, E.C. (2007b). Functional screening identifies miR-315 as a potent activator of Wingless signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 18151–18156.

Simcox, A.A., Grumbling, G., Schnepp, B., Bennington-Mathias, C., Hersperger, E., and Shearn, A. (1996). Molecular, phenotypic, and expression analysis of vein, a gene required for growth of the Drosophila wing disc. Dev Biol *177*, 475–489.

Simmonds, a J., Brook, W.J., Cohen, S.M., and Bell, J.B. (1995). Distinguishable functions for engrailed and invected in anterior-posterior patterning in the Drosophila wing. Nature *376*, 424–427.

Singh, A., and Irvine, K.D. (2012). Drosophila as a model for understanding development and disease. Dev. Dyn. 241, 1–2.

Smith-Bolton, R.K., Worley, M.I., Kanda, H., and Hariharan, I.K. (2009). Regenerative Growth in Drosophila Imaginal Discs Is Regulated by Wingless and Myc. Dev. Cell *16*, 797–809.

Sotillos, S., Díaz-Meco, M.T., Moscat, J., and Castelli-Gair Hombría, J. (2008). Polarized Subcellular Localization of JAK/STAT Components Is Required for Efficient Signaling. Curr. Biol. *18*, 624–629.

Spemann, H., and Mangold, H. (1924). Induction of Embryonic Primordia by Implantation of Organizers from a Different Species. Arch. Für Mikroskopische Anat. Und Entwicklungsmechanik *100*, 599–638.

Stark, J., Bonacum, J., Remsen, J., and DeSalle, R. (1999). THE EVOLUTION AND DEVELOPMENT OF DIPTERAN WING VEINS: A Systematic Approach. Annu. Rev. Entomol. *44*, 97–129.

Stec, W.J., and Zeidler, M.P. (2011). Drosophila SOCS Proteins. J. Signal Transduct. 2011, 894510.

Stec, W., Vidal, O., and Zeidler, M.P. (2013). Drosophila SOCS36E negatively regulates JAK/STAT pathway signaling via two separable mechanisms. Mol. Biol. Cell *24*, 3000–3009.

Strigini, M., and Cohen, S.M. (1997). A Hedgehog activity gradient contributes to AP axial patterning of the Drosophila wing. Development *124*, 4697–4705.

Struhl, G., and Basler, K. (1993). Organizing activity of wingless protein in Drosophila. Cell 72, 527–540.

Su, T.T., and O'Farrell, P.H. (1998). Size control: cell proliferation does not equal growth. Curr. Biol. *8*, R687-9.

Tabata, T. (2004). Morphogens, their identification and regulation. Development *131*, 703–712.

Tabata, T., Schwartz, C., Gustavson, E., Ali, Z., and Kornberg, T.B. (1995). Creating a Drosophila wing de novo, the role of engrailed, and the compartment border hypothesis. Development *121*, 3359–3369.

Takemura, M., and Adachi-Yamada, T. (2011). Cell death and selective adhesion reorganize the dorsoventral boundary for zigzag patterning of Drosophila wing margin hairs. Dev. Biol. *357*, 336–346.

Tamori, Y., Suzuki, E., and Deng, W.-M. (2016). Epithelial Tumors Originate in Tumor Hotspots, a Tissue-Intrinsic Microenvironment. PLOS Biol. *14*, e1002537.

Teleman, A.A., and Cohen, S.M. (2000). Dpp Gradient Formation in the Drosophila Wing Imaginal Disc. Cell *103*, 971–980.

Tickle, C. (1999). Morphogen gradients in vertebrate limb development. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *10*, 345–351.

Towers, M., Mahood, R., Yin, Y., and Tickle, C. (2008). Integration of growth and specification in chick wing digit-patterning. Nature *452*, 882–886.

Treisman, J.E., Luk, A., Rubin, G.M., and Heberlein, U. (1997). eyelid antagonizes wingless signaling during Drosophila development and has homology to the Bright family of DNA-binding proteins. Genes Dev. *11*, 1949–1962.

Tripura, C., Chandrika, N., Susmitha, V.-N., Noselli, S., and Shashidhara, L. (2011). Regulation and activity of JNK signaling in the wing disc peripodial membrane during adult morphogenesis in Drosophila. Int. J. Dev. Biol. *55*, 583–590.

Tsai, Y., and Sun, Y.H. (2004). Long-range effect of upd, a ligand for Jak/STAT pathway, on cell cycle in Drosophila eye development. Genesis *39*, 141–153.

Tsai, Y.C., Yao, J.G., Chen, P.H., Posakony, J.W., Barolo, S., Kim, J., and Henry Sun, Y. (2007). Upd/Jak/STAT signaling represses wg transcription to allow initiation of morphogenetic furrow in Drosophila eye development. Dev. Biol. *306*, 760–771.

Tsuneizumi, K., Nakayama, T., Kamoshida, Y., Kornberg, T.B., Christian, J.L., and Tabata, T. (1997). Daughters against dpp modulates dpp organizing activity in Drosophila wing development. Nature *389*, 627–631.

Tulina, N., and Matunis, E. (2001). Control of Stem Cell Self-Renewal in Drosophila Spermatogenesis by JAK-STAT Signaling. Science (80-.). *294*, 2546–2549.

Turing, A.M. (1952). The Chemical Basis of Morphogenesis. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. *237*, 37–72.

Vachon, G., Cohen, B., Pfeifle, C., McGuffin, M.E., Botas, J., and Cohen, S.M. (1992). Homeotic genes of the bithorax complex repress limb development in the abdomen of the Drosophila embryo through the target gene Distal-less. Cell *71*, 437–450.

Verghese, S., and Su, T.T. (2016). Drosophila Wnt and STAT Define Apoptosis-Resistant Epithelial Cells for Tissue Regeneration after Irradiation. PLOS Biol. *14*, e1002536.

Vervoort, M. (2000). hedgehog and wing development in Drosophila: a morphogen at work? Bioessays *22*, 460–468.

Villa-Cuesta, E., González-Pérez, E., and Modolell, J. (2007). Apposition of iroquois expressing and non-expressing cells leads to cell sorting and fold formation in the Drosophila imaginal wing disc. BMC Dev. Biol. *7*, 106.

Vinkemeier, U. (2004). Getting the message across, STAT! Design principles of a molecular signaling circuit. J. Cell Biol. *167*, 197–201.

Wang, S.H., Simcox, A., and Campbell, G. (2000). Dual role for Drosophila epidermal growth factor receptor signaling in early wing disc development. Genes Dev. *14*, 2271–2276.

Wang, S.L., Hawkins, C.J., Yoo, S.J., Müller, H. a, and Hay, B. a (1999). The Drosophila caspase inhibitor DIAP1 is essential for cell survival and is negatively regulated by HID. Cell *98*, 453–463.

Wangler, M.F., Yamamoto, S., and Bellen, H.J. (2015). Fruit Flies in Biomedical Research. *199*, 1–15.

Wawersik, M., Milutinovich, A., Casper, A.L., Matunis, E., Williams, B., and Van

Doren, M. (2005). Somatic control of germline sexual development is mediated by the JAK/STAT pathway. Nature *436*, 563–567.

Weigmann, K., Cohen, S.M., and Lehner, C.F. (1997). Cell cycle progression, growth and patterning in imaginal discs despite inhibition of cell division after inactivation of Drosophila Cdc2 kinase. Development *124*, 3555–3563.

Wells, B.S., Yoshida, E., and Johnston, L.A. (2006). Compensatory Proliferation in Drosophila Imaginal Discs Requires Dronc-Dependent p53 Activity. Curr. Biol. *16*, 1606–1615.

White, R.A.H., and Akam, M.E. (1985). Contrabithorax mutations cause inappropriate expression of Ultrabithorax products in Drosophila. Nature *318*, 567–569.

Whiting, M.F., Bradler, S., and Maxwell, T. (2003). Loss and recovery of wings in stick insects. Nature *421*, 264–267.

Widmann, T.J., and Dahmann, C. (2009). Wingless signaling and the control of cell shape in Drosophila wing imaginal discs. Dev. Biol. *334*, 161–173.

Wieschaus, E., and Gehring, W. (1976). Clonal analysis of primordial disc cells in the early embryo of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. *50*, 249–263.

Wieschaus, E., Nüsslein-Volhard, C., and Jürgens, G. (1984). Mutations affecting the pattern of the larval cuticle in Drosophila melanogaster. 3. Zygotic loci on the X chromosome and 4 th chromosome. Dev. Genes Evol. *193*, 296–307.

Williams, J. a, Paddock, S.W., and Carroll, S.B. (1993). Pattern formation in a secondary field: a hierarchy of regulatory genes subdivides the developing Drosophila wing disc into discrete subregions. Development *117*, 571–584.

Williams, J. a., Bell, J.B., and Carroll, S.B. (1991). Control of Drosophila wing and haltere development by the nuclear vestigial gene product. Genes Dev. *5*, 2481–2495.

Wilson, R., Goyal, L., Ditzel, M., Zachariou, A., Baker, D. a, Agapite, J., Steller, H., and Meier, P. (2002). The DIAP1 RING finger mediates ubiquitination of Dronc and is indispensable for regulating apoptosis. Nat. Cell Biol. *4*, 445–450.

Winter, S.E., and Campbell, G. (2004). Repression of Dpp targets in the Drosophila wing by Brinker. Development *131*, 6071–6081.

Wolpert, L. (1969). Positional information and the spatial pattern of cellular differentiation. J. Theor. Biol. 25, 1-47.

Wolpert, L. (1989). Positional information revisited. Development 107 Suppl, 3–12.

Wolpert, L. (2011). Positional information and patterning revisited. J. Theor. Biol. *269*, 359–365.

Wolpert, L. (2016). Positional Information and Pattern Formation. In Current Topics in Developmental Biology, (Elsevier Inc.), pp. 597–608.

Wootton, R.J., and Kukalová-Peck, J. (2000). Flight adaptations in Palaeozoic Palaeoptera (Insecta). Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. *75*, 129–167.

Wormald, S., and Hilton, D.J. (2004). Inhibitors of Cytokine Signal Transduction. J. Biol. Chem. *279*, 821–824.

Wu, J., and Cohen, S.M. (2002). Repression of Teashirt marks the initiation of wing development. Development *129*, 2411–2418.

Wu, M., Pastor-Pareja, J.C., and Xu, T. (2010). Interaction between Ras(V12) and scribbled clones induces tumour growth and invasion. Nature *463*, 545–548.

Xu, D., Woodfield, S.E., Lee, T. V., Fan, Y., Antonio, C., and Bergmann, A. (2009). Genetic control of programmed cell death (apoptosis) in Drosophila. Fly (Austin). *3*, 78–90.

Xu, J., Ren, X., Sun, J., Wang, X., Qiao, H.-H., Xu, B.-W., Liu, L.-P., and Ni, J.-Q. (2015). A Toolkit of CRISPR-Based Genome Editing Systems in Drosophila. J. Genet. Genomics *42*, 141–149.

Yamamoto, S., Jaiswal, M., Charng, W.-L., Gambin, T., Karaca, E., Mirzaa, G., Wiszniewski, W., Sandoval, H., Haelterman, N.A., Xiong, B., et al. (2014). A Drosophila Genetic Resource of Mutants to Study Mechanisms Underlying Human Genetic Diseases. Cell *159*, 200–214.

Yan, D., and Lin, X. (2009). Shaping morphogen gradients by proteoglycans. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. *1*.

Yan, R., Small, S., Desplan, C., Dearolf, C.R., and Darnell, J.E. (1996a). Identification of a Stat gene that functions in Drosophila development. Cell *84*, 421–430.

Yan, R., Luo, H., Darnell, J.E., and Dearolf, C.R. (1996b). A JAK-STAT pathway regulates wing vein formation in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *93*, 5842–5847.

Yu, J., Zheng, Y., Dong, J., Klusza, S., Deng, W.M., and Pan, D. (2010). Kibra Functions as a Tumor Suppressor Protein that Regulates Hippo Signaling in Conjunction with Merlin and Expanded. Dev. Cell *18*, 288–299.

Zecca, M., and Struhl, G. (2002a). Control of growth and patterning of the Drosophila wing imaginal disc by EGFR-mediated signaling. Development *129*, 1369–1376.

Zecca, M., and Struhl, G. (2002b). Subdivision of the Drosophila wing imaginal disc by EGFR-mediated signaling. Development *129*, 1357–1368.

Zecca, M., Basler, K., and Struhl, G. (1995). Sequential organizing activities of engrailed, hedgehog and decapentaplegic in the Drosophila wing. Development *121*, 2265–2278.

Zecca, M., Basler, K., and Struhl, G. (1996). Direct and Long-Range Action of a Wingless Morphogen Gradient. Cell *87*, 833–844.

Zeller, R., López-Ríos, J., and Zuniga, A. (2009). Vertebrate limb bud development: moving towards integrative analysis of organogenesis. Nat. Rev. Genet. *10*, 845–858.

Zirin, J., and Perrimon, N. (2010). Drosophila as a model system to study autophagy. Semin. Immunopathol. 1–10.

Zirin, J.D., and Mann, R.S. (2004). Differing strategies for the establishment and maintenance of teashirt and homothorax repression in the Drosophila wing. Development *131*, 5683–5693.

Zirin, J.D., and Mann, R.S. (2007). Nubbin and Teashirt mark barriers to clonal growth along the proximal-distal axis of the Drosophila wing. Dev. Biol. *304*, 745–758.

Supporting Tables

% Duplicated nota						
Genotype	n heminota	Duplicated heminota	% Duplicated nota			
sd>dcr2; dome ^{RNAi} ; +/+	102	81	79,4			
sd>dcr2; dome ^{RNAi} ; wg ^{CX4} /+	106	97	91,5			
sd>dcr2; dome ^{RNAi} ; Egfr ^{F2} /+	197	77	39,1			
sd>dcr2; dome ^{RNAi} ; Iro ^{EGP7} /+	180	5	2,8			

Table 1. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Percentage of duplicated nota of the indicated genotypes. Absolute number of total (sample size) and duplicated heminota for each experiment are indicated.

P/A Ratio					
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value	
<i>tub-Gal80^{TS}, hh>GFP</i> (eL3) @29°C	23	0,40	0,06	-	
<i>tub-Gal80[™], hh>dome[™] (</i> eL3) @29℃	26	0,13	0,06	4,5 x 10 ⁻²¹	
<i>tub-Gal80^{TS}, hh>GFP</i> (wL3) @29°C	17	0,63	0,03	-	
<i>tub-Gal</i> 80 [™] , <i>hh>dome^{DN}</i> (wL3) @29℃	34	0,21	0,09	9,2 x 10 ⁻²³	
<i>tub-Gal</i> 80 ^{TS} , <i>hh>dome</i> ^{DN} (wL3) @29°C + 4days@18°C	42	0,50	0,06	5,1 x 10 ⁻¹²	

Table 2. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each experiment is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

Clone/Compartment (% area) ± Std Dev					
Genotype n Anterior p-value Posterior p-value					
FRT Minute (+)	45	52 ± 16	-	59 ± 21	-
FRT Minute (+) stat92E ^{85c9}	10 2	40 ± 13	5,4 x 10 ⁻ ⁶	21 ± 17	4,2 x 10 ⁻

Table 3. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the percentage of clone area per compartment area with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance. The differences between Anterior and Posterior in the control clones were not significant (p=0,06) while in the *stat93E* mutant clones the percentage of clone area in the P compartment was significantly lower than in the A compartment (p=5,5 x 10⁻¹⁵).

P/A Ratio					
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value	
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-	
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	41	0,13	0,07	2,5 x 10 ⁻⁴⁸	
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , diap1	30	0,34	0,05	1,1 x 10 ⁻²³	

Table 4. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	87	0,15	0,06	8,4 x 10 ⁻³⁶
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , dronc ^{RNAi}	45	0,28	0,07	3,9 x 10 ⁻²⁰

Table 5. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>GFP, dome ^{DN}	43	0,20	0,09	2,9 x 10 ⁻³⁶
en>p35, dome ^{DN}	28	0,36	0,07	7,2 x 10 ⁻¹²

Table 6. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	66	0,16	0,09	1,5 x 10 ⁻⁴³
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , cycA	92	0,29	0,08	1,5 x 10 ⁻¹⁵

Table 7. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	47	0,16	0,09	2,1 x 10 ⁻¹¹
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , cycB	25	0,16	0,06	0,92

Table 8. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	47	0,16	0,09	1,1 x 10 ⁻³⁹
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , en ^{RNAi-VDRC}	51	0,29	0,07	3,9 x 10 ⁻¹⁰

Table 9. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	66	0,16	0,09	1,5 x 10 ⁻⁴³
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , en ^{RNAi-TRiP}	70	0,21	0,08	0,0015

Table 10. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>GFP	36	0,56	0,04	-
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , +/+	78	0,13	0,05	2,1 x 10 ⁻⁷⁷
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , Df-en[E]/+	45	0,16	0,05	0,0004

Table 11. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

Apoptotic cells (a.n.)				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
en>2xGFP, dome ^{DN}	19	233	94	-
en>GFP, dome ^{DN} , en ^{RNAi-VDRC}	29	49	25	3,7 x 10 ⁻¹³

Table 12. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the absolute number of apoptotic cells in the Posterior compartment with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

GFP Intensity/Pixel					
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value	
en>GFP, RFP	18	35,93	8,93	-	
en>GFP, en ^{RNAi-VDRC}	23	97,86	19,88	5,9 x 10 ⁻¹⁵	
Gal4 Intensity/Pixel					
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value	
en>GFP, RFP	18	39,14	7,79	-	
en>GFP, en ^{RNAi-VDRC}	23	64,13	18,27	3,3 x 10⁻ ⁶	

Table 13. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of signal intensity per pixel in the Posterior compartment with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

P/A Ratio				
Genotype	n	Average	Std Dev	p-value
tub-Gal80 [™] , hh>GFP	17	0,63	0,03	-
tub-Gal80 [™] , hh>en	17	0,33	0,03	2,7 x 10 ⁻²⁶

Table 14. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Average values of the ratio between Posterior and Anterior compartment size with their corresponding standard deviation. Sample size (n) for each genotype is indicated. A *t*-test was carried out to calculate the p-value as a measurement of the statistical significance.

% Discs without Spalt in the wing pouch				
Genotype	n	Wing discs without Spalt	% Wing discs without Spalt	
hh>GFP, dome ^{DN}	53	21	40	
hh>dome ^{DN} , hh::GFP	43	6	14	
hh>dome ^{DN} , diap1	42	2	5	

Table 15. Quantifications regarding Figure X. Percentage of wing discswithout Spalt expression in the wing pouch of the indicated genotypes.Absolute number of total wing discs (sample size) and wing discs withoutSpalt for each experiment are indicated.

Abbreviations

A: Anterior	DV: Dorsal-Ventral			
as-cs: achaete-scute	EGFR: Epidermal Growth Factor			
AEL: After Egg Laying	Receptor			
AP: Anterior-Posterior	eL3: early third instar			
Ap: Apterous	En: Engrailed			
ara: araucan	Ex: Expanded			
BMP: Bone Morphogenetic Protein	GFP: Green Fluorescent Protein			
Brk: Brinker	H: Hinge			
BX-C: Bithorax Complex	Hh: Hedgehog			
caup: caupolican	Hop: Hopscotch			
CDK: Cyclin-dependent kinases	Hth: Homothorax			
Ci: Cubitus Interuptus	Iro-C: Iroquois Complex			
CycA: Cyclin A	JAK: Janus Kinase			
CycB: Cyclin B	L1: First larval stage			
CycE: Cyclin E	L2: Second larval stage			
D: Dorsal	IL2: late second instar			
Dad: Daughters against dpp	L3: Third larval stage			
Diap1: Death-associated inhibitor of	MAD: Mothers against			
apoptosis 1	decapentaplegic			
DNA: Deoxyribonucleic Acid	mL2: mid second instar			
Dome: Domeless	mL3: mid third instar			
Dpp: Decapentaplegic	mRNA: Messenger Ribonucleic			
DII: Distalless	Acid			
DP: Disc Proper	mirr: mirror			
dsRNA: double strand ribonucleic	N: Notum			
acid	Nub: Nubbin			

Omb: Optomotor-blind		Stg: String		
P: Posterior		TMT: Myristoylated-Tomato		
PcG: Polycomb Group		TrxG: Trithorax-group		
PD: Proximo-distal		Tsh: Teashirt		
PE: Peripodial Epithelia		UAS:	Upstream	Activation
PM: Peripodial Membrane		Sequence		
PntP2: Pointed-P2		Ubx: Ultrabithorax		
Ptc: Patched		Upd: Unpaired		
RNAi: RNA interference		V: Ventra	l	
RFP: Red Fluorescent Protein		Vg: Vesti	gial	
Sal: Spalt		Vn: Vein		
Sd: Scalloped		W: wing		
Sens: Senseless		wL3: won	dering third ins	tar
Sgg: Shaggy		Wg: Wing	gless	
Shh: Sonic Hedgehog				
STAT: Signal Transducer	and			
Activator of Transcription				